
  

LLLEEEGGGAAALLL   SSSEEERRRVVVIIICCCEEESSS   CCCOOORRRPPPOOORRRAAATTTIIIOOONNN   
 

BBooaarrdd  ooff  DDiirreeccttoorrss  MMeeeettiinngg 
 
 
 
 
 

January 24 – 26, 2013 

 
 
 

Location: 
 

HHHyyyaaatttttt   FFFrrreeennnccchhh   QQQuuuaaarrrttteeerrr   NNNeeewww   OOOrrrllleeeaaannnsss   
800 Iberville Street 

New Orleans, Louisiana  70113 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



This table does not reflect all agenda items.  Instead, it lists all documents contained in 
this book.  For a complete listing of agenda items, see each individual agenda. 

 I DRAFT-  
Table of Contents 

 
 
 

I. Schedule ............................................................................................................ 1 
 
 

II. Supreme Court of Louisiana Events 
 

♦ Panel of Distinguished Justices and Judges ........................................................... 7 

♦ Panel on the Role of Legal Aid in Disaster Preparedness & Relief ................. 14 
 

 

  III.     Promotion & Provision Committee 
 

♦ Agenda ....................................................................................................................... 18 

♦ Draft Minutes of the Promotion & Provision Committee’s Open Session 
Meeting of October 1, 2012 ................................................................................... 19 

♦ Committee Evaluation ............................................................................................ 26 

♦ Succession Planning Panel Bios ............................................................................. 28  
 

IV.   Operations & Regulations Committee    
             

♦ Agenda ....................................................................................................................... 30 

♦ Draft Minutes of the Operations & Regulations Committee's Open Session  
Meeting of September 20, 2012 ............................................................................. 32   

♦ Draft Minutes of the Operations & Regulations Committee's Open Session  
Meeting of September 30, 2012 ............................................................................. 37   

♦ Rulemaking Enforcement Mechanisms ................................................................ 41 

♦ Representation of Criminal Proceedings in tribal courts ................................. 105 

♦ Private Attorney Involvement ............................................................................. 113 

♦ Committee Evaluation .......................................................................................... 116 
 
  
 
 
  
 



 
 
 
 
 

 

Table of Contents (cont.) 
 

 
 

    V.   Institutional Advancement Committee    
             

♦ Agenda ............................................................................................................ 118 

♦ Draft Minutes of the Institutional Advancement Committee’s 
       Open Session meeting of September 30, 2012 .......................................... 119 

♦ Committee  Evaluation  ................................................................................ 123 
      

 

  VI. Governance & Performance Review Committee   
              

♦ Agenda ............................................................................................................ 125 

♦ Draft Minutes of the Governance & Performance Review Committee’s  
       Open Session meeting of September 30, 2012 .......................................... 126 

♦ 2012 Committee Evaluations ....................................................................... 130 

♦ 2012 Board Evaluations ................................................................................ 132 

♦ GAO Recommendations updates ............................................................... 140 
         
 

VII.   Audit Committee  
 

♦ Agenda ............................................................................................................ 148 

♦ Draft Minutes of the Audit Committee’s Open Session meeting 
        of September 30, 2012 ................................................................................. 150 

♦ Annual Financial Audit Fiscal Year 2012 ................................................... 155 

♦ Committee Evaluation .................................................................................. 194 

♦ 403(b) Plan Performance .............................................................................. 196 
 

             
  
 

 



 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
Table of Contents (cont.) 

 
 
 

                               
 

  VIII.   Finance Committee  
 

♦ Agenda ............................................................................................................ 198 

♦ Draft Minutes of the Finance  Committee’s Open Session meeting 
        of September 30, 2012 ................................................................................. 199 

♦ Finance Report for Fiscal Year 2012 ......................................................... 205 

♦ Revised Temporary Operating Budget for Fiscal Year 2013 ................. 220 
                          Resolution 2013-XXX ........................................................... 224          
♦ Financial Report for the first two months of Fiscal Year 2013 ............. 229 

♦ Accounts and Depositories ......................................................................... 243 

♦ Budget Request for Fiscal Year 2014 ......................................................... 253 
                         Resolution 2013-XXX ............................................................ 256 

♦ Committee Evaluation ................................................................................. 259 
 
 
 

   
 

   
 

 



 
 
 
 
 

VIII. Board of Directors 
 

♦ Agenda ...............................................................................................................................  
♦ Draft Minutes of the Board’s Open Session telephonic meeting of 

   .................................................................................................................................  
♦ Draft Minutes of the Board’s Open Session telephonic meeting of 

  
♦ Draft Minutes of the Board's Open Session telephonic meeting of 

  .................................................................................................................................  
♦ Fiscal Oversight Task Force Report and related materials .........................................  
♦ Resolution 2012-XXX  

Thanking the members of the Fiscal Oversight Task Force for their services .......  
♦ Resolution 2012-XXX  

Thanking Alice Dickerson for her service ....................................................................  
 

 
Table of Contents (cont.) 

 
   

 
       

IX.   Board of Directors  
 

♦ Agenda ..................................................................................................................................261 
♦ Draft Minutes of the Board’s Open Session meeting of November 29, 2012 ..........264 
♦ Delegation of Authority to the Chairman for appointment 

                              Resolution 2013-XXX.................................................................270 
♦ Pro Bono Task Force Recognition 
                                    Resolution 2013-XXX ..................................................................273 
♦ Permission to accept compensation for outside employment 
                                   Resolution 2013-XXX ...................................................................275 
                             
           
 

 
 

   
 

 

 
       



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

I. Schedule 

  



 
LEGAL SERVICES CORPORATION BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

MEETING SCHEDULE 
Hyatt French Quarter New Orleans 

800 Iberville Street 
New Orleans, LA 70113 

Tel: 504-561-1234 
 

JANUARY 24-26, 2013 
 

1 
 

 

THURSDAY, JANUARY 24, 2013 
Start End Meeting/Event Location 

 
 
5:00pm 

 
 
6:30pm 
 

 
 

Pro Bono Awards Reception 
Guest Speakers 

Patricia A. Krebs, President, Louisiana Bar 
Foundation  

Larry McDevitt, ABA Standing Committee on 
Pro Bono & Public Service, Chair; Van 

Winkle Law  Firm, Senior Principal 
John H. Musser IV, President, Louisiana Bar 

Association 
E. Paige Sensenbrenner, Senior Partner, Adams 

& Reese LLP 
Awardees 

Anu Kakonen, North Louisiana Legal Services 
Winfield E. Little, Jr., Acadiana Legal Services 

 Laborde & Neuner (Frank X. Neuner, Jr), 
Acadiana Legal Services 

Robert Owsley, North Louisiana Legal Services 
Judge Melvin Shortess, Southeast Louisiana Legal 

Services 
Mark Surprenant, Southeast Louisiana Legal 

Services 
 

 
Louisiana Supreme Court Building 

Great Hall 
400 Royal Street 

New Orleans, LA 70130 
 

 

  



 
LEGAL SERVICES CORPORATION BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

MEETING SCHEDULE 
Hyatt French Quarter New Orleans 

800 Iberville Street 
New Orleans, LA 70113 

Tel: 504-561-1234 
 

JANUARY 24-26, 2013 
 

2 
 

FRIDAY, JANUARY 25, 2013 
Start End Meeting/Event Location 

 
9:00am 
 

 
10:45am 

 
Introductory Remarks 

John G. Levi, Chairman, Legal Service 
Corporation Board of Directors 

Judge Madeleine M. Landrieu, Louisiana State 
Court of Appeals Fourth Circuit  

Panel of Distinguished Justices & Judges 
Justice Michael Bolin, Supreme Court of 

Alabama 
Justice Jess H. Dickinson, Mississippi Supreme 

Court 
Justice Nathan L. Hecht, Supreme Court of 

Texas 
Incoming Chief Justice Bernette Joshua Johnson, 

Louisiana Supreme Court  
Chief Justice John D. Minton, Jr., Supreme Court 

of Kentucky 
Judge William A. Van Nortwick, Jr., Florida 

First District Court of Appeal 
Dean Martha Minow, Harvard Law School 

(Moderator) 
 

 
Louisiana Supreme Court Building 

Supreme Court Courtroom 
400 Royal Street 

New Orleans, LA 70130 
 

 
11:00am 
 

 
12:15pm 

 
Panel on Disaster Preparedness & Relief 

Martha Bergmark, Founding President & CEO, 
Mississippi Center for Justice 

Paul E. Furrh, Jr., Executive Director,  Lone 
Star Legal Aid 

Bob Horowitz, Director, Professional Services 
Division/DC, American Bar Association 

Brad J. Kieserman, General Counsel, FEMA 
Raun Rasmussen, Executive Director, Legal 

Services NYC 
Marta Schnabel, Shareholder, O’Bryon & 

Schnabel 
Ranie T. Thompson, Managing Attorney, 

Southeast Louisiana Legal Services 

 
Louisiana Supreme Court Building 

Supreme Court Courtroom 
400 Royal Street 

New Orleans, LA 70130 
 



 
LEGAL SERVICES CORPORATION BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

MEETING SCHEDULE 
Hyatt French Quarter New Orleans 

800 Iberville Street 
New Orleans, LA 70113 

Tel: 504-561-1234 
 

JANUARY 24-26, 2013 
 

3 
 

Jim Sandman, President, Legal Services 
Corporation (moderator) 

 
 
2:00pm 
 

 
3:30pm 

 
Presentations by LSC-funded Louisiana 

Programs 
Acadiana Legal Service Corporation 

Legal Services of North Louisiana, Inc. 
Southeast Louisiana Legal Services 

Corporation 

 
Hyatt French Quarter  
D.H. Holmes B & C 

 

 
3:45pm 
 

 
5:00pm 

 
Promotion & Provision Committee 

Jon Asher, Executive Director, Colorado Legal 
Services 

David Pantos, Executive Director, Legal Aid of 
Nebraska 

Patricia Pap, Executive Director, Management 
Information Exchange 

Rhodia Thomas, Executive Director, MidPenn 
Legal Services 

 

 
Hyatt French Quarter  
D.H. Holmes B & C 

 

 
5:00pm 
 

 
6:15pm 

 
Operations & Regulations Committee 

 

 
Hyatt French Quarter  
D.H. Holmes B & C 

 
 
 
 
 
 

   
 

SATURDAY, JANUARY 26, 2013 
 

Start 
 

End Meeting/Event Location 

6:16pm 7:00pm Institutional Advancement Committee Hyatt French Quarter   
D. H. Holmes B & C 

 
8:30am 
 

 
9:30am 

 
Governance & Performance Review 

Committee 

 
Hyatt French Quarter  

D.H. Holmes A 



 
LEGAL SERVICES CORPORATION BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

MEETING SCHEDULE 
Hyatt French Quarter New Orleans 

800 Iberville Street 
New Orleans, LA 70113 

Tel: 504-561-1234 
 

JANUARY 24-26, 2013 
 

4 
 

 
 
9:15am 
 

 
10:45am 

 
Audit Committee 

 

 
Hyatt French Quarter  
D.H. Holmes B & C 

 
 
10:30am 

 
11:30am 

 
Finance Committee 

 
Hyatt French Quarter  

D.H. Holmes A 
 

 
 
11:30am 
 

 
1:00pm 

 
Board of Directors - OPEN 

 
Hyatt French Quarter  
D.H. Holmes B & C 

 
 
1:30pm 

 
2:15pm 

 
Board of Directors - CLOSED 

 
Hyatt French Quarter  
D.H. Holmes B & C 

 
 

 

  



 
LEGAL SERVICES CORPORATION BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

MEETING SCHEDULE 
Hyatt French Quarter New Orleans 

800 Iberville Street 
New Orleans, LA 70113 

Tel: 504-561-1234 
 

JANUARY 24-26, 2013 
 

5 
 

NOTES 
    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    



 
LEGAL SERVICES CORPORATION BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

MEETING SCHEDULE 
Hyatt French Quarter New Orleans 

800 Iberville Street 
New Orleans, LA 70113 

Tel: 504-561-1234 
 

JANUARY 24-26, 2013 
 

6 
 

NOTES 
    

    

    

    

    

    

    

 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

II. SUPREME COURT OF 
LOUISIANA EVENTS 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Panel of Distinguished Justices and Judges  

January 25, 2013 

Louisiana Supreme Court Building 

 

Justice Michael F. Bolin, Supreme Court of Alabama 

Michael F. Bolin was born in, and a lifetime resident of, Jefferson County, Alabama. He attended 
elementary school in Birmingham, being accepted into the first magnet school for scholastic 
achievement. He then attended Homewood Junior High School, and graduated from Shades Valley High 
School in 1966 as a member of the National Honor Society. In 1970, he received his B.S. in Business 
Administration from Samford University. In 1973, he received his J.D. from Cumberland School of Law, 
graduating cum laude. At Cumberland, he was on the Dean's List and served as Associate Editor of the 
Cumberland‐Samford Law Review. He was later inducted into Curia Honors, Cumberland's leadership 
and honor society. 

Justice Bolin was a practicing attorney in Birmingham from 1973 through 1988, when he was elected as 
Probate Judge of Jefferson County. He was re‐elected to that position in 1994 and 2000. He served in 
that position until his election to the Alabama Supreme Court in 2004, and began serving as an Associate 
Justice in January 2005. 

Justice Bolin was active in the Alabama Probate Judges Association, serving as chairman of various 
association committees. He was elected by his peers as President, Secretary, and Treasurer of the 
Probate Judges Association. He served on the Children's Code Committee, Probate Procedures 
Committee, Adoption Committee, and Paternity Committee of the Alabama Law Institute. He authored 
the Putative Father Registry law in Alabama, which protects the rights of all parties in adoption 
proceedings. He received the national award from the "Angels of Adoption" organization in Washington, 
D.C. in 2000 for his service to adoptive families. He additionally served as Chief Election Official, 
Chairman of the Alabama Electronic Voting Committee, and as Vice Chairman of the Governor's 
Commission on Consolidation, Efficiency, and Funding in 2003. He is a member of the Vestavia‐Hoover 
Kiwanis Club. 

Justice Bolin and his wife, Rosemary, have one daughter, Leigh Anne. They attend St. Peter the Apostle 
Church in Hoover. 

 

Justice Jess H. Dickinson, Mississippi Supreme Court 

 

Justice Jess H. Dickinson was born in Charleston, Mississippi, in 1947. After graduation from East 
Tallahatchie High School in 1965, he attended Mississippi State University, receiving his Bachelor of 
Science degree in 1978. He received his Juris Doctor cum laude from the University of Mississippi School 
of Law in 1982, where he served on the editorial board of the Mississippi Law Journal. 

After practicing law for one year in Jackson, and 20 years in Gulfport, Justice Dickinson served as a 
Forrest County Circuit Court Judge, by special appointment of the Mississippi Supreme Court. His service 
on the Supreme Court began in January 2004. His first year on the Court, Justice Dickinson was awarded 
the Chief Justice Award for his work in advancing the administration of justice. He again received the 
Chief Justice Award in 2010 for his work on improving access to justice for the poor in Mississippi. In 
2009, the Mississippi Volunteer Lawyers Project awarded Justice Dickinson its Pro Bono Pioneer Award. 

7



Justice Dickinson has served on the adjunct faculty of William Carey College and Mississippi College 
School of Law where, in 2009, he was elected by the law students as Adjunct Professor of the Year. He 
served two terms on both the Ethics Committee and the Professionalism Committee of the Mississippi 
Bar. He also serves as the Supreme Court's liaison to organizations providing legal services to the poor, 
and is a charter member of the Mississippi Access to Justice Commission.  

 

Justice Nathan L. Hecht, Supreme Court of Texas 

Justice Nathan L. Hecht was elected to the Texas Supreme Court in 1988 and re‐elected in 1994, 2000 
and 2006. He is the senior Texas appellate judge in active service. 

Throughout his service on the Court, Justice Hecht has overseen revisions to the rules of administration, 
practice and procedure in Texas courts. In 2000, he was appointed by the Chief Justice of the United 
States to the Advisory Committee on Civil Rules for the Judicial Conference of the United States, on 
which he served until 2006. Justice Hecht is also the Supreme Court's liaison to the Texas Access to 
Justice Commission and oversees the Court's efforts to help provide basic civil legal services to Texans 
living in poverty. 

Justice Hecht began his judicial service in 1981, when he was appointed to the 95th District Court of 
Dallas County. He was elected to that bench in 1982 and re‐elected in 1984. In l986, he was elected to 
the Court of Appeals for the Fifth District of Texas at Dallas, where he served until his election to the 
Supreme Court. 

Justice Hecht earned his B.A. at Yale University with honors in philosophy, and graduated cum laude 
from the Southern Methodist University School of Law, where he was elected to Order of the Coif and 
an editor for the Southwestern Law Journal. He served as law clerk to Judge Roger Robb of the U.S. 
Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit. He also served as a lieutenant in the U.S. Naval 
Reserve JAGC. He practiced law in the area of general litigation with the Dallas firm of Locke Purnell 
Boren Laney & Neely, and was a shareholder in that firm before his appointment of the bench.  

Justice Hecht is a member of the American Law Institute, the Texas Philosophical Society, and a Fellow 
of the American, Texas, and Dallas Bar Foundations. He received the Southern Methodist University 
School of Law Distinguished Alumni Award for Judicial Service in 2000, and the Hatton W. Sumners 
Foundation Distinguished Public Service Award in 2004. He has taught as an adjunct professor at the 
University of Texas School of Law. 

His term ends December 31, 2012. 

 

Chief Justice Bernette Joshua Johnson, Louisiana Supreme Court 

As of February 1, 2013, Justice Bernette Joshua Johnson will serve as the first African‐American Chief 

Justice of the Louisiana Supreme Court.   Justice Bernette Joshua Johnson was elected to serve on the 

Louisiana Supreme Court in 1994, and was re‐elected, without opposition, in 2000 and 2010.  She serves 

on the Louisiana Supreme Court’s Judicial Council, and has served on the Court’s Legal Services Task 

Force, as well as the National Campaign on Best Practices in the area of Racial and Ethnic Fairness in the 

Courts. Justice Johnson has worked closely with the Court’s Mandatory Continuing Legal Education 

Committee and the Committee on Bar Admissions. She is the Court’s appointee to the Louisiana Law 

Institute. 

8



Justice Johnson attended Spelman College in Atlanta, Georgia on an academic scholarship, where she 

received a Bachelor of Arts degree. She received an Honorary Doctorate in Law from Spelman College at 

commencement services in April, 2001. She was one of the first African‐American women to attend the 

Law School at Louisiana State University (“LSU”), where she received her Juris Doctorate degree in 1969. 

She was honored by her law school in 1996, when her portrait was unveiled, and she was inducted into 

the LSU Law Center’s Hall of Fame. 

Justice Johnson’s judicial career began in 1984, when she was elected to the Civil District Court of New 

Orleans, and was the first woman to hold that office. She was re‐elected, without opposition, in 1990 

and was elected Chief Judge by her colleagues in 1994. As a civil trial judge, she was first assigned to 

Domestic Relations Court, where she established a system to refer custody, alimony, and child support 

issues to mediation conducted by certified social workers of the Children's Bureau and Family Services, 

prior to court appearances. The mediation was provided to needy families based on a sliding scale 

system for payment of fees. 

For much of her life, Justice Johnson has worked as an advocate for social justice, civil rights, and 

community organizing. During the 1960's, she worked as a community organizer with the National 

Association for the Advancement of Colored People (NAACP), Legal Defense & Educational Fund. She 

worked with community groups in Alabama, Mississippi, Georgia, North Carolina, South Carolina, 

Tennessee and Louisiana, disseminating information about recent school desegregation decisions, and 

encouraged parents to take advantage of newly desegregated schools. She used these skills later to help 

organize household workers so they would receive Social Security benefit, and a minimum wage.  While 

a law student, Justice Johnson worked as a Law Intern with the U.S. Department of Justice (Civil Rights 

Division) Washington, D.C. She worked on cases filed by the Department to implement the 1964 Civil 

Rights Act. These dealt mostly with discrimination in public accommodations. She also served as a 

Federal Observer during elections in Greenwood, Mississippi.  

After receiving her Juris Doctorate Degree from Louisiana State University Law School, Justice Johnson 

became the Managing Attorney with the New Orleans Legal Assistance Corporation, where she 

delivered legal services to over three thousand (3,000) clients in socio‐economically deprived 

neighborhoods. As a civil litigator, she worked in the Federal and State District Courts, and Juvenile 

Court advancing the rights of children, the poor, the elderly, and the disenfranchised. She litigated 

several consumer protection cases involving the Truth‐in‐Lending statute. These lawsuits were filed 

against aluminum siding salesmen and contractors who were going door‐to‐door convincing mostly 

elderly homeowners to sign contracts for shoddy work that resulted in liens on their homes. 

In 1981, Justice Johnson joined the City Attorney’s staff, and later became a Deputy City Attorney for the 

City of New Orleans. There, she attained extensive trial experience in the Civil District Court and U.S. 

District Court defending police brutality claims, and general tort claims, filed against the City of New 

Orleans. She supervised civil service litigation before the New Orleans Civil Service Commission, and 

supervised appellate work before the Louisiana Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals, where she defended 

agency suspensions and terminations.  

9



Justice Johnson’s scholarly pursuits include serving as an Adjunct Faculty member teaching Trial 

Advocacy at Tulane University Law School, and serving as an Adjunct Professor at Southern University, 

New Orleans, teaching Legal Terminology and Business Law. She has published numerous editorials, 

essays, legal opinions, and other scholarly works throughout her career. 

Justice Johnson is the recipient of numerous awards.  In 2010, she received the Spirit of Excellence 

Award from the American Bar Association Commission on Racial and Ethnic Diversity in the Profession, 

and in 2009, Justice Johnson received the Distinguished Jurist Award presented by the Louisiana Bar 

Foundation, and the Louisiana Bar Association President’s Award for Exceptional Service as co‐chair of 

the Task Force on Diversity in the Profession. She was presented with the Louis A. Martinet Legal Society 

President’s Award in 1997 and 2008. In 2005, she was received the National Nobel Woman Award 

presented by the Organization of Black Elected Legislative Women, and the Judicial Public Service Award 

presented by the Ancient Egyptian Arabic Order Nobles Mystic Shrine of North and South America. Her 

other awards include: the 2000 Medal of Honor presented by the Mayor of the City of New Orleans; the 

2000 Women of Wonder Award presented by the National Council of Negro Women; the first Ernest N. 

Morial Award presented by the New Orleans Legal Assistance Corporation; the A.P. Tureaud Citizenship 

Award presented by the Louisiana State Conference of the NAACP; the 1999 Martin Luther King, Jr. 

Torch Bearer Award; the 1998 Outstanding Community Service Award presented by the Imperial Court 

Daughters of Isis; the 1998 American Bar Association’s Margaret Brent Women Lawyers of Achievement 

Award; the 1998 Outstanding Service Award presented by the International Law Section of the National 

Bar Association; and the 1992 Role Model Award presented by the Young Women’s Christian 

Association (YWCA) of Greater New Orleans. 

In 1998, she was the Chairperson of the National Bar Association‐Judicial Council where she also served 

a term as Secretary. Justice Johnson organized the first Continuing Legal Education (CLE) program for the 

Louis A. Martinet Legal Society and was Chair of the CLE Committee. She is a Fleur De Lis member of the 

New Orleans Bar Association, and is active with several committees of the Louisiana State Bar 

Association, including the Louisiana Bar Foundation. She is an active member of the A.P. Tureaud 

Chapter of the American Inns of Court, where she currently serves as President; the Louisiana State Law 

Institute, and the National Association of Women Judges, where she has served as a District Director, 

and is now active with the Women in Prison Project. Justice Johnson is a member of the Greater St. 

Stephen Full Gospel Baptist Church, where she serves on the Trustee Board. She is an active member of 

Omicron Nu Zeta Chapter, Zeta Phi Beta Sorority, Inc., and the New Orleans Chapter of Links, Inc., both 

service organizations.  

In addition to her judicial responsibilities, Justice Johnson has been actively involved in serving the 

community. She has served as an Executive Committee Member of the National Alumnae Association 

Spelman College (1991‐1994); as Chair of the New Orleans Chapter of the Southern Christian Leadership 

Conference (1989‐1994); as a Member of the Martin Luther King National Holiday Planning Committee; 

as a Member of the Board of Directors of the Young Women Christian Association and as a Life Member 

of the NAACP. 

10



A much sought after speaker, Justice Johnson is frequently called upon to address legal, academic, and 

community groups. In 1995, she was the Commencement Speaker at Grambling State University. She 

was guest speaker at the Arizona Missionary Baptist State Convention in Phoenix, Arizona in 1996; a 

guest speaker at the Martin Luther King, Jr., Celebration in Eatonville, Florida in 1998. She was the 

Women’s History Month Speaker at several U.S. Military bases in Germany in March, 2001, and the 

Commencement Speaker at Southern University Law Center in 2003. In 2004, she delivered the John H. 

Tucker, Jr. Lecture in Civil Law at the Louisiana State University (LSU) Paul M. Hebert Law Center in 

Baton Rouge, Louisiana, and, in 2006, she lectured law students at Wuhan University Law School, in 

Wuhan, P.R. China. She was the Black History Month Speaker for the New Orleans Drug Enforcement 

Agency in 2007; and in 2008, she was the guest lecturer at the Urban League of Portland, Oregon.  

Justice Johnson is the proud parent of two industrious and conscientious adult children: a son David, an 

accountant, who lives in Atlanta with his family, and a daughter Rachael, who is an attorney licensed to 

practice law in Florida and Louisiana. 

 

Judge Madeleine M. Landrieu, Louisiana Fourth Circuit Court of Appeal 

Madeleine M. Landrieu is a 1987 Graduate of Loyola University Law School where she was a member of 
the Law Review, Moot Court Board and The Law Clinic. Upon graduation from law school, she joined the 
law firm of Gainsburgh, Benjamin, David where she litigated in both state and federal court.   During her 
14  years  of  private  practice,  she  served  the  Bar  and  legal  community  in many  capacities,  including 
serving as Chair of the New Orleans Pro Bono Project and as member of the Louisiana Bar Foundation's 
Board  and  IOLTA Grants  Committee.  In  1998,  she  received  the  Louisiana  State Bar Association’s  Pro 
Bono Publico Award and the Young Lawyers’ Section Pro Bono Award.  

In 2001, Judge Landrieu was elected Judge for the Civil District Court in Orleans Parish where she served 
for 11 years before being elected to the Court of Appeal, Fourth Circuit for the State of Louisiana.  

In  2002,  Judge  Landrieu  received  the  Michaelle  Pitard  Wynne  Professionalism  Award  from  the 
Association of Women Attorneys and the Gillis Long Poverty Law Center’s Public Service Award.  In 2009, 
she received the President’s Award from the Louisiana State Bar Association.   She is a past President of 
the  Louisiana  District  Judges  Association  and  just  completed  her  term  as  the  first  president  of  the 
Louisiana Judicial College, the Education Board of the Louisiana Supreme Court charged with providing 
continuing legal education seminars for the Louisiana Judiciary.    

Judge Landrieu  is very active  in the community, where she currently serves on the Board of Covenant 
House New Orleans, an agency that serves homeless and at‐risk youth.  

 

Chief Justice John D. Minton, Jr., Supreme Court of Kentucky 

John D. Minton Jr. was sworn in as the fifth Chief Justice of Kentucky on June 27, 2008, after serving for 
two years as a justice on the Supreme Court. 

11



In November 2006, Chief Justice Minton was elected to an eight‐year term on the Supreme Court of 
Kentucky after running unopposed in the 2nd Supreme Court District, which is comprised of 14 counties 
in western Kentucky. He first joined the Supreme Court in July 2006 when then‐Gov. Ernie Fletcher 
appointed him to fill the unexpired term created by the June 30, 2006, retirement of Justice William S. 
Cooper. Before sitting on the Supreme Court, Chief Justice Minton had been a judge on the Kentucky 
Court of Appeals, the state’s intermediate appellate court, since November 2003. 

Chief Justice Minton came to the appellate bench from the trial court. He was judge of the Warren 
Circuit Court from 1992 to 2003. In addition to his trial court duties, he also served by special 
appointment of the late Chief Justice Robert F. Stephens and then‐Chief Justice Joseph E. Lambert as 
Chief Regional Judge of the Green River Region, an administrative post assisting the Chief justice with 
assigning special judges in a 21‐county area of south central Kentucky. 

While on the Circuit Court bench, Chief Justice Minton was recognized for his leadership in forming the 
Warren County Drug Court and for his commitment to law‐related education programs. In 2003, the 
Kentucky Bar Association honored him with its Outstanding Judge Award. Chief Justice Minton was 
actively involved in continuing judicial education as a longtime member of the Education Committee of 
the Kentucky Circuit Judges Association. 

Prior to his election to the circuit bench, Chief Justice Minton engaged in the private practice of law in 
Bowling Green, Ky., for more than 15 years. He graduated from the University Of Kentucky College Of 
Law in 1977 and was admitted to the Kentucky bar that same year. He earned his bachelor’s degree with 
honors from Western Kentucky University in 1974 and is a 1970 graduate of Western’s University High 
School. 

At a young age, Chief Justice Minton moved with his parents from Cadiz, Ky., to Bowling Green, where 
he grew up and currently resides. He is married to Susan Page Minton, a Bowling Green native. The 
Mintons have two teenage children, a daughter, Page Sullivan Minton, and a son, John D. Minton III. 

Chief Justice Minton is the son of the late Dr. John D. Minton and Betty Redick Minton of Bowling Green. 
Dr. Minton, who passed away June 29, 2008, retired from Western Kentucky University, having served 
that institution for many years as a history professor, administrator and its fifth president. Mrs. Minton 
continues to live in Bowling Green. 

 

Judge William A. Van Nortwick, Jr., Florida First District Court of Appeal 

William A. Van Nortwick, Jr. has served as a judge on Florida’s First District Court of Appeal for 18 years 

after a career  in private practice  in Jacksonville, Florida. His practice  involved a wide range of business 

law, including transactional matters and commercial and administrative litigation and appeals.  A native 

of North Carolina, Judge Van Nortwick received his undergraduate degree from Duke University and his 

juris doctor with honors from the University of Florida, where he served as executive editor of the  law 

review.    

He has been active  in many professional organizations,  including the American Bar Association Judicial 

Division Ethics and Professionalism Committee, the Florida Bar Standing Committee on Pro Bono Legal 

Services (current chair), the Florida Supreme Court Professionalism Commission, the executive council of 

the Florida Bar Business Law Section,  the Florida Court Education Council,  the Florida Bar Foundation 

(president),  and  the  Florida  District  Court  of  Appeal  Performance  and  Accountability  Commission 

12



(current chair).  Judge Van Nortwick is also involved in teaching the law, serving as an adjunct professor 

at Florida State University College of  Law,  teaching Professional Responsibility, a visiting professor at 

University  of  Trento  Law  School  in  Italy,  and  the Appellate Associate Dean  of  the  Florida  College  of 

Advanced Judicial Studies.  He is a frequent lecturer for CLE and CJE programs. 

Judge Van Nortwick has  received  the Florida Supreme Court Distinguished  Judicial Service Award,  the 

American Bar Association Pro Bono Publico Award, the Florida Bar Pro Bono Award for Florida’s Fourth 

Judicial Circuit,  the Thurgood Marshall Award  for Florida’s Second  Judicial Circuit, and  the Florida Bar 

President’s Award of Merit in both 1992 and 2002.   

13



Panel on the Role of Legal Aid in Disaster Preparedness & Relief 

January 25, 2013 

Louisiana Supreme Court Building 

 

Martha Bergmark, Founding President & CEO, Mississippi Center for Justice 

 

Martha returned home to Mississippi in 2003 as the founding president and CEO of the Mississippi 

Center for Justice. For the previous 15 years, she was a national advocate for equal justice under law in 

Washington DC, serving tenures as president and executive vice president of the Legal Services 

Corporation, which administers federal funding for legal aid programs, and as senior vice president for 

programs at the National Legal Aid and Defender Association, where she directed the NLADA/Center for 

Law and Social Policy's Project for the Future of Equal Justice. For the first 14 years of her legal career, 

Martha practiced civil rights and poverty law in Hattiesburg, Miss., where she was the founding 

executive director of Southeast Mississippi Legal Services (now Mississippi Center for Legal Services). 

She is a former Reginald Heber Smith Fellow and the 1990 recipient of the Kutak‐Dodds Prize for her civil 

rights and legal aid work in her home state of Mississippi. In 2003, she was named the Stern Family 

Fund’s Public Interest Pioneer, an honor which came with a $200,000 grant to launch the Center. She is 

a magna cum laude graduate of Oberlin College, earned her law degree cum laude at the University of 

Michigan Law School and holds an honorary doctorate of public service from Millsaps College. 

 

Paul E. Furrh. J., Chief Executive Officer,  Lone Star Legal Aid 

  Paul E. Furrh, Jr. is the CEO of LSLA officed in Houston and is responsible for the internal and external 

affairs of the firm.  He graduated from the University of Texas with a B.A., the University of Houston with 

a J.D., and the Executive Program for Nonprofit Leaders, Stanford Graduate School of Business.  He 

joined East Texas Legal Services in 1980 as Deputy Director and was named Executive Director in 1982.   

  He has over 35 years experience managing nonprofit organizations, the past 30 years as the CEO of a 

large, regional legal services program which provides a full range of legal services to low income 

persons.  He served two terms as a Commissioner on the Texas Access to Justice Commission; member 

and former Chair of the Supreme Court of Texas Task Force on the Expansion of Legal Services; former 

Chair and member of the State Bar of Texas Legal Services to the Poor in Civil Matters Committee; 

Advisory member, Supreme Court of Texas Permanent Judicial Commission for Children, Youth and 

Families; peer consultant, ABA Center for Pro Bono; and mentor, LSC Leadership Mentoring Pilot Project.  

He served as Chair of the Texas Legal Services State Planning Committee for the Delivery of Legal 

Services to the Poor, and as President of the Nacogdoches County Bar Association from 2002 to 2004.  

He was recognized with a State Bar of Texas Presidential Citation in 2005; Over Twenty Years Leadership 

Award, Legal Services Corporation in 2004; Stanford Graduate School of Business Center for Social 

Innovation Fellow in 2003; and Peter Drucker Foundation Hesselbein Community Innovation Fellow in 

2003. 

14



 

Bob Horowitz, Director, Professional Services Division/DC, American Bar Association 

Robert M. Horowitz has been with the American Bar Association since 1975.  Since 1993 has 

been the Director of the Division of Professional Services, which provides oversight to over 20 

sections, divisions, committees and commissions housed in the ABA Washington DC office.  In 

addition to these duties he is staff counsel to the ABA Standing Committees on Gun Violence 

and Medical Professional Liability and to the Special Committee on Disaster Response and 

Preparedness.   He also co‐directs the ABA Presidential Initiative related to Human Trafficking.  

Within his ABA career, he has served in several other capacities, including as director of the ABA 

Rule of Law Initiative which undertakes legal technical assistance projects worldwide.  He is also 

a cofounder (1978) of the ABA Center for Children and the Law.  He remains active with the 

Center and is nationally recognized as a legal expert in children’s law for which he has lectured, 

served on boards, taught in law schools, and written extensively.  With Center Director Howard 

Davidson, he coauthored and edited The Legal Rights of Children, the first ever treatise on this 

subject, and has previously served as editor the The Children’s Legal Rights Journal .  

A native of Buffalo, New York, Mr. Horowitz holds a Bachelor of Arts degree from Brandies University 

and a Juris Doctorate from the Georgetown University Law Center.  He is a member of the District of 

Columbia and Maryland State Bar Associations.  

Brad J. Kieserman, General Counsel, FEMA 

Brad Kieserman began serving as the Chief Counsel of the Federal Emergency Management Agency 
(FEMA) in March 2010. The Office of Chief Counsel advises the Administrator and all of FEMA’s 
directorates on legal matters related to agency programs and operations. 

Prior to coming to FEMA, Mr. Kieserman served as Associate General Counsel for Operations and 
Enforcement in the Department of Homeland Security’s (DHS) Office of the General Counsel. In that 
role, Mr. Kieserman’s portfolio included emergency and incident management, use of force, 
counterterrorism operations, law enforcement authorities and activities, international operations, 
border‐, aviation‐, maritime‐, and transportation‐related security, and screening and credentialing 
programs. Mr. Kieserman led the DHS operational legal team responding to the H1N1 outbreak in 2009, 
the 2009 Christmas Day bombing attempt of Northwest Flight #253, and the response to the 2010 
earthquake in Haiti. 

In 2009, Mr. Kieserman received an appointment to the Senior Executive Service after 22 years in 
civilian, enlisted, and commissioned officer positions with the U.S. Coast Guard. His tours of duty in the 
Coast Guard included 11 years at sea, 10 years as a federal maritime law enforcement officer, and two 
years as Commanding Officer of the USCGC Point Countess in South Florida. Mr. Kieserman was a first 
responder during the Exxon Valdez oil spill in 1989 and the Caribbean mass migrations in 1994, and 
participated in dozens of search and rescue operations at sea.  

After serving as the Legal Advisor to the Coast Guard’s Chief of Law Enforcement during and after the 
attacks of September 11, 2001, Mr. Kieserman was selected in 2004 as the first Chief of the Coast 
Guard’s Operations Law Group. In that position, he oversaw the provision of real‐time, on‐demand legal 

15



advice for worldwide Coast Guard operations, conducted numerous international negotiations, and 
trained hundreds of attorneys. Mr. Kieserman is also a co‐author of the President’s Maritime 
Operational Threat Response (MOTR) Plan and served as the Federal MOTR Coordinator for hundreds of 
maritime incidents and interdictions, including the pirate attack on the U.S. flagged vessel Maersk 
Alabama off the coast of Somalia in 2009. 

Mr. Kieserman is a graduate of the State University of New York, and received his J.D. magna cum laude 
from the Columbus School of Law at Catholic University in Washington, DC, where he was managing 
editor of the Catholic University Law Review. In 2008, Mr. Kieserman received the Secretary of 
Homeland Security’s Silver Medal, which is awarded for exceptionally meritorious service to the 
department, and to the federal government. His military awards include the Legion of Merit and the 
Meritorious Service Medal. Mr. Kieserman and his wife Cathy have two sons, Hunter and Noah. 

 

Raun Rasmussen, Executive Director, Legal Services NYC 

Mr. Rasmussen was named Executive Director of Legal Services NYC in June, 2011. He has been a 
member of the LS‐NYC family for over 25 years, serving as LS‐NYC’s Chief of Litigation and Advocacy 
since 2003. As such, he directed the LS‐NYC Legal Support Unit, which provides litigation and advocacy 
leadership and support, training, coordination and assistance to legal services providers across New York 
City.  

Mr. Rasmussen began his career as a housing attorney at South Brooklyn Legal Services. He later 
became SBLS’s Director of Litigation, supporting the development of affirmative litigation, helping to 
develop a highly successful foreclosure prevention project designed to combat predatory lending 
practices, and creating and supervising the Child Care Network Support Project, which continues to 
provide legal services and training to home‐based child care providers. 

Mr. Rasmussen has written numerous articles on residential displacement, foreclosure‐related issues, 
ethics, affirmative litigation and child care work. He has been a recipient of the New York Lawyers for 
the Public Interest Felix Fishman Award for Exemplary Service, the New York County Lawyers Association 
Public Service Award, and the New York City Bar Association Legal Services Award. He is a member of 
the Board of Directors of the Neighborhood Economic Development Advocacy Project and serves on the 
Advisory Committee of the Initiative for Neighborhood and City‐Wide Organizing. Mr. Rasmussen holds 
a B.A. from Amherst College and a J.D. from Harvard Law School.  

 

Marta Schnabel, Shareholder, O’Bryon & Schnabel 

Marta‐Ann Schnabel is a shareholder in the law firm of O'Bryon & Schnabel, PLC. In her twenty plus 
years of private practice, she has handled various types of litigation, including construction disputes, 
insurance coverage issues, employment discrimination, health insurance/ ERISA coverage and 
professional malpractice defense. 

She is a 1981 graduate of Loyola Law School, where she served on the National Moot Court Team and 
was a member of Law Review. She authored, "Sexual Harassment in the Workplace: New Guidelines 
from the EEOC", Vol. XXVII Loy. Law Rev. 512 (Spring 1981). In 1996, Loyola recognized her many years 
of work with the Pro Bono Project, Legal Aid and the Legal Services Corporation by honoring her with 
the Gillis Long Public Service Award. 

16



Ms. Schnabel is the immediate past president of the Louisiana State Bar Association. She became the 
first woman to serve as President of the Louisiana State Bar Association when she was sworn into office 
in June of 2006. She previously served on the Board of Governors as President‐Elect. Her multi‐faceted 
involvement with the LSBA has included service on the Committee on the Rules of Professional Conduct, 
the Ethics Advisory Service Committee and the Access to Justice Committee. She was the co‐chair of the 
Practice Improvement and Assistance Committee of the LSBA at its inception, and she remains active on 
the Committee as its liaison to the Board of Governors and as faculty at its Ethics Schools. She has 
served as Secretary of the association and was Editor‐in‐Chief of the Bar Journal from 2001‐2003. She 
received the State Bar Association’s President’s Award in 1998 and again in 2004. 
 
She is a past President of the New Orleans Bar Association and has represented the city in the American 
Bar Association House of Delegates. She has served as panel coordinator and speaker for various 
programs at ABA Annual and Midyear meetings. 
 
Ms. Schnabel has also served as the Treasurer of the New Orleans Legal Services Corporation, a member 
of the Board of Directors of the Louisiana Association of Defense Counsel and as the Chair of the IOLTA 
Compliance Committee of the Louisiana Bar Foundation. 
 
She is also active in civic affairs as a member of the Alliance for Good Government, the Chamber of 
Commerce for New Orleans and the River Region and the Louisiana Association of Business and Industry. 
 

Ranie T. Thompson, Managing Attorney, Southeast Louisiana Legal Services 

Ranie Thompson is the managing attorney of the Foreclosure Defense Unit at Southeast Louisiana Legal 

Services in New Orleans, Louisiana.  Her area of practice includes Foreclosure Defense, bankruptcy and 

general consumer litigation defense.  She represents low‐income homeowners victimized by predatory 

lending or otherwise facing the loss of their homes to foreclosure.  She joined the firm in 2006 as an 

Equal Justice Works Katrina Legal Fellow working in the area of healthcare access and 

government/public benefits.  She is the founder of the New Orleans Medical Legal Partnership 

established in 2007 in partnership with Algiers Community Health Clinic and Tulane University Covenant 

House Community Clinic (2009).   

She has trained attorneys, law students and advocates for social justice, both locally and around the 

country, on other disaster related issues, foreclosure defense litigation, mortgage and foreclosure 

rescue fraud and scams, diversity and inclusion in the profession, and various general financial 

awareness topics.  Prior to joining Southeast Louisiana Legal Services, Ms. Thompson was a staff 

attorney at the ACLU of Mississippi where her work included prisoners’ rights litigation and racial 

discrimination in workplaces.  She has also served as a trainer and panelist with various groups, 

including the LSBA Access to Justice Committee and the Center for Legal Aid Education (Boston, MA), on 

the various subjects. She is a 1993 graduate of Jackson State University (B.A. degree in Political Science) 

and a 1996 graduate of the University of Iowa College of Law (J.D.), and currently serves as a member of 

the Dean’s Advisory Council on Diversity. 

17



 

 

 

 

 

  III.     Promotion & Provision 
Committee 

  



PROMOTION AND PROVISION FOR THE DELIVERY OF 
LEGAL SERVICES COMMITTEE 

 
January 25, 2013 

 
Agenda 

 

OPEN SESSION 

1. Approval of Agenda 
 

2. Approval of minutes of the Committee's meeting of October 1, 2012 
 

3. Discussion of preservation and distribution of Committee presentations 
 

4. Discussion of Committee’s evaluations  for 2012 and the Committee’s goals 
for 2013  
 

5. Panel presentation and discussion on Succession Planning and Leadership 
Development for LSC funded programs 
 

 Jon Asher, Executive Director, Colorado Legal Services 
 David Pantos, Executive Director, Legal Aid of Nebraska 
 Patricia Pap, Executive Director, Management Information Exchange 
 Rhodia Thomas, Executive Director, MidPenn Legal Services 

 
6. Public comment 

 
7. Consider and act on other business 

 
8. Consider and act on motion to adjourn the meeting 

 

 

18



 

 

 

Draft Minutes of the Promotion & 
Provision Committee’s Open Session 

Meeting of October 1, 2012  

  

19



 
Minutes: October 1, 2012: Open Session Meeting of the Promotion & Provision for the Delivery of  
Legal Services Committee 
Page 1 of 5 
 
 

Legal Services Corporation 

Meeting of the Promotion and Provision for the Delivery of 

Legal Services Committee 

Open Session 

Monday, October 1, 2012 

 

DRAFT MINUTES 

 

 Chairman Laurie I. Mikva convened an open session meeting of the Legal Services 

Corporation’s (“LSC”) Promotion & Provision for the Delivery of Legal Services Committee 

(“the Committee”) at 3:09 p.m. on Monday, October 1, 2012. The meeting was held at the Hilton 

Durham Hotel, 3800 Hillsborough Road, Durham, North Carolina 27705.   

 

The following Committee members were present: 

 
Laurie I. Mikva, Chairman 
Sharon L. Browne (by telephone) 
Victor B. Maddox 
Father Pius Pietrzyk 
Julie A. Reiskin 
John G. Levi, ex officio 
 

Other Board members present: 

 

20



 
Minutes: October 1, 2012: Open Session Meeting of the Promotion & Provision for the Delivery of  
Legal Services Committee 
Page 2 of 5 
 
 

Robert J. Grey, Jr. 
Martha L. Minow 
Charles N.W. Keckler 
Gloria Valencia-Weber 
Harry J.F. Korrell, III 
 

Also attending were: 

 
James J. Sandman  President 
Rebecca Fertig Special Assistant to the President 
Victor Fortuno Vice President for Legal Affairs, General Counsel, and Corporate 

Secretary 
Lynn Jennings Vice President for Grants Management 
Jeffrey Schanz Inspector General 
David Maddox Assistant Inspector General for Management and Evaluation, 

Office of the Inspector General 
Carol Bergman Director, Office of Government Relations and Public Affairs 

(GRPA) 
Carl Rauscher   Director of Media Relations, GRPA 
Janet LaBella   Director, Office of Program Performance 
Bernie Brady              LSC Travel Coordinator 
Allan Tanenbaum  Non-Director member, LSC Finance Committee  
George Hausen  Executive Director, Legal Aid of North Carolina, Inc. 
Eric Mittelstadt  Deputy Director, Utah Legal Services 
Pat Muller   Information Technology Manager, South Carolina Legal Services 
Michael Prince  Information Technology Manager, Legal Aid of Northwest Texas 
Sean Driscoll   Legal Aid of North Carolina, Inc. 
Madlyn Morreale  Legal Aid of North Carolina, Inc. 
Yvette Stackhouse  Legal Aid of North Carolina, Inc. 
Hazel Mack   Legal Aid of North Carolina, Inc. 
Celia Pistolis   Legal Aid of North Carolina, Inc. 
David Sobie   Legal Aid of North Carolina, Inc. 
Gray W. Wilson  Legal Aid of North Carolina, Inc. 
Andrea Lorey   South Carolina Legal Services 
Don Saunders              National Legal Aid and Defenders Association (NLADA) 
Chuck Greenfield  National Legal Aid and Defenders Association (NLADA) 
Terry Brooks American Bar Association Standing Committee on Legal Aid and 

Indigent Defendants (SCLAID) 
Dennis Stone   Charlotte School of Law 
 

 

21



 
Minutes: October 1, 2012: Open Session Meeting of the Promotion & Provision for the Delivery of  
Legal Services Committee 
Page 3 of 5 
 
 

The following summarizes actions taken by, and presentations made to, the Committee: 

 

Chairman Mikva called the open session meeting to order. 

 

MOTION 

 

 Father Pius moved to approve the agenda.  Ms. Reiskin seconded the motion. 

 

VOTE 

 

 The motion passed by voice vote.   

 

MOTION 

 

 Ms. Reiskin moved to approve the minutes of the Committee’s July 27, 2012 meeting.  

Father Pius seconded the motion. 

 

VOTE 

 

 The motion passed by voice vote.   

 

 The Committee members briefly discussed potential topics for future meetings.   

22



 
Minutes: October 1, 2012: Open Session Meeting of the Promotion & Provision for the Delivery of  
Legal Services Committee 
Page 4 of 5 
 
 

Chairman Mikva welcomed the panel presentation on uses of technology to improve LSC 

grantee effectiveness and efficiencies.  Ms. LaBella introduced the panel members – Ms. Muller, 

Mr. Prince, Mr. Mittelstadt, and Mr. Hausen.     

 

Ms. Muller began the presentation by discussing the challenges that her program, South 

Carolina Legal Services (SCLS), faced after a merger of pre-existing programs in 2002, which 

resulted in SLCS providing service to the entire state.  She also discussed the steps that SCLS 

took to meet the challenges, including how the program is further increasing the efficiencies 

through technology.  Next, Mr. Prince discussed how the use of SharePoint helped to unify the 

staff of Legal Aid of Northwest Texas and make service delivery more cohesive.  He was 

followed by Mr. Mittelstadt, who discussed how Utah Legal Services (ULS) embarked upon the 

A2J Author online intake system, as well as how ULS has utilized technology for performance 

evaluations.  Mr. Hausen ended the presentation by discussing how Legal Aid of North Carolina 

(LANC) uses to technology to capture and illustrate outcome measures in order to inform 

resource allocation and program assessment.  The panel members answered questions from the 

Committee members.  

 

 Chairman Mikva invited public comment and received none.   

 

 There was no other business to consider.  

 

MOTION 

23



 
Minutes: October 1, 2012: Open Session Meeting of the Promotion & Provision for the Delivery of  
Legal Services Committee 
Page 5 of 5 
 
 

   

 Father Pius moved to adjourn the meeting.  Mr. Maddox seconded the motion. 

 

VOTE 

 

 The motion passed by voice vote.  

 

 The open session meeting of the Committee adjourned at 4:27 p.m. 

 

24



 

 

 

 

 

Committee Evaluation 

  

25



2012 PROMOTION AND PROVISIONS COMMITTEE EVALUATIONS 

Members provided very mixed reviews, citing concerns that the Committee doesn’t take action, 

that panels are too large with no time for discussion, minutes don’t reflect action items, lack of 

progress on long‐term strategic issues, and a lack of alignment between the committee’s goals 

and actions taken. 

Members Liked: 

 Opportunity to meet people;  

 Panels interesting and informative;  

 Meeting with various members of LSC community; hear expertise;  

 Panel presentations outstanding; and 

 Effective as way for Board to learn about grantees. 

 

Ideas for Improvement Include:   

 Smaller panels; more time for deliberation;  

 Need to identify specific issues to be studied and make recommendations;  

 Need to do more than have panel presentations; 

 More active role in making suggestions for future; and 

 More input from committee members regarding the agenda. 

 

Future:   

 How to maximize representation in court and reduce spending on other activities;  

 Focus on Pro Bono Task Force;  

 Study feasibility of reactivating Reggie Fellowships; and  

 Responsibility for implementing parts of Pro Bono Task Force report and Strategic Plan. 

 

26



 

 

 

 

 

Succession Planning Panel Bios 

  

27



LSC Board Meeting—January 2013 
Promotion and Provision for the Delivery of Legal Services Committee 

Succession Planning and Leadership Development Panel 
 
 

Patricia Pap is the Executive Director of Management Information Exchange (MIE), a 
national non-profit membership organization whose mission is to promote excellence in 
legal aid programs across the United States by providing training, publishing and 
consulting services on management, leadership, supervision, and fundraising topics.  She 
joined the organization in 1997 as its first full time executive director, after serving for 
many years on its Board of Directors and Journal Committee.   
 
As executive director, Patricia is responsible for MIE’s overall growth and programmatic 
development. Assisted by a Board of Directors comprised of legal aid program managers, 
she supervises the MIE staff and works with teams of legal aid program staff members 
from throughout the country who serve as volunteers to lead MIE’s national training 
events.  In addition, MIE publishes the highly-regarded MIE Journal, and provides 
consulting services.  MIE is actively involved in management consulting and custom 
training work for individual legal aid programs, on topics such as leadership, supervision, 
resource development, strategic planning, board of director development, and executive 
director search. It also maintains a web-based resource library for legal aid managers.   
 
Prior to 1997, Patricia served as Executive Director of Legal Services for Cape Cod and 
Islands, an LSC-funded program, for fourteen years, and as housing attorney and 
supervising attorney for Legal Services of Eastern Michigan for six years.  During this 
time period, she also served on the Board of Directors and Civil Council of the National 
Legal Aid and Defender Association.  Patricia received her JD from Case Western 
University School of Law, and her BA from Mt Holyoke College. 
 
Jonathan (Jon) Asher is the Executive Director of Colorado Legal Services, a position 
he has held since October 1999.  Jon was formerly the Executive Director of the Legal 
Aid Society of Metropolitan Denver from December 1, 1980 until October 1, 1999 when 
the Legal Aid Society merged with Colorado’s two other federally funded programs - 
Colorado Rural Legal Services and Pikes Peak/Arkansas River Legal Aid - and became a 
single statewide program, Colorado Legal Services.  Jon currently serves on the Colorado 
Judicial Advisory Council, appointed by the Chief Justice of the Colorado Supreme 
Court.  He also is a member of the Colorado Access to Justice Commission and the 
Colorado Bar Association’s Board of Governors.  He currently is Chair of the Colorado 
Bar Association’s Availability of Legal Services Committee and is a member of its 
Family Violence Program Steering Committee.   
 
He began his legal services career as a staff attorney with Colorado Rural Legal Services 
in Greeley, Colorado in August, l971.  Jon graduated from Harvard College and Harvard 
Law School.   
 

28



Rhodia D. Thomas is the Executive Director of MidPenn Legal Services (MPLS), which 
provides civil legal services to clients in 18 counties in central Pennsylvania.  She 
became the executive director in late 2003, after serving as the program’s interim 
director.   
 
Rhodia has received several awards including the PLAN Excellence Award, the 
Outstanding Minority Scholar Award, Women of Excellence Award, Adult Achievers 
Award sponsored by the Camp Curtin YMCA, and in 2002 she was named as one of 50 
Minorities of Influence by the American Lawyer Media, publishers of the Legal 
Intelligencer and Pennsylvania Law Weekly.  Rhodia is active in the Pennsylvania Bar 
Association (PBA); she currently serves as a member of its Constitutional Review 
Committee and, until recently, she served as Co-Chair of the PBA’s Access to Justice 
Committee.  She is also a member of the Minority Bar Committee and for three years she 
co-chaired the MBC’s Diversity Summit.  Rhodia is also a member of the PBA’s 
Immigration Law, and Legal Services to the Public Committees. In July 2012, Rhodia 
was elected to the Board of the Pennsylvania Bar Institute, and currently she serves as 
President of the Pennsylvania Project Directors Association.   
 
She graduated magna cum laude from Syracuse University, with a B.S. in Education, and 
received her J.D. from Widener University School of Law. 
 
Dave Pantos is the Executive Director of Legal Aid of Nebraska (LAN). He has been a 
licensed attorney for 16 years, over 14 of which has been in the area of poverty law. Prior 
to becoming LAN’s executive director in January of 2009, Dave was LAN’s Director of 
Litigation for over two years.  
 
In addition to his role as Executive Director at LAN, Dave is the Board Chairperson of 
the Domestic Violence Council of Greater Omaha, and a Board member of the Nonprofit 
Association of the Midlands. Dave also serves on several Nebraska Supreme Court 
Committees and Commissions, including the Commission on Children in the Courts and 
the Minority Justice Committee. He also served on the national Legal Services 
Corporation Pro Bono Task Force and on the American Bar Association Pro Bono 
advisory group. Dave also is on the national Management Information Exchange Journal 
editorial committee. Locally, Dave pens the In the Trenches column for the Omaha Daily 
Record.  
 
Before Dave moved to Nebraska in 2006, he was the statewide supervisor of Legal 
Services of New Jersey’s Supplemental Security Income Project. Dave received his JD 
and Masters of Science in Environmental Science at Indiana University in Bloomington 
in 1996, and acquired his BA in Political Science and History at Rutgers College in 1992.  

29



 
 

 

 

 

IV.   Operations & Regulations 
Committee 

  



 

 

 
  OPERATIONS & REGULATIONS COMMITTEE 

 
January 25, 2013 

 
Agenda 

 
 

Open Session 
 

1. Approval of agenda 
 

2. Approval of minutes of the Committee’s meeting September 30, 2012 
 

3. Consider and act on rulemaking on enforcement mechanisms 
 

 Mark Freedman, Senior Assistant General Counsel 
 Matthew Glover, Associate Counsel to the Inspector General 
 Public comment on this rulemaking 

 
4. Consider and act on initiating rulemaking on representation of criminal 

defendants in tribal courts 
 

 Mark Freedman, Senior Assistant General Counsel 
 Public comment on this request to initiate rulemaking 

 
5. Consider and act on initiating rulemaking on the findings and 

recommendations of the Pro Bono Task Force with respect to the Private 
Attorney Involvement requirement 
 

 Mark Freedman, Senior Assistant General Counsel 
 Public comment on this request to initiate rulemaking 

 
6. Discussion of Committee’s evaluations for 2012 and the Committee’s 

goals for 2013 
 

7. Public comment 
 

8. Consider and act on other business 
 

9. Consider and act on adjournment of meeting 

30



 

 

 

 

 

Draft Minutes of the Operations & 
Regulations Committee's Open Session 

Meeting of September 20, 2012  

31



Minutes: September 20, 2012: Open Session Meeting of the Operations and Regulations Committee 
Page 1 of 4 
 
 

Legal Services Corporation 

Meeting of the Operations and Regulations Committee 

Open Session 

Thursday, September 20, 2012  

 

DRAFT MINUTES 

 

 Chairman Charles N.W. Keckler convened an open session telephonic meeting of the 

Legal Services Corporation’s (“LSC”) Operations and Regulations Committee (“the 

Committee”) at 3:01 p.m. on Thursday, September 20, 2012.  The meeting was held at the F. 

William McCalpin Conference Center, LSC Headquarters, 3333 K Street, NW, Washington D.C. 

20007.  

 

The following Committee members were present by telephone: 

 
Charles N.W. Keckler, Chairperson 
Robert J. Grey, Jr. 
Harry J.F. Korrell, III  
Laurie I. Mikva 
John G. Levi, ex officio  
 

Other Board members present: 

 
Julie A. Reiskin 
Gloria Valencia-Weber 
 

Also attending were: 

32



Minutes: September 20, 2012: Open Session Meeting of the Operations and Regulations Committee 
Page 2 of 4 
 
 

 
James J. Sandman   President 
Richard L. Sloane  Chief of Staff and Special Assistant to the President 
Rebecca Fertig  Special Assistant to the President 
Kathleen McNamara Executive Assistant to the President 
Lynn Jennings Vice President for Grants Management 
Victor M. Fortuno Vice President for Legal Affairs, General Counsel, and Corporate 

Secretary 
Mark Freedman  Senior Assistant General Counsel, Office of Legal Affairs  
Jeffrey E. Schanz  Inspector General 
Laurie Tarantowicz Assistant Inspector General and Legal Counsel, Office of the 

Inspector General  
Matthew Glover Associate Counsel, Office of the Inspector General 
Lora Rath Director, Office of Compliance and Enforcement 
Janet LaBella Director, Office of Program Performance 
John Meyer Director, Office of Information Management 
Don Saunders  National Legal Aid and Defenders Association (NLADA) 
Chuck Greenfield  National Legal Aid and Defenders Association (NLADA) 
 

The following summarizes actions taken by, and presentations made to, the Committee: 

 

 Chairman Keckler noted the presence of a quorum and called the open session meeting to 

order.     

 

MOTION 

 

Mr. Grey moved to approve the agenda.  Ms. Mikva seconded the motion. 

 

VOTE 

 

The motion passed by voice vote.   

 

33



Minutes: September 20, 2012: Open Session Meeting of the Operations and Regulations Committee 
Page 3 of 4 
 
 

MOTION 

 

Ms. Mikva moved to approve the minutes of the Committee’s July 27, 2012 meeting.  

Mr. Grey seconded the motion. 

 

VOTE 

 

 The motion passed by voice vote.  

 

 Mr. Freedman gave a briefing on the Further Notice of Proposed Rulemaking (FNPR) on 

termination procedures, enforcement, and suspension procedures, and he answered Committee 

members’ questions.  Chairman Keckler invited public comment on the FNPR and heard from 

Mr. Greenfield.      

 

 Chairman Keckler invited other public comment and received none. 

 

In other business, Ms. Mikva noted there was an error in the July 27, 2012 Committee 

minutes.  Mr. Freedman offered to double check the transcript.  Chairman Keckler asked that a 

correction be made, if necessary.   

 

MOTION 

 

 Ms. Mikva moved to adjourn the meeting.  Mr. Grey seconded the motion.  

34



Minutes: September 20, 2012: Open Session Meeting of the Operations and Regulations Committee 
Page 4 of 4 
 
 

 

VOTE 

 

 The motion passed by voice vote.  

 

The open session meeting of the Committee adjourned at 3:58 p.m. 

 
 

 
 

35



 

 

 

Draft Minutes of the Operations & 
Regulations Committee's Open Session 

Meeting of September 30, 2012 

  

36



Minutes: September 30, 2012: Open Session Meeting of the Operations and Regulations Committee 
Page 1 of 4 
 
 

Legal Services Corporation 

Meeting of the Operations and Regulations Committee 

Open Session 

Sunday, September 30, 2012  

 

DRAFT MINUTES 

 

 Chairman Charles N.W. Keckler convened an open session meeting of the Legal Services 

Corporation’s (“LSC”) Operations and Regulations Committee (“the Committee”) at 2:25 p.m. 

on Sunday, September 30, 2012.  The meeting was held at the Hilton Durham Hotel, 3800 

Hillsborough Road, Durham, North Carolina 27705.  

 

The following Committee members were present: 

 
Charles N.W. Keckler, Chairperson 
Robert J. Grey, Jr. 
Harry J.F. Korrell, III  
Laurie I. Mikva 
John G. Levi, ex officio  
 

Other Board members present: 

 
Sharon L. Browne (by telephone) 
Victor B. Maddox 
Father Pius Pietrzyk 
Julie A. Reiskin 
Martha L. Minow 
 

37



Minutes: September 30, 2012: Open Session Meeting of the Operations and Regulations Committee 
Page 2 of 4 
 
 

Also attending were: 

 
James J. Sandman   President 
Rebecca Fertig  Special Assistant to the President 
Kathleen McNamara Executive Assistant to the President 
Lynn Jennings Vice President for Grants Management 
Victor M. Fortuno Vice President for Legal Affairs, General Counsel, and Corporate 

Secretary 
Mark Freedman  Senior Assistant General Counsel, Office of Legal Affairs  
David Richardson  Comptroller & Treasurer 
Jeffrey E. Schanz  Inspector General 
Laurie Tarantowicz Assistant Inspector General and Legal Counsel, Office of the 

Inspector General (OIG) 
Matthew Glover Associate Counsel, OIG 
David Maddox Assistant Inspector General for Management and Evaluation, OIG 
Ronald “Dutch” Merryman Assistant Inspector General for Audit, OIG 
Carol Bergman Director, Office of Government Relations and Public Affairs 

(GRPA) 
Carl Rauscher Director of Media Relations, GRPA 
Marcos Navarro Design Director, GRPA 
Janet LaBella Director, Office of Program Performance 
Bernie Brady LSC Travel Coordinator 
Herbert Garten Non-director member, LSC Institutional Advancement Committee 
Frank Strickland Non-director member, LSC Institutional Advancement Committee 
Chuck Greenfield  National Legal Aid and Defenders Association (NLADA) 
Terry Brooks   American Bar Association 

 

The following summarizes actions taken by, and presentations made to, the Committee: 

 

 Chairman Keckler noted the presence of a quorum and called the open session meeting to 

order.     

 

MOTION 

 

Board Chairman Levi moved to approve the agenda.  Mr. Korrell seconded the motion. 

38



Minutes: September 30, 2012: Open Session Meeting of the Operations and Regulations Committee 
Page 3 of 4 
 
 

 

VOTE 

 

The motion passed by voice vote.   

 

 Chairman Keckler noted that there were no minutes for the Committee’s approval.   

 

 Chairman Keckler invited Mr. Freedman to introduce possible revisions to the 

Corporation’s bylaws for implementation of the Continuity of Operations Plan (COOP).  Mr. 

Freedman answered Committee members’ questions.  The Committee members offered several 

amendments.     

 

MOTION 

 

 Ms. Mikva moved to recommend that at the next telephonic or quarterly meeting, when 

the Board is presented with a clean copy of the COOP, it adopt the amended COOP.  Mr. Korrell 

seconded the motion. 

 

VOTE 

 

 The motion passed by voice vote. 

 

  

39



Minutes: September 30, 2012: Open Session Meeting of the Operations and Regulations Committee 
Page 4 of 4 
 
 

 Next, Mr. Freedman provided an overview of the comments received on the Further 

Notice of Proposed Rulemaking (FNPR) on grant termination procedures, enforcement 

mechanisms, and suspension procedures.  Chairman Keckler invited questions and comments 

from the Committee members.  Mr. Glover provided comments on behalf of the OIG.  Chairman 

Keckler then invited public comments and heard from Mr. Greenfield and Mr. Brooks.    

 

 There was no other business to consider.   

 

MOTION 

 

 Mr. Grey moved to adjourn the meeting.  Board Chairman Levi seconded the motion.  

 

VOTE 

 

 The motion passed by voice vote.  

 

The open session meeting of the Committee adjourned at 4:10 p.m. 

 
 

 
 
 

40



 

 

 

 

Rulemaking Enforcement Mechanisms   

41



Legal Services Corporation
America’s Partner For Equal Justice 

TO: Operations and Regulations Committee 

FROM: Mark Freedman, Senior Assistant General Counsel
Kara Ward, Assistant General Counsel

THROUGH: 

SUBJECT:

Victor M. Fortuno, General Counsel

Rulemaking Overview for the January 2013 Board Meeting
DATE: January 9, 2013

Management is seeking Board input on three separate rulemaking activities 
during the January 2013 meeting.  The first rulemaking topic presented is the 
conclusion of the rulemaking process for new and enhanced enforcement 
mechanisms. The Board is presented with drafts of the Final Rule for feedback 
prior to publication as final in the Federal Register.  

The second rulemaking topic presented is a request for the Board to approve 
initiation of rulemaking to revise the existing regulations on tribal court 
representations to reflect new statutory authority for recipients to use LSC funds 
to represent any eligible client in a criminal matter before a tribal court. 

The third rulemaking topic presented is a request for the Board to approve 
initiation of rulemaking in response to the findings and recommendations of the 
Pro Bono Task Force’s October 2012 Report with respect to the Private Attorney 
Involvement regulation. 

1. Enforcement Mechanisms, 45 C.F.R. Parts 1606, 1614, 1618, and 
1623

This rulemaking is presented in its intended final form for publication in the 
Federal Register.  It will be effective, with Board approval, 30 days after 
publication.  The revised rules enhance options available to the Corporation to 
induce compliance and to sanction violations by: 

(a) Creating a new enforcement action known as a “limited reduction of 
funding”; 

(b) Providing a new process by which recipients may cure violations 
through written compliance agreements (when appropriate); 

(c) Enhancing the procedures for an informal conference to resolve issues 
related to a violation; 

42



Rulemaking Overview for the January 2013 Board Meeting
January 9, 2013
Page 2 of 2 

(d) Authorizing an extension in the duration of non-audit based funding 
suspensions from 30 days to 90 days; and 

(e) Permitting the Corporation to immediately add special grant conditions 
based on findings of violations.  

The revised rule also makes a number of technical and stylistic improvements in 
these rules.

2. Representation of Criminal Defendants in Tribal Courts, 45 C.F.R. Part 
1613

This request to commence the rulemaking process addresses a new issue. A law 
enacted in 2010 changed the LSC Act to permit grant recipients to use LSC 
funds not only for eligible clients charged with a misdemeanor in tribal courts, but 
also for eligible clients facing more serious charges, including felonies, in tribal 
courts. A corresponding easing of the restrictions in LSC’s current regulations on 
the use of funds in the tribal courts has the support of Management.  It remains 
for the Board to determine the best process to bring about alignment of the 
statutory and regulatory provisions on representation in criminal matters before 
tribal courts.

3. Private Attorney Involvement, 45 C.F.R. Part 1614

This request to commence the rulemaking process is made in order to begin 
consideration of the Pro Bono Task Force’s findings and recommendations that 
the Corporation “revise its Private Attorney Involvement (PAI) Regulation to 
encourage pro bono.”

 

43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



Enforcement Mechanisms Final Rule
January 8, 2013, Draft

6

Limited Reductions Termination Debarment Suspension 

§ 1606.2(f) § 1606.2(l) § 1606.2(c) § 1623.2(b) 

Less than 5 Percent 5 percent of more   

Substantial violation 
§ 1606.2(k) 

Substantial violation 
§ 1606.2(k)  

 Substantial violation 
§ 1623.3(a) 
§ 1606.2(k) 

 Substantial failure 
§ 1606.3(a)(2) 

  Good cause 
§ 1606.4(b) 

   Prompt action is necessary 
§ 1623.3(a) 

   Failure of an audit 
§ 1623.3(b) 

Preliminary Determination 
§ 1606.6(a) 

Preliminary Determination 
§ 1606.6(a) 

Preliminary Determination 
§ 1606.6(a) 

Proposed Determination 
§ 1623.4(b) 

Compliance Agreement (if 
available and agreed to)  
§ 1606.7(a) 

Compliance Agreement (if 
available and agreed to) 
§ 1606.7(a) 

Compliance Agreement (if 
available and agreed to)  
§ 1606.7(a) 

Prompt Corrective Action 
§ 1623.2(b) 

Submission of Written 
Materials in Opposition to 
the Preliminary 
Determination (if no 
compliance agreement) 
§ 1606.7(b) 

Submission of Written 
Materials in Opposition to 
the Preliminary 
Determination (if no 
compliance agreement) 
§ 1606.7(b) 

Submission of Written 
Materials in Opposition to 
the Preliminary 
Determination (if no 
compliance agreement)  
§ 1606.7(b) 

Submission of Written 
Materials in Opposition to the 
Proposed Determination 
§ 1623.4(f) 

Informal Conference  
§ 1606.7(b)–(e) 

Informal Conference  
§ 1606.7(b)–(e) 

Informal Conference  
§ 1606.7(b)–(e) 

Informal Meeting 
§ 1623.4(c)–(f) 

Draft Final Decision 
§ 1606.7(f) 

Draft Final Decision 
§ 1606.7(f) 

Draft Final Decision 
§ 1606.7(f) 

Final determination 
§ 1623.4(f) 

 Hearing 
§ 1606.8 

Hearing 
§ 1606.8 

 Recommended Decision 
§ 1606.9 

Recommended Decision 
§ 1606.9 

Review by the LSC 
President  
§ 1606.10 

Review by the LSC 
President 
§ 1606.10 

Review by the LSC 
President 
§ 1606.10 

Review by the LSC President 
(for a suspension lasting more 
than 30 days not based on an 
audit failure) 
§ 1623.4(h) 

Final Decision 
§ 1606.10(e) 

Final Decision 
§ 1606.10(e) 

Final Decision 
§ 1606.10(e) 

Suspension Appeal Decision 
§ 1623.4(h)(3) 

Ty
pe

 o
f V

io
la

tio
n 

Pr
oc

ed
ur

e

51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



95



96



97



98



99



100



101



102



103



104



 
 

 

 

 

Representation of Criminal Proceedings 
in Tribal Courts   

105



 
 
 
 

Legal Services Corporation
America’s Partner For Equal Justice 

TO: Operations and Regulations Committee  
 

FROM:   Kara Ward, Assistant General Counsel 
 

THROUGH: 
 
SUBJECT: 

 Victor M. Fortuno, General Counsel 
 
 Approval to Engage in Rulemaking on Representation of Criminal 
Defendants in Tribal Court  
 

DATE: January 9, 2013 
  

On behalf of Management, the Office of Legal Affairs (“OLA”) requests that the 
Operations and Regulations Committee (“Committee”)  recommend to the Board 
of Directors (“Board”) that they authorize consideration of rulemaking options on 
the use of LSC funds for representation of eligible clients in any criminal matter 
before a tribal court.   

I) Background Information. 

a. Legislative Action. 

The Indian Arts and Crafts Amendment Act of 2010, Pub. L. 111-211, 124 Stat. 
2258, 2282, amended the LSC Act, 42 U.S.C. 2996f(b) (“the LSC Act”), to 
provide authority for LSC funds to be used by grant recipients to represent 
eligible persons in any and all criminal proceedings in tribal courts. Previously, 
the LSC Act and related regulations in 45 C.F.R. Part 1613 permitted 
representation only in criminal matters involving misdemeanors or lesser 
offenses in tribal courts. 

A subsection of the Indian Arts and Crafts Amendment Act of 2010, the same 
legislation that authorized LSC funds to be used for representation of any eligible 
criminal defendant in tribal courts, also included new authorizations related to 
tribal court criminal proceedings in a subsection that is known as the “Tribal Law 
and Order Act of 2010.”  

The Tribal Law and Order Act of 2010 increased the maximum jail sentence that 
any tribal court could impose from one to three years for any single offense. This 
new maximum sentencing authority gives tribal governments the option of 
enacting new laws that allow the tribal courts to adjudicate more serious crimes, 
particularly those associated with domestic violence and sexual assault.  

106



Tribal Court Rulemaking 
January 9, 2013 
Page 2 of 7 

Previously, tribal governments generally declined to prosecute serious crimes 
due to the limited sentencing authority, and they referred the matters to the local 
U.S. Attorney’s offices for prosecution.  Indigent defendants in federal criminal 
prosecutions were eligible for representation by public defenders.  

The Tribal Law and Order Act of 2010 includes a provision that requires tribal 
governments to bear the expense of providing indigent criminal defendants with 
counsel when the offense with which they are charged carries the possibility of 
imprisonment for one year up to new the statutory limit of three years. Prior to the 
law’s enactment, there was no guarantee that indigent defendants in tribal 
criminal proceedings would be provided with counsel for any term of 
imprisonment.  

The legislative history of the Tribal Law and Order Act of 2010 indicates that the 
conforming change to the LSC Act was made to address the new requirement 
that if tribal governments authorize the new sentencing authority, they must also 
bear the expense of providing representation:  

The Committee also acknowledges that in order for the options 
established under this section to be made available to all tribes, 
Congress must provide funding for tribal public defender programs. 
To address this concern, section 304(b) clarifies that legal services 
funding can be used for public defender services for all crimes 
charged in tribal court systems, as opposed to only misdemeanors 
as is provided under current law.  
S. Rep. No. 11-93, at 18 (2009).  

If tribal governments elect to expand the jurisdiction of their courts in criminal 
cases to include more serious offenses as a result of the new maximum 
sentencing authority, the volume and seriousness of crimes litigated before tribal 
courts may increase.  

b. LSC Response. 

On November 8, 2012, the LSC issued a program letter to all recipients entitled, 
“Criminal Proceedings in Tribal Courts.” The letter advised recipients of the 
change in the LSC Act, and, pending Board action to amend LSC’s regulations, 
allowed recipients’ voluntary use of LSC funds to undertake more serious 
criminal matters in tribal courts on behalf of eligible persons.  

107



Tribal Court Rulemaking 
January 9, 2013 
Page 3 of 7 

LSC regulations prohibiting representation of eligible clients before a tribal court 
for more serious criminal offenses (not including misdemeanors or lesser crimes) 
have been in place since 1978. The regulations track directly to the previous 
statutory prohibition on criminal representation unless the representation involved 
misdemeanors or lesser offenses in tribal courts. The new statutory language 
permits the representation in tribal courts for more serious criminal offenses, but 
it does not require any recipient to undertake such representation. Unless the 
regulations are amended, they will, by their terms, prohibit recipients from 
representing eligible clients in tribal courts for more serious crimes.  

The current regulatory scheme carves out a narrow exception for recipients to 
use LSC funds for criminal representation if the representation is part of a 
generally applicable program for court appointments in the jurisdiction, or if 
professional responsibility requires the representation.  The LSC’s regulations 
permit a recipient staff attorney to decline an appointed representation if the 
matter is not consistent with the recipient organizations’ primary responsibility to 
provide civil legal aid or the appointment is not a part of a program that applies to 
all members of the jurisdiction’s bar. The exception for appointed representations 
and the option for an appointed staff attorney to decline a representation do not 
apply to misdemeanors or lesser offenses in tribal courts, which are excluded 
from the regulations’ definition of “criminal proceedings.”  

II) Analysis of Issues. 

As a result of the recent statutory changes entitling criminal defendants in tribal 
courts to representation for crimes carrying the possibility of imprisonment for 
one or more years, LSC recipient organizations who serve clients on or near 
tribal lands may see an increase in the number of requests for representation in 
criminal matters by eligible persons.  LSC recipient organizations may also see 
an increase in the number of court appointments to represent criminal 
defendants in tribal courts by virtue of the fact that they are members of that 
jurisdiction’s bar.   

Should the Board decide to revise the regulations to align with the new statutory 
authorization for expanded representation in criminal matters before tribal courts, 
changes to the sections of the regulations regarding the circumstances under 
which a recipient’s staff attorney may decline a criminal case court appointment 
should be considered in parallel. 

  

108



Tribal Court Rulemaking 
January 9, 2013 
Page 4 of 7 

 

III) Discussion of the Rulemaking Protocol. 

LSC’s Rulemaking Protocol (67 FR 69762) provides that:   

The impetus for a rulemaking may come from any one of several 
sources; Congressional directive; internal LSC initiative (Board or 
Committee members and/or staff); or a formal request from a 
member of the regulated community or general public. Decisions on 
whether to undertake rulemakings will be made by the Board upon 
the recommendation of the Committee. 
Notices, 67 Fed. Reg. 69763 (Nov. 19, 2002).   

When Management believes that rulemaking should be undertaken on a given 
topic, it makes its recommendation to the Committee, which then determines 
whether to recommend to the Board that the Board initiate the rulemaking.  In 
most instances, the Committee will base its recommendation upon consideration 
of a Rulemaking Options Paper (‘‘ROP’’) prepared by OLA. The ROP will contain 
a discussion of the subject for the potential rulemaking, and will include an 
outline of the policy and legal issues involved, as well as the mechanisms to 
accomplish the rulemaking.     

IV) Next Steps. 

With the Board’s approval, the Office of Legal Affairs will develop a robust ROP 
for the Committee review at April meeting. 

 
Attachments.  
 

 

  

109



Tribal Court Rulemaking 
January 9, 2013 
Page 5 of 7 

Attachment:  
 

a. LSC Act 

As a result of The Indian Arts and Crafts Amendment Act of 2010, Section 
10007(b)(2) of the LSC Act now states: 

(b) No funds made available by the Corporation under this title, 
either by grant or contract, may be used…   (2) to provide legal 
assistance with respect to any criminal proceeding, except to 
provide assistance to a person charged with an offense in an Indian 
tribal court.” [emphasis added]. 

Prior to the enactment of The Indian Arts and Crafts Amendment Act, the same 
section of the LSC ACT read: 

(b) No funds made available by the Corporation under this title, 
either by grant or contract, may be used…   (2) to provide legal 
assistance with respect to any criminal proceeding, except to 
provide assistance to a person charged with a misdemeanor or 
lessor offense or its equivalent in an Indian tribal court” [emphasis 
added]. 

The LSC Act provides explicit authority for the Corporation to protect staff 
attorneys from unreasonable court appointments, Section 1006(d)(6) and 
1006(b)(3) of the LSC Act are read in coordination:  

Attorneys employed by a recipient shall be appointed to provide 
legal assistance without reasonable compensation only when such 
appointment is made pursuant to a statute, rule, or practice applied 
generally to attorneys practicing in the court where the appointment 
is made. 

The Corporation shall not, under any provision of this title, interfere 
with any attorney in carrying out his professional responsibilities to 
his client as established in the Canons of Ethics and the Code of 
Professional Responsibility of the American Bar Association 
(referred to collectively in this title as `professional responsibilities') 
or abrogate as to attorneys in programs assisted under this title the 
authority of a State or other jurisdiction to enforce the standards of 

110



Tribal Court Rulemaking 
January 9, 2013 
Page 6 of 7 

professional responsibility generally applicable to attorneys in such 
jurisdiction. The Corporation shall ensure that activities under this 
title are carried out in a manner consistent with attorneys' 
professional responsibilities. 
 

b. Regulations 

45 CFR 1613 - RESTRICTIONS ON LEGAL ASSISTANCE WITH RESPECT TO 
CRIMINAL PROCEEDINGS (as of January 9, 2012) 

§ 1613.1 Purpose. 

This part is designed to insure that Corporation funds will not be used to provide 
legal assistance with respect to criminal proceedings unless such assistance is 
required as part of an attorney's responsibilities as a member of the bar. 

§ 1613.2 Definition. 

Criminal proceeding means the adversary judicial process prosecuted by a public 
officer and initiated by a formal complaint, information, or indictment charging a 
person with an offense denominated “criminal” by applicable law and punishable 
by death, imprisonment, or a jail sentence. A misdemeanor or lessor offense tried 
in an Indian tribal court is not a “criminal proceeding”. 

§ 1613.3 Prohibition. 

Corporation funds shall not be used to provide legal assistance with respect to a 
criminal proceeding, unless authorized by this part. 

§ 1613.4 Authorized representation. 

Legal assistance may be provided with respect to a criminal proceeding. 

(a) Pursuant to a court appointment made under a statute or a court rule or 
practice of equal applicability to all attorneys in the jurisdiction, if authorized by 
the recipient after a determination that it is consistent with the recipient's primary 
responsibility to provide legal assistance to eligible clients in civil matters; or 

(b) When professional responsibility requires representation in a criminal 
proceeding arising out of a transaction with respect to which the client is being, or 
has been, represented by a recipient. 

111



Tribal 
Janua
Page 7

Court Rulemak
ry 9, 2013 
7 of 7 

c. Pr
(p

king 

rogram Le
please see f

tter 12-3 
following paage) 

 

112



 

 

 

 

 

 

Private Attorney Involvement   

113



Legal Services Corporation
America’s Partner For Equal Justice 

TO: Operations and Regulations Committee 

FROM: Kara Ward, Assistant General Counsel

THROUGH: 

SUBJECT:

Victor M. Fortuno, General Counsel

Approval to Engage in Rulemaking on PAI Based on the Pro Bono   
Task Force Recommendations

DATE: January 9, 2013

On behalf of Management, the Office of Legal Affairs (“OLA”) requests that the 
Operations and Regulations Committee  (“Committee”) recommend that the 
Board of Directors (“Board”) authorize an exploration into rulemaking options for 
revising LSC’s Private Attorney Involvement (PAI) Regulation pursuant to the 
recommendations made by the Corporation’s Pro Bono Task Force (“Task 
Force”) .  

I) Background.

In October 2012, the Pro Bono Task Force released its findings and 
recommendations. The Task Force, convened by LSC’s Board of Directors and 
co-chaired by Board members Martha Minow and Harry J.F. Korrell III, included 
more than 60 distinguished leaders and experts from the judiciary, major 
corporations, private practice, law schools, the federal government, and the legal 
aid community. Its charge was to identify and recommend innovative ways to 
enhance pro bono throughout the country. 

One of the Task Force’s recommendations addresses LSC’s PAI regulation 
which requires grantees to expend an amount equivalent to 12.5 percent of their 
basic field grants to encourage the involvement of private attorneys in the 
delivery of legal assistance to eligible clients. The regulation prescribes certain 
activities that can be counted as meeting its PAI requirement.  The Task Force 
found that the PAI regulation poses a number of challenges to grantees as they 
seek to expand their pro bono resources and assistance. To address these 
challenges, the Pro Bono Task Force recommended the following revisions to the 
regulation:

a. Resources spent supervising and training law students, law 
graduates, deferred associates, and others should be counted 
toward grantees’ PAI obligations, especially in “incubator” 
initiatives.

Legal Services Corporation
America’s Partner For Equal Justice 

114



PAI Rulemaking
January 9, 2013
Page 2 of 2 

b. Grantees should be allowed to spend PAI resources to enhance 
their screening, advice, and referral programs that often attract pro 
bono volunteers while serving the needs of low-income clients.

c. LSC should reexamine the rule that mandates adherence to LSC 
grantee case handling requirements, including that matters be 
accepted as grantee cases in order for programs to count toward 
PAI requirements.

II) Discussion of the Rulemaking Protocol.

LSC’s Rulemaking Protocol (67 FR 69762) provides that  

“The impetus for a rulemaking may come from any one of several sources; 
Congressional directive; internal LSC initiative (Board or Committee members 
and/or staff); or a formal request from a member of the regulated community or 
general public. Decisions on whether to undertake rulemakings will be made by 
the Board upon the recommendation of the Committee.”
67 FR 69763. 

When Management believes that rulemaking on a given topic should be 
undertaken, it makes its recommendation to the Committee, which then 
determines whether to recommend to the Board that the Board initiate the 
rulemaking.   In most instances, the Committee will base its recommendation 
upon consideration of a Rulemaking Options Paper (‘‘ROP’’) prepared by the 
Office of Legal Affairs (OLA”). The ROP will contain a discussion of the subject 
for the potential rulemaking, and will include an outline of the policy and legal 
issues involved, as well as the mechanisms to accomplish the rulemaking.   

III) Next Steps.

Management requests that the Committee recommend to the Board that LSC 
fully explore rulemaking options regarding the PAI requirement in light of the 
findings and recommendations of the Task Force.  The next step is the 
development of a Rulemaking Options Paper for the Committee’s review. 

 

115



 

 

 

 

 

Committee Evaluation  

  

116



2012 OPERATIONS AND REGULATIONS COMMITTEE EVALUATIONS 

Members very positive. 

Members Liked:   

• Civility and seriousness of purpose. 

Ideas for Improvement Include: 

• More balanced presentations on matters that LSC management is promoting; and  
• Better way to mark up documents in discussion (technology solution). 

Future:   

• Now that we have a revised charter, need to adopt timeline to accomplish tasks and 
begin to tackle systematically; and  

• Advance general regulatory review and move to fulfill operations mandate. 

 

117



 

 

 

 

V.   Institutional Advancement 
Committee    

  



INSTITUTIONAL ADVANCEMENT COMMITTEE 
 

January 25, 2013 
 

Agenda 
 

OPEN SESSION 

1. Approval of agenda 

2. Approval of minutes of the Committee’s open session meeting of 

September 30, 2012  

3. Report on the status of recruitment of a Chief Development Officer 
 

4. Discussion of Committee’s evaluations for 2012 and the Committee’s  

goals for 2013 

5. Discussion of plans for LSC’s 40th anniversary celebration 

6. Public comment 

7. Consider and act on other business 

CLOSED SESSION 

8. Approval of minutes of the Committee’s closed session meeting of 

September 30, 2012 

9. Discussion of prospective funders for LSC’s development activities 

10. Discussion of prospective funders for implementing the Pro Bono Task 

Force report 

11. Consider and act on adjournment of meeting 

118



 

 

 

 

Draft Minutes of the Institutional 
Advancement Committee’s Open Session 

meeting of September 30, 2012 

  

119



 
Minutes: September 30, 2012: Open Session Meeting of the Institutional Advancement Committee 
Page 1 of 3 
 
 

Legal Services Corporation 

Meeting of the Institutional Advancement Committee 

Open Session 

Sunday, September 30, 2012 

 

DRAFT MINUTES 

 

 Chairman John G. Levi convened an open session meeting of the Legal Services 

Corporation’s (“LSC”) Institutional Advancement Committee (“the Committee”) at 4:45 p.m. on 

Sunday, September 30, 2012. The meeting was held at the Hilton Durham Hotel, 3800 

Hillsborough Road, Durham, North Carolina 27705.  

 

The following Committee members were present: 

 

John G. Levi, Chairman 
Martha L. Minow 
Robert J. Grey, Jr. 
Charles N.W. Keckler 
Father Pius Pietrzyk  
Herbert S. Garten (Non-Director Member) 
Frank B. Strickland (Non-Director Member) 
 

Other Board members present: 

Laurie I. Mikva 

 

120



 
Minutes: September 30, 2012: Open Session Meeting of the Institutional Advancement Committee 
Page 2 of 3 
 
 

Also attending were: 

 
James J. Sandman  President 
Rebecca Fertig Special Assistant to the President 
Allan Tanenbaum Non-director member, LSC Finance Committee 
Don Saunders National Legal Aid and Defenders Association (NLADA) 
Terry Brooks American Bar Association (ABA) 
 

The following summarizes actions taken by, and presentations made to, the Committee: 

 

Chairman Levi called the open session meeting of the Committee to order.   

 

MOTION 

 

 Dean Minow moved to approve the agenda.  Father Pius seconded the motion. 

 

VOTE 

 

 The motion passed by voice vote.  

 

MOTION 

 

 Dean Minow moved to approve the minutes of the Committee’s open session meeting of 

July 27, 2012.  Father Pius seconded the motion. 

 

VOTE 

121



 
Minutes: September 30, 2012: Open Session Meeting of the Institutional Advancement Committee 
Page 3 of 3 
 
 

 

 The motion passed by voice vote.  

  

 Chairman Levi inquired whether the Chief Development Officer position description 

required Board action.  President Sandman responded that no Board action was necessary.   

 

 Chairman Levi invited public comment and received none. 

 

 There was no other business to consider.       

 

 Chairman Levi adjourned the meeting into closed session at 4:50 p.m.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

122



 

 

 

 

 

Committee Evaluation 

  

123



2012 INSTITUTIONAL DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE EVALUATIONS 

Members positive.  One member concerned with lack of sufficient materials to review. 

Members Liked:  

 Goals;  

 Recognition of need for development office and follow up on it; 

 Entrepreneurial and creative attitude 

 

Ideas for Improvement Include:   

 Repeated discussion of same issues. 

 Need to be better at identifying risks and minimizing impact; and 

 Hire staff development officer. 

 

Future:   

 Implement development plan.  Can’t anticipate every contingency; need to accept risk 

of going forward and initiate development work; and 

 Turn great ideas into action and flow of funds.  Generate annual fundable proposal. 

 

 

 

124



 

 

 

 

VI.   Governance & Performance Review 
Committee   

  



GOVERNANCE AND PERFORMANCE REVIEW COMMITTEE 
 

January 26, 2013 
 

Agenda 
 
 
 
OPEN SESSION 
 

1. Approval of agenda 
 

2. Approval of minutes of the Committee’s meeting of September 30, 2012 
 

3. Staff Reports on 
 

 2012 Board and Board Member self-evaluations 
 2012 Committee evaluations 
 Staff report on progress in implementing GAO  

recommendations 
 

4. Report on Public Welfare Foundation grant 
 

 Presentation by Jim Sandman 
 

5. Discussion of President’s evaluation for 2012 
 

6. Discussion of the Inspector General’s evaluation for 2012 
 

7. Consider and act on other business 
 

8. Public comment 
 

9. Consider and act on motion to adjourn meeting 
 
 
 

125



 

 

 

 

Draft Minutes of the Governance & 
Performance Review Committee’s       

Open Session meeting  
of September 30, 2012  

  

126



 
Minutes: Sunday, September 30, 2012: Open Session Meeting of the Governance & Performance Review 
Committee 
Page 1 of 3 
 
 

Legal Services Corporation 

Meeting of the Governance & Performance Review Committee 

Open Session 

Sunday, September 30, 2012 

 

DRAFT MINUTES 

 

 Chair Martha L. Minow convened an open session meeting of the Legal Services 

Corporation’s (“LSC”) Governance & Performance Review Committee (“the Committee”) at 

2:02 p.m. on Sunday, September 30, 2012.  The meeting was held at the Hilton Durham Hotel, 

3800 Hillsborough Road, Durham, North Carolina 27705. 

 

The following Committee members were present: 

 
Martha L. Minow, Chair 
Sharon L. Browne (by telephone) 
Charles N.W. Keckler 
Julie A. Reiskin 
John G. Levi, ex officio 
 

Other Board Members Present: 

Victor B. Maddox 
Father Pius Pietrzyk 
 

Also attending were: 

127



 
Minutes: Sunday, September 30, 2012: Open Session Meeting of the Governance & Performance Review 
Committee 
Page 2 of 3 
 
 

 
James J. Sandman  President 
Rebecca Fertig                        Special Assistant to the President 
Mark Freedman Senior Assistant General Counsel, Office of Legal Affairs 
Lynn Jennings Vice President for Grants Management 
Jeffrey E. Schanz  Inspector General, Office of the Inspector General (OIG) 
Matthew Glover Associate Inspector General for Management and Evaluation 

(OIG) 
Ronald “Dutch” Merryman Assistant Inspector General for Audit, OIG 
Carol Bergman Director, Office of Government Relations and Public Affairs 
Carl Rauscher Director of Media Relations, Office of Government Relations and 

Public Affairs   
Janet LaBella   Director, Office of Program Performance (OPP) 
Herbert S. Garten  Non-Director Member, LSC Institutional Advancement Committee 
Frank Strickland  Non-Director Member, LSC Institutional Advancement Committee 
Chuck Greenfield  National Legal Aid and Defender Association (NLADA) 
Terry Brooks American Bar Association 
 

 

The following summarizes actions taken by, and presentations made to, the Committee: 

 

Chair Minow called the open session meeting to order. 

  

MOTION 

 

 Mr. Keckler moved to approve the agenda.  Ms. Reiskin seconded the motion.  The 

motion was treated as approved. 

 

MOTION 

  

128



 
Minutes: Sunday, September 30, 2012: Open Session Meeting of the Governance & Performance Review 
Committee 
Page 3 of 3 
 
 

 Mr. Keckler moved to approve the minutes of the Committee’s July 27, 2012 meeting. 

Ms. Reiskin seconded the motion. The motion was treated as approved. 

 

Ms. Bergman gave a report on the progress in implementing GAO recommendations.  

Ms. Bergman answered Committee members’ questions.  

 

President Sandman gave a report on the status of the Public Welfare Foundation grant, 

which LSC received earlier in the year.   

 

There was no other business to consider.   

 

Chair Minow invited public comment and received none. 

 

MOTION 

   

 Mr. Keckler moved to adjourn the meeting.  Board Chairman Levi seconded the motion. 

 

 The open session meeting of the Committee adjourned at 2:17 p.m. 

 

129



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2012 Committee Evaluation  
  

130



2012 AUDIT COMMITTEE EVALUATIONS 

All 3 members gave positive evaluations.   

Members liked:   

 Focused agenda;  

 Members prepared; and  

 Leadership of the chair.   

Ideas for improvement include:   

 Finding that the discussion time is too limited;  

 Desire for opportunity to informally get to know other members; and 

 Greater focus on the OIG. 

Future:   

 Improved coordination with OIG;  

 Greater involvement in the financial report process & LSC’s internal control structure; 

 Implement new charter; and 

 Improve internal controls of grantees 

 

   

131



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2012 Board Evaluations  
  

132



2012 FINANCE COMMITTEE EVALUATIONS 

All 5 members gave positive reviews.   

Members liked:   

 Thorough attention;  

 Respect for others’ opinions;  

 Meetings run professionally;  

 Members’ skill sets;  

 Presentations;  

 Ability to advance mission. 

 

Ideas for improvement include:   

 More attention to long term;  

 “More info from congressional requests;” 

 More consistently set up telephonic meetings between Board meetings to get regular 

financial reports; and 

 Better technology. 

Future:   

 Look at alternative funding sources; and 

 How to better tell the LSC story.  

 

 

   

133



2012 GOVERNANCE AND PERFORMANCE REVIEW COMMITTEE EVALUATIONS 

Members generally positive.   

Members Liked:   

 Tone;  

 Chair;  

 Meetings well run and efficient;  

 Respectful of others’ opinions;  

 Progress on GAO 

Ideas for Improvement Include:       

 Better understanding of GAO’s role;  

 Updates on implementation of Fiscal Oversight Task Force 

 Updates on outstanding issues; and  

 If Committee to have significant role in research, suggest having a semi‐annual staff 

briefing. 

Future:   

 Identify new agenda items;  

 Comprehensive review of charter & LSC’s governance;  

 Ensure that best practices are available to grantees; 

 Align performance reviews to achieve year‐to‐year comparison; 

 Closed discussions to candidly assess evaluations of LSC President & officers;  

 Model governance for grantees; and  

 Engage programs. 

 

   

134



2012 OPERATIONS AND REGULATIONS COMMITTEE EVALUATIONS 

Members very positive. 

Members Liked:   

 Civility and seriousness of purpose. 

Ideas for Improvement Include: 

 More balanced presentations on matters that LSC management is promoting; and  

 Better way to mark up documents in discussion (technology solution). 

Future:   

 Now that we have a revised charter, need to adopt timeline to accomplish tasks and 

begin to tackle systematically; and  

 Advance general regulatory review and move to fulfill operations mandate. 

 

   

135



2012 INSTITUTIONAL DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE EVALUATIONS 

Members positive.  One member concerned with lack of sufficient materials to review. 

Members Liked:  

 Goals;  

 Recognition of need for development office and follow up on it; 

 Entrepreneurial and creative attitude 

 

Ideas for Improvement Include:   

 Repeated discussion of same issues. 

 Need to be better at identifying risks and minimizing impact; and 

 Hire staff development officer. 

 

Future:   

 Implement development plan.  Can’t anticipate every contingency; need to accept risk 

of going forward and initiate development work; and 

 Turn great ideas into action and flow of funds.  Generate annual fundable proposal. 

 

 

   

136



2012 PROMOTION AND PROVISIONS COMMITTEE EVALUATIONS 

Members provided very mixed reviews, citing concerns that the Committee doesn’t take action, 

that panels are too large with no time for discussion, minutes don’t reflect action items, lack of 

progress on long‐term strategic issues, and a lack of alignment between the committee’s goals 

and actions taken. 

Members Liked: 

 Opportunity to meet people;  

 Panels interesting and informative;  

 Meeting with various members of LSC community; hear expertise;  

 Panel presentations outstanding; and 

 Effective as way for Board to learn about grantees. 

 

Ideas for Improvement Include:   

 Smaller panels; more time for deliberation;  

 Need to identify specific issues to be studied and make recommendations;  

 Need to do more than have panel presentations; 

 More active role in making suggestions for future; and 

 More input from committee members regarding the agenda. 

 

Future:   

 How to maximize representation in court and reduce spending on other activities;  

 Focus on Pro Bono Task Force;  

 Study feasibility of reactivating Reggie Fellowships; and  

 Responsibility for implementing parts of Pro Bono Task Force report and Strategic Plan. 

137



LSC BOARD OF DIRECTORS – 2012 EVALUATIONS 

Priorities for Attention in 2013 include: 

Strategic Plan 

Ten (10) Board Members identified the Strategic Plan as a priority, including:  

 Adopt priorities for action; 

 Implementation to lead to performance metrics;  

 Continue active participation and oversight; and 

 Adopt schedule/timeline for accomplishing goals. 

Pro Bono Task Force 

Seven (7) Board Members identified implementation of the Pro Bono Task Force Report 

recommendations as a priority. 

Funding 

Six (6) Board Members identified the need to develop outside sources of funding as a priority, 

including: 

 Hire Development Officer;  

 Generate series of realistic proposals from private donors and foundations; and 

 Assist grantees so they survive funding cuts. 

Relationship with Congress 

Four (4) Board Members identified improved relations with Congress as a priority. 

Messaging 

Three (3) Board Members identified increased attention to getting LSC’s story out publicly as a 

priority. 

Fiscal Oversight Task Force 

Two (2) Board Members identified final implementation of the Fiscal Oversight Task Force 

recommendations as a priority. 

   

138



Other Priorities  

The following priorities were identified by one (1) Board member: 

 Review whether Board committees are meeting responsibilities in charters. 

 More focus of presentations on how to improve performance of grantees and follow 

through on best practices. 

 Amendment of PAI Rules. 

 Provide ongoing ways for stakeholders and partners to come together. 

 Directly take on the business case justification for legal aid. 

 Resolve CBA this year. 

 Improve grantee compliance. 

 Improve grantee efficiency. 

 Improve fraud prevention. 

 Eliminate political/activist grantee efforts and focus on core vision – in court 

representation of individual cases. 

 Review performance and productivity of LSC employees (rather than grantees).  We 

have focused on grantees; not nearly as much as on our own employees. 

 Program quality. 

 Engage the community, especially clients in discussion to determine what outcomes to 

be measured. 

 Explore new ideas, e.g., self‐help centers. 

 Continue outreach to grantees. 

 

139



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

GAO Recommendations updates  
  

140



Updated 1/10/13 

  Page 1

GAO Recommendations from June 2010 Report 
“Improvements Needed in Controls over Grant Awards & Grantee Program Effectiveness”  

 
 

# Grant Application 
Processing and Award 

Date 
Documentation 

Submitted to 
GAO 

Proposed 
Evidence 

Needed by 
GAO (Col. 
Added by 

GAO) 

LSC Implementation 
 

Current Status 
 

1 Develop and implement 
procedures to provide a 
complete record of all data 
used, discussions held, 
and decisions made on 
grant applications.  

 
 

June 2010 
 
 
 
 
 

August 2010  
 
 
 

June 2010 

 
 

Real time 
observation of 
LSC Grants 
 
 
 

Real time 
observation of 
LSC Grants 
 

Real time 
observation of 
LSC Grants 
 
 

Changes to the LSC Grants software program 
have been implemented and include:   

 The home page of the LSC Grants review 
module has been revised to include a listing of 
grant documents that must be reviewed (if 
applicable). The final page of the review module 
requires the reviewer to certify, by entering the 
reviewer’s name, that all applicable grant 
documents have been reviewed in completing 
the grant application evaluation.  

 LSC grants  includes a page for OPP 
management to use in certifying the meeting(s) 
held with staff reviewers to discuss data used in 
the evaluation process, the reviewer’s 
recommendations, and management’s final 
funding recommendation for the grant applicant.  

 The evaluation module of LSC grants is 
modified to designate certain reviewer data 
fields as required, which prohibits a reviewer 
from submitting an application evaluation that is 
incomplete. As an example, the field that 
reviewers use to certify that all required grant 
documents have been reviewed is a required 
field. Also, data fields linked to particular 
responses provided in other data fields are 
designated as required fields. 

January 2013: GAO considers this 
recommendation closed. It will be updating 
its online report tracker to reflect the 
closure in the upcoming weeks.  

2 Develop and implement 
procedures to carry out 
and document 
management’s review and 
approval of the grant 
evaluation and award 
decisions.  

December 2010  Real time 
observation of 
LSC Grants 

The following changes were incorporated for the 
2011 grant decision cycle: 

 LSC grants has been revised to include a page 
for the LSC Vice President for Programs and 
Compliance and a page for the LSC President to 
use in certifying the meeting(s) held with OPP 

January 2013: GAO considers this 
recommendation closed. It will be updating 
its online report tracker to reflect the 
closure in the upcoming weeks. 

141



Updated 1/10/13 

  Page 2

# Grant Application 
Processing and Award 

Date 
Documentation 

Submitted to 
GAO 

Proposed 
Evidence 

Needed by 
GAO (Col. 
Added by 

GAO) 

LSC Implementation 
 

Current Status 
 

and OCE management to discuss the evaluation 
process, and OPP and OCE management 
recommendations.  

 The Vice President's page includes a funding 
recommendation for the grant Applicant and the 
President's page includes a line for certifying the 
funding decision for each Applicant.  Funding 
decisions were completed in December 2010.  

3 Conduct and document a 
risk-based assessment of 
the adequacy of internal 
control of the grant 
evaluation and award and 
monitoring process from 
the point that the Request 
for Proposal is created 
through award, and 
grantee selection.  

Ongoing.  
 
 

Documentation 
of the risk based 
internal control 
assessment of 
the process and 
any related risk 
remediation 
efforts. 

LSC has engaged an outside expert to develop 
and perform a full evaluation and assessment of 
the competitive grants process.  
 
This includes conducting a risk-based assessment 
of the internal control of the grant evaluation, 
award, and monitoring process; recommendations 
of additional internal control options; 
recommendations for maximizing information 
reporting capabilities; and a report on internal 
controls and options implemented. 
 
 
 

January 2013: In September 2012, LSC 
engaged L&L Consulting, LLC, to perform 
a risk-based assessment of LSC’s 
grantmaking processes. L&L completed its 
evaluation and submitted a report of its 
findings and recommendations to LSC 
management on Nov. 28, 2012. LSC has 
provided this report to the GAO. The GAO 
has indicated a willingness to close the 
recommendation upon its receipt and is 
expected to do so shortly. 
 

4 Conduct and document a 
cost benefit assessment of 
improving the effectiveness 
of application controls in 
LSC Grants such that the 
system’s information 
capabilities could be 
utilized to a greater extent 
in the grantee application 
evaluation and decision-
making process.  

November 2010 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cost benefits 
assessment.  
 
Real time 
observation of 
the required 
fields, certs etc. 
in LSC Grants 
 
Evidence of the 

LSC implemented the use of the required fields, 
certifications required by reviewers documenting 
the review process, and certifications by 
management and the Executive Office 
documenting the process for reaching final funding 
recommendations and funding decisions.  

LSC Grants will undergo a continuous internal 
evaluation by staff and management to assess the 
effectiveness of the control features implemented, 
and consider additional control feature options. 

January 2013: In a follow-up site visit, 
GAO reviewed LSC Grants and was 
satisfied with the enhanced application 
controls that LSC implemented. But before 
it would close-out the recommendation, 
GAO requested a memo from LSC 
documenting the changes that have been 
made and the cost-benefit of improving 
LSC Grants internally, rather than 
purchasing a new, external system. LSC 
provided the requested memo and 
expects to receive a decision on the 

142



Updated 1/10/13 

  Page 3

# Grant Application 
Processing and Award 

Date 
Documentation 

Submitted to 
GAO 

Proposed 
Evidence 

Needed by 
GAO (Col. 
Added by 

GAO) 

LSC Implementation 
 

Current Status 
 

continuous 
internal 
evaluation by 
staff. 

recommendation’s closure in the 
upcoming weeks.   
 

Grantee Oversight Activities 
5 Develop and implement 

procedures to ensure that 
grantee site visit selection 
risk criteria are consistently 
used and to provide for 
summarizing results by 
grantee.  

August 16, 2010 Evidence of 
outside labor 
counsel review 
and 
implementation. 

OPP and OCE Manuals have been revised to 
include procedures for risk criteria used for 
selecting grantee site visit.  Also, both offices have 
developed summarized results of the selection 
process by grantee. Outside labor counsel has 
reviewed LSC’s response. 

January 2013: GAO is still reviewing the 
OPP and OCE Manuals LSC submitted, 
but expects to complete its review in the 
upcoming weeks and issue a decision on 
this recommendation’s closure. 

6 Establish and implement 
procedures to monitor 
OCE grantee site visit 
report completion against 
the 120 day time frame 
provided in the OCE 
Procedures Manual.  

April 2012 Evidence of 
outside labor 
counsel review 
and 
implementation. 

OCE has developed an annual tracking document 
that includes comprehensive information on 
grantee site visits, and reporting date and 
issuance (OCE/OPP combined visit list).  Outside 
labor counsel has reviewed LSC’s response. 

January 2013: GAO considers this 
recommendation closed. It will be updating 
its online report tracker to reflect the 
closure in the upcoming weeks.  

7 Execute a study to 
determine an appropriate 
standard timeframe for 
OLA opinions to be 
developed and issued. 
Develop and implement 
procedures to monitor 
completion of OLA 
opinions related to OCE 
site visits against the target 
time frame for issuing 
opinions.  

August 20, 2010  Copy of study 
and new OLA 
Opinions 
Protocol. Also, 
evidence of 
implementation 
of the new 
protocol. 

Office of Legal Affairs (OLA) issued a new 
Opinions Protocol that sets forth the procedures 
and processes to be followed in the development 
and issuance of both Advisory and Internal 
Opinions. As part of this effort, OLA implemented 
appropriate timeframes for response to requests 
for opinions. 

January 2013: GAO considers this 
recommendation closed. It will be updating 
its online report tracker to reflect the 
closure in the upcoming weeks.  

8 Develop and implement 
procedures to provide a 
centralized tracking system 
for LSC’s 
recommendations to 
grantees identified during 
grantee site visits and the 
status of grantees’ 
corrective actions.  

August 2011 
 
 

Evidence of 
procedures and 
implementation 
of the 
centralized 
tracking system 
for LSC 
recommendatio
ns.  

Both OPP and OCE currently monitor 
recommendations and corrective actions through 
separate processes in each office.  LSC has 
implemented a method of monitoring the status of 
top tier recommendations from OPP program 
quality visits in LSC Grants. The system requires 
grantees to discuss the status of the 
implementation of the report recommendations in 
their annual competition or renewal applications. 

January 2013: GAO considers this 
recommendation closed. It will be updating 
its online report tracker to reflect the 
closure in the upcoming weeks.  

143



Updated 1/10/13 

  Page 4

# Grant Application 
Processing and Award 

Date 
Documentation 

Submitted to 
GAO 

Proposed 
Evidence 

Needed by 
GAO (Col. 
Added by 

GAO) 

LSC Implementation 
 

Current Status 
 

Performance Management  
9 Develop and implement 

procedures to link 
performance measures (1) 
to specific offices and their 
core functions and 
activities, and (2) to LSC’s 
strategic goals and 
objectives.  

Ongoing Evidence of 
procedures and 
sustainable 
implementation. 

The LSC Board of Directors has developed a new 
strategic plan for the Corporation which will include 
linking performance measures to LSC’s strategic 
goals and objectives.  
 
LSC is in process of revising its employee 
performance evaluation system and currently 
reviewing all position descriptions to link to 
strategic goals and objectives. Revisions will be 
discussed with the union. 

January 2013: LSC is actively developing, 
in conjunction with its employee union, a 
comprehensive performance management 
system.  A draft proposal is currently being 
evaluated by senior management.   
To assist in developing the new system, 
LSC issued a Job Analysis Questionnaire 
(JAQ) to all staff. Management is using the 
responses to update position descriptions 
and tie them to the Strategic Plan adopted 
by LSC’s Board in October 2012, to 
identify the competencies required for 
each position, and to develop appropriate 
performance measures.   

10 Develop and implement 
procedures for periodically 
assessing performance 
measures to ensure they 
are up-to-date.  

Ongoing  Evidence of 
implementation. 

LSC will develop and implement procedures to 
periodically assess performance measures after a 
new strategic plan is finalized.    
 

January 2013: LSC is in the process of 
developing, in conjunction with its 
employee union, a comprehensive 
performance management system. The 
proposal is expected to include, consistent 
with the Strategic Plan adopted by the 
LSC Board in October 2012, procedures 
for periodically assessing performance 
measures. 

Staffing Needs Assessment 

11 Develop and implement 
procedures to provide for 
assessing all LSC 
component staffing needs 
in relation to LSC’s 
strategic and strategic 
human capital plans.  
 

Ongoing  Evidence of 
procedures and 
their sustainable 
implementation. 

LSC will develop and implement a human capital 
plan consistent with the new strategic goals the 
Board adopts.   

January 2013: In July 2012, LSC issued a 
Job Analysis Questionnaire to all staff. 
Management is using the responses to 
update position descriptions, identify the 
competencies required for each position, 
and develop appropriate performance 
measures. In the fall of 2012, senior 
management surveyed mid-level 
managers to gauge their staffing needs. 
Management has analyzed the results of 
these surveys and is in the process of 
developing a human capital plan that is 
tied to the Corporation’s Strategic Plan, 
adopted by the LSC Board in October. 

144



Updated 1/10/13 

  Page 5

# Grant Application 
Processing and Award 

Date 
Documentation 

Submitted to 
GAO 

Proposed 
Evidence 

Needed by 
GAO (Col. 
Added by 

GAO) 

LSC Implementation 
 

Current Status 
 

12 Develop and implement a 
mechanism to ensure that 
all LSC staff receives 
annual performance 
assessments.  

Ongoing Evidence of 
procedures and 
their sustainable 
implementation 
e.g., most 
recent actual 
performance 
assessments for 
all OPP and 
OCE 
employees.  

Also list of OPP 
and OCE staff 
on board at time 
of performance 
assessment 
cycle. 

LSC is in the process of developing a new 
performance appraisal system and aims to 
conduct staff performance assessments covering 
2012.   
 
Since the GAO requires two consecutive years of 
performance appraisals to close out the 
recommendation, expected completion date 2015.  

January 2013: LSC is actively developing, 
in conjunction with its employee union, a 
comprehensive performance management 
system. A draft proposal, which provides 
for annual performance assessments of 
staff, is currently being evaluated by 
senior management.   
 

Budget Controls  
13 Develop and implement a 

process to monitor contract 
approvals to ensure that all 
proposed contracts are 
properly approved before 
award.  

October 2009 Evidence of 
process design 
and 
implementation. 

Recommendation completed. LSC implemented 
new Administrative Manual procedures to better 
monitor contract approvals and ensure that funds 
are available and all contracts receive appropriate 
approvals prior to issuance. This policy and 
practice was in place prior to GAO’s completing 
their fieldwork for this report, and a review of 
LSC’s practices since October 1, 2009 will show 
that the procedures are being followed and all 
contracts are now being properly approved. 

Closed by GAO  (10/13/2011) 
 
 
 

14 Develop and implement 
procedures for contracts at 
or above established policy 
thresholds, to ensure the 
LSC President provides 
written approval in 
accordance with policy 
before contract award.  

October 2009 Evidence of 
procedures and 
their 
implementation. 

Recommendation completed. LSC implemented 
new Administrative Manual procedures to better 
monitor contract approvals and ensure that funds 
are available and all contracts receive appropriate 
approvals prior to issuance.  
This policy and practice was in place prior to 
GAO’s completing their fieldwork for this report, 
and a review of LSC’s practices since October 1, 
2009 will show that the procedures are being 
followed and all contracts are now being properly 
approved. 

Closed by GAO  (10/13/2011) 
 
 
 

145



Updated 1/10/13 

  Page 6

# Grant Application 
Processing and Award 

Date 
Documentation 

Submitted to 
GAO 

Proposed 
Evidence 

Needed by 
GAO (Col. 
Added by 

GAO) 

LSC Implementation 
 

Current Status 
 

15 Develop and implement 
procedures to ensure 
budget funds are available 
for all contract proposals 
before contracts are 
awarded.  

October 2009 Evidence of 
sustainable 
implementation. 

Recommendation completed. LSC implemented 
new Administrative Manual procedures to better 
monitor contract approvals and ensure that funds 
are available and all contracts receive appropriate 
approvals prior to issuance.  
 
This policy and practice was in place prior to 
GAO’s completing their fieldwork for this report, 
and a review of LSC’s practices since October 1, 
2009 will show that the procedures are being 
followed and all contracts are now being properly 
approved. 

Closed by GAO  (10/13/2011) 
 
 
 

Internal Control Environment  
16 Develop and implement 

procedures for providing 
and periodically updating 
training for LSC 
management and staff on 
applicable internal controls 
necessary to effectively 
carry out LSC’s grant 
award and grantee 
performance oversight 
responsibilities.  

Ongoing Evidence 
demonstrating 
implementation 
of procedures 
for providing 
and periodically 
updating 
training for LSC 
management 
and staff on 
applicable 
internal controls 
necessary to 
effectively carry 
out LSC’s grant 
award and 

LSC developed training procedures for LSC 
management and staff regarding internal controls 
to carry out grant award competition and grantee 
oversight responsibilities.  
 
LSC management received first of a 3-part training 
series on this topic on September 6, 2012.  
Second session scheduled for October.   
 
 
 

January 2013: GAO junior staff is satisfied 
with LSC’s implementation of this 
recommendation, but its closure is 
pending approval from senior staff. GAO 
expects to render a final decision in the 
upcoming weeks.  

146



Updated 1/10/13 

  Page 7

# Grant Application 
Processing and Award 

Date 
Documentation 

Submitted to 
GAO 

Proposed 
Evidence 

Needed by 
GAO (Col. 
Added by 

GAO) 

LSC Implementation 
 

Current Status 
 

grantee 
performance 
oversight. 

17 Establish a mechanism to 
monitor progress in taking 
corrective actions to 
address recommendations 
related to improving LSC 
grants award, evaluation, 
and monitoring.  

October 2010 Evidence of 
implementation 
of the 
monitoring of 
corrective 
actions taken to 
address 
recommendatio
ns related to 
improving LSC 
grant award. 

LSC has established a formal process to monitor 
and track actions taken by LSC in response to 
recommendations from the Government 
Accountability Office. This written procedure 
identifies the Office of Government Relations and 
Public Affairs as the office responsible for 
maintaining the tracking system and includes 
quarterly reporting on the status of any 
remediation efforts to the Board of Directors.   

January 2013: GAO considers this 
recommendation closed. It will be updating 
its online report tracker to reflect the 
closure in the upcoming weeks.  

 
Total Number of Recommendations:  17 
Total Number Closed:  9 
Total Number in Process of Closure by GAO:  3  
Total Number of Open Items:  5 

147



 

 

 

 

 

VII.   Audit Committee 

  



AUDIT COMMITTEE 
  

January 26, 2013 
  

Agenda  
 

OPEN SESSION 
  

1.  Approval of agenda 
 

2. Approval of minutes of the Committee’s meeting of  
September 30,  2012 

 
3. Presentation of the Fiscal Year (FY) 2012 Annual Financial Audit  

 
 Ronald “Dutch” Merryman, Assistant Inspector General for 

Audits 
 Nancy Davis, WithumSmith+Brown 

 
4. Review of LSC’s Form 990 for FY 2012 

 
5. Briefing by Office of Inspector General 

 
 Jeffrey Schanz, Inspector General 

 
6. Discussion of Committee’s evaluations for 2012 and the Committee’s 

goals for 2013 
 

7. Public comment 
 

8. Consider and act on other business   
 

9. Consider and act on adjournment of meeting 
 

148



CLOSED SESSION 
 

10. Communication by Corporate Auditor with those charged with 
governance under Statement on Auditing Standard 114  

 
 Jeffrey Schanz, Inspector General 
 Ronald “Dutch” Merryman, Assistant Inspector General for 

Audits 
 Nancy Davis, WithumSmith+Brown 

 
   

149



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Draft Minutes of the Audit Committee’s 
Open Session meeting 
of September 30, 2012 

  

150



Minutes: September 30, 2012: Open Session Meeting of the Audit Committee 
Page 1 of 4 
 
 

Legal Services Corporation 

Meeting of the Audit Committee 

Open Session 

Sunday, September 30, 2012  

 

DRAFT MINUTES 

 

 Chairman Victor B. Maddox convened an open session meeting of the Legal Services 

Corporation’s (“LSC”) Audit Committee (“the Committee”) at 4:20 p.m. on Sunday, September 

30, 2012.  The meeting was held at the Hilton Durham Hotel, 3800 Hillsborough Road, Durham, 

North Carolina 27705. 

 

The following Committee members were present: 

Victor B. Maddox, Chairman 
Harry J.F. Korrell, III  
David Hoffman (Non-Director Member) (by telephone) 
Paul L. Snyder (Non-Director Member) (by telephone) 
John G. Levi, ex officio 
 
 
Other Board members present: 
Laurie Mikva 
Julie A. Reiskin 
 

Also attending were: 

 
James J. Sandman   President 
Rebecca Fertig  Special Assistant to the President 

151



Minutes: September 30, 2012: Open Session Meeting of the Audit Committee 
Page 2 of 4 
 
 

Victor M. Fortuno Vice President for Legal Affairs, General Counsel and Corporate 
Secretary 

Mark Freedman Senior Assistant General Counsel, Office of Legal Affairs 
Lynn Jennings Vice President for Grants Management 
David L. Richardson Comptroller and Treasurer 
Jeffrey E. Schanz  Inspector General 
Laurie Tarantowicz Assistant Inspector General and Legal Counsel, Office of the 

Inspector General   
Matthew Glover                      Associate Counsel, Office of the Inspector General 
David Maddox Assistant Inspector General for Management and Evaluation, 

Office of the Inspector General 
Ronald “Dutch” Merryman Assistant Inspector General for Audit, Office of the Inspector 

General 
Carol Bergman Director, Office of Government Relations and Public Affairs 

(GRPA) 
Carl Rauscher Director of Media Relations, GRPA 
Marcos Navarro Design Director, GRPA 
Janet LaBella Director, Office of Program Performance 
Allan Tanenbaum Non-Director Member, LSC Finance Committee 
Chuck Greenfield National Legal Aid and Defender Association (NLADA) 
Terry Brooks American Bar Association  
 

The following summarizes actions taken by, and presentations made to, the Committee: 

 Chairman Maddox called the open session meeting of the Committee to order.  

    

MOTION 

 

Mr. Korrell moved to approve the agenda.  Mr. Snyder seconded the motion. 

VOTE 

 

The motion passed by voice vote.   

 

MOTION 

152



Minutes: September 30, 2012: Open Session Meeting of the Audit Committee 
Page 3 of 4 
 
 

 

Mr. Snyder moved to approve the minutes of the Committee’s June 25, 2012 meeting, as 

amended.  Mr. Korrell seconded the motion. 

 

VOTE 

 

 The motion passed by voice vote.  

 

 Chairman Maddox led the discussion on the latest version of the revised Committee 

charter, which reflected comments from the Committee’s June 25, 2012 meeting, as well as those 

from the Office of Inspector General.  Committee members’ questions were answered by Mr. 

Fortuno, Inspector General Schanz, and Mr. Merryman. 

 

MOTION 

 

 Mr. Korrell moved to recommend to the Board the adoption of the Committee charter, as 

revised during the meeting.  Mr. Snyder seconded the motion.  

 

VOTE 

 

 The motion passed by voice vote. 

 

153



Minutes: September 30, 2012: Open Session Meeting of the Audit Committee 
Page 4 of 4 
 
 

 Inspector General Schanz briefed the Committee on the peer review of the Securities 

Exchange Commission conducted by the OIG pursuant to the Inspector General Act.  Following, 

Mr. Merryman briefed the Committee on the internal audit and the Quality Control Reviews 

(“QCR”) processes and answered Committee members’ questions  

 

Chairman Maddox invited public comment and received none. There was no other 

business to consider. 

 

Mr. Snyder suggested that, pending adoption of the revised charter, the Committee align 

its agendas with the revised charter to ensure that the Committee is accomplishing its 

responsibilities throughout the year.   

 

MOTION 

 

Mr. Korrell moved to adjourn the meeting.  Mr. Snyder seconded the motion.    

 

VOTE 

 

 The motion passed by voice vote.  

 

The open session meeting of the Committee adjourned at 6:11 p.m. 

 

154



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Annual Financial Audit Fiscal Year 2012 
  

155



156



157



      WithumSmith+Brown 
      A Professional Corporation 
      Certified Public Accountants and Consultants 

Legal Services Corporation 

Financial Statements  

September 30, 2012 and 2011 

With Independent Auditors’ Report 

158



Legal Services Corporation
Table of Contents 
September 30, 2012 and 2011

Page(s)

Independent Auditors’ Report ...................................................................................................................... 1-2

Basic Financial Statements

Statements of Financial Position .......................................................................................................................... 4

Statements of Activities and Change in Net Assets ........................................................................................  5-6 

Statements of Cash Flows ...................................................................................................................................7

Notes to the Financial Statements ................................................................................................................. 8-15

Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on  
an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards ........... 16-17  

Appendix  

Management’s Discussion and Analysis...................................................................................................... 18-32

159



A member of HLB International. A world-wide organization of accounting firms and business advisers. 

WithumSmith+Brown 
A Professional Corporation 
Certified Public Accountants and Consultants 

8403 Colesville Road, Suite 340 

Silver Spring, Maryland 20910-6331 USA 

301 585 7990  .  fax 301585 7975 

www.withum.com   

Additional Offices in New Jersey 
New York and Pennsylvania 

Independent Auditors’ Report 

To Inspector General and Board of Directors, 
Legal Services Corporation: 
         
We have audited the accompanying statements of financial position of Legal Services Corporation 
(“LSC”) as of September 30, 2012 and 2011, and the related statements of activities and change in net 
assets, and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the 
Organization’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements 
based on our audit. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards,
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of 
material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts 
and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles 
used and the significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial 
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of LSC as of September 30, 2012 and 2011, and the changes in its net assets and its 
cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America. 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated December 26, 
2012, on our consideration of LSC’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other 
matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial 
reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control 
over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards and should be considered in assessing the results of 
our audit. 

160



Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic financial statements as a 
whole. The accompanying Management’s Discussion and Analysis is presented for purposes of additional 
analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such information has not been 
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and, 
accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on it.  

Silver Spring, Maryland 
December 26, 2012 

161



Basic Financial Statements 

162



Legal Services Corporation 
Statements of Financial Position 
September 30, 2012 and 2011 

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements. 

4

2012 2011
Assets

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 73,577,157$      80,128,158$      
Accounts receivable, net 29,073               16,473               
Prepaid expenses and deposits 228,840             174,875             

Total current assets 73,835,070        80,319,506        

Property and equipment, net 637,802             754,240             

74,472,872$     81,073,746$      

Liabilities and Net Assets
Current Liabilities 

Grants and contracts payable 60,201,520$      64,187,855$      
Accounts payable 600,877             968,328             
Accrued vacation and other liabilities 1,098,335          1,225,290          
Deferred revenue 3,630,389          6,674,663          

Total current liabilities 65,531,121        73,056,136        

Net assets
Unrestricted

Undesignated 7,326,689          6,395,222          
Board designated 690,069             855,648             
Net investment in fixed assets 637,802             754,240             

Total unrestricted 8,654,560          8,005,110          

Temporarily restricted 287,191             12,500               

Total net assets 8,941,751          8,017,610          

74,472,872$     81,073,746$      

163



Legal Services Corporation 
Statement of Activities and Change in Net Assets 
Year Ended September 30, 2012 

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements. 

5

Unrestricted
Temporarily 
Restricted Total

Support and Revenues
Federal appropriations 348,000,000$    -$                       348,000,000$
Grant revenue 2,726,363          293,000 3,019,363
Other income 11,569               -                         11,569
Change in deferred revenue 3,044,274          -                         3,044,274
Net assets released from restriction 18,309               (18,309)              -                         

Total Revenue 353,800,515      274,691             354,075,206

Expenses
Program services 

Grants and contracts 332,178,276 -                         332,178,276
Herbert S. Garten Loan Repayment
    Assistance Program 575,462 -                         575,462

Supporting services
Management and grants oversight 16,025,687 -                         16,025,687
Office of Inspector General 4,371,640          -                         4,371,640

Total Expenses 353,151,065      -                         353,151,065

Change in net assets 649,450             274,691             924,141
Net assets, beginning of year 8,005,110          12,500               8,017,610

Net assets, end of year 8,654,560$       287,191$          8,941,751$

164



Legal Services Corporation 
Statement of Activities and Change in Net Assets 
Year Ended September 30, 2011 

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements. 

6

Unrestricted
Temporarily 
Restricted Total

Support and Revenues
Federal appropriations 404,190,000$    -$                       404,190,000$
Grant revenue 2,315,360          -                         2,315,360
Interest 1,561                 -                         1,561                 
Other income 12,019               12,500               24,519
Donated services 67,145               -                         67,145
Change in deferred revenue (718,856)            -                         (718,856)

Total Revenue 405,867,229      12,500               405,879,729

Expenses
Program services 

Grants and contracts 383,027,214      -                         383,027,214

Herbert S. Garden Loan Repayment
    Assistance Program 1,517,646          -                         1,517,646

Supporting services
Management and grants oversight 16,907,199        -                         16,907,199
Office of Inspector General 4,038,712          -                         4,038,712

Total Expenses 405,490,771      -                         405,490,771

Change in net assets 376,458             12,500               388,958
Net assets, beginning of year 7,628,652          -                         7,628,652

Net assets, end of year 8,005,110$       12,500$            8,017,610$

165



Legal Services Corporation 
Statements of Cash Flows 
Years Ended September 30, 2012 and 2011 

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements. 

7

2012 2011

Cash flows from operating activities
Change in net assets 924,141$           388,958$

Adjustments to reconcile changes in net assets 
to net cash provided by operating activities: 

Depreciation and amortization 315,820             225,917
Loss on disposal of assets -                         268                    

Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable (12,600)              303                    
Prepaid expenses and deposits (53,965)              205,669
Grants and contracts payable (3,986,334)         (5,243,455)
Accounts payable (367,451)            610,019
Accured vacation and other liabilities (126,955)            213,641
Deferred revenue (3,044,274)         718,856

Net cash used by operations (6,351,618)         (2,879,824)

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property and equipment (199,383)            (588,429)

Net cash used by investing activities (199,383)            (588,429)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (6,551,001)         (3,468,253)

Cash and cash equivalents
Beginning of year 80,128,158        83,596,411
End of year 73,577,157$     80,128,158$

Supplemental information
Income taxes paid $                  -0- $                  -0-
Interest paid $                  -0- $                  -0-

166



Legal Services Corporation 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
September 30, 2012 and 2011 

8

1. Organization and Purpose 

Legal Services Corporation (“LSC”) is a private non-membership District of Columbia nonprofit 
corporation, established by Congress in the Legal Services Corporation Act of 1974, Public Law 93-355, 
and amended in 1977 by Public Law 95-222.  The purpose of LSC is to provide financial support to 
independent organizations that directly provide legal assistance in non-criminal proceedings or matters to 
persons financially unable to afford such counsel. 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Basis of Accounting  
LSC’s financial statements are prepared on the accrual basis of accounting.  Accordingly, revenue is 
recognized when earned, and expenses are recorded when incurred in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

The federal appropriations include amounts received and expended in furtherance of LSC’s objectives. 

Basis of Presentation 
LSC follows accounting standards established by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) 
which is the source of generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) for not-for-profit entities.  The 
financial statement presentation follows the recommendations of the FASB Accounting Standards 
Codification (ASC) 958, Not-for-Profit Entities.  Under FASB ASC 958, LSC is required to report 
information regarding its financial position and activities according to three classes of net assets: 
unrestricted, temporarily restricted, and permanently restricted.   

LSC has recorded transactions in the following net asset categories: 

Unrestricted net assets – net assets that are not subject to donor imposed restrictions. 

Temporarily restricted net assets – Net assets subject to donor imposed restrictions that will be met by 
the passage of time or which will be fulfilled by the actions of LSC. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 
LSC’s cash and cash equivalents includes a fund balance with U.S. Treasury of $39,548,455 and 
$44,411,646 as of September 30, 2012 and 2011, respectively. 

Accounts Receivable 
Accounts receivable are net of an allowance of $593,848 and $1,113,777 as of September 30, 2012 and 
2011, respectively, determined based on historical experience and an analysis of specific amounts. 

Property and Equipment  
Capital assets are stated at cost and depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful 
lives of the assets of five to ten years.  Depreciation is reported as an unallocated expense and is not 
directly identified with individual functions. 

Revenues  
Federal appropriations are reported as support and revenue in the period the public law makes them 
available.  The appropriation remains available until expended.  Unexpended appropriated funds are 
shown as deferred revenue and adjustments are made to the account Change in Deferred Revenue to 
recognize the annual adjustment.  

Grants and Contracts to Recipients  
Liabilities, expenses and revenues related to grant and contract awards are recognized when the 
awarding document is fully executed.  Grant awards are made to recipients on a calendar year basis from 
appropriations received by LSC. 

167



Legal Services Corporation 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
September 30, 2012 and 2011 

9

Grant Recoveries  
Grantees who have not complied with the requirements of the Legal Services Corporation Act of 1974 
and implementing regulations may be subject to actions that result in a recovery of grant funds.  Sources 
of grant refunds may include recoveries of disallowed costs, excess fund balances, unexpended funds on 
Private Attorney Involvement programs and sanctions imposed by LSC for failure to comply with other 
regulatory requirements, as well as other types of recoveries. Grant recoveries are reported as a 
reduction of grant and contract expenses on the accompanying statements of activities.  

Net Assets
Net assets related to federal appropriations have been reported as either designated or undesignated.  
Designated net assets represent amounts that have been earmarked by the Board of Directors for 
continuing programs and administrative activities.  Undesignated net assets represent appropriated 
federal carryover and other operating excess, which are available for future use at the discretion of the 
Board of Directors.  Net assets invested in fixed assets represent investments in property, equipment and 
computer software, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization. 

The Board of Directors, through its fund allocation process, has designated $690,069 and $855,648 of the 
fund balance for continuing programs and administrative activities as of September 30, 2012 and 2011, 
respectively. Net assets are reported as restricted due to donor stipulations that limit the use of the 
donated asset.  

Estimates  
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported amounts and 
disclosures.  Accordingly, actual results may differ from those estimates. 

Income Taxes   
LSC is exempt from federal income tax under section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code and the 
applicable income tax regulations of the District of Columbia, except for unrelated business income.  No 
provision for income taxes was required for the year ended September 30, 2012 and 2011, as LSC had 
no net unrelated business income. 

LSC evaluates its uncertain tax positions using the provisions of FASB ASC 450, Accounting for 
Contingencies.  Accordingly, a loss contingency is recognized when it is probable that a liability has been 
incurred as of the date of the financial statements and the amount of the loss can be reasonably 
estimated.  The amount recognized is subject to estimates and management judgment with respect to the 
likely outcome of each uncertain tax position.  The amount that is ultimately sustained for an individual 
uncertain tax position or for all uncertain tax positions in the aggregate could differ from the amount 
recognized.  There were no liabilities for uncertain tax positions as of September 30, 2012 and 2011. 
There was also no tax-related to interest and penalties reported in the financial statements.  

LSC’s Forms 990, Return of Organization Exempt from Income Tax, for the years ending September 30, 
2009, 2010 and 2011 are subject to examination by the IRS, generally for 3 years after they were filed.  

Concentration of Revenue   
LSC receives substantially all of its revenue from direct federal government appropriations. Should there 
be a significant reduction in this revenue, LSC's programs and activities could be negatively affected.  

3. Concentration of Credit Risk – Deposits 

At September 30, 2012 and 2011, LSC funds are in non-interest bearing accounts.  LSC’s cash accounts 
are subject to Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) limits. Non-interesting bearing accounts are 
fully insured by the FDIC through December 31, 2012. As of January 1, 2013, FDIC insurance coverage 
will be limited to $250,000 per institution. Management is currently evaluating options for maintaining 
acceptable levels of risk.   

168



Legal Services Corporation 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
September 30, 2012 and 2011 

10 

4. Equipment 

Property and equipment consists of the following at September 30, 2012: 

Beginning 
Balance  Additions  Disposals 

Ending 
Balance 

Furniture and equipment $    2,309,951 $     100,216 $      (76,340)  $    2,333,827 
Software      467,022      99,166               -        566,188 
Leasehold improvements      455,647              -                 -        455,647 
Subtotal   3,232,620    199,382      (76,340)   3,355,662 
Less: Accumulated depreciation 
/amortization  (2,478,380)    (315,820)       76,340  (2,717,860)

Capital assets (net) $       754,240 $    (116,438) $               -    $       637,802 

Property and equipment consists of the following at September 30, 2011: 

Beginning 
Balance  Additions  Disposals 

Ending 
Balance 

Furniture and equipment
$    1,939,453 $     423,506 $      (53,008)  $    2,309,951 

Software      406,050      60,973               -        467,023 
Leasehold improvements      351,698    103,949               -        455,647 
Subtotal   2,697,201    588,428      (53,008)   3,232,621 
Less: Accumulated depreciation 
/amortization  (2,305,205)    (225,917)       52,741  (2,478,381)

Capital assets (net) $       391,996 $     362,511 $           (267)  $       754,240 

Depreciation/amortization expense for the years ended September 30, 2012 and 2011 was $315,820 and 
$225,917, respectively. 

5. Grant Revenue   

LSC was awarded grants from the U.S. Court of Veterans Appeals for the purpose of furnishing legal 
assistance to veterans. Grant revenues for the year ended September 30, 2012 and 2011, total 
$2,726,363 and $2,315,360, respectively.  

The Public Welfare Foundation (PWF) has awarded LSC two grants totaling $293,000:  a planning grant 
(grant # 12-014) and a resulting research grant (grant # 12-131).  An overview of both grants appears 
below. 

Planning Grant (grant # 12-014):  On November 18, 2011, PWF informed LSC of the award of a planning 
grant in the amount of $17,000.  The grant period initially was scheduled to run for two months, from 
December 1, 2011 through January 31, 2012.  The grant was designated to conduct preliminary planning 
in preparation for the design and implementation of a new outcomes measurement and reporting system 
for LSC and its grantees.  PWF made full payment of the planning grant funds to LSC on January 17, 
2012.  LSC currently has $11,191 in unexpended funds from the planning grant, and PWF granted a no-
cost extension to LSC until December 31, 2012. 

Research Grant (grant # 12-131):  On June 18, 2012, PWF informed LSC of the award of a grant in the 
amount of $276,000.  The grant period is scheduled to run for eighteen months, from July 1, 2012 through  

169



Legal Services Corporation 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
September 30, 2012 and 2011 

11 

December 31, 2013.  The grant is designated to support work by LSC in furtherance of two goals:  (1) to 
improve LSC's data collection system to strengthen its assessment efforts and secure information to 
advance its goal of equal access to justice for the poor; and (2) to provide data analysis tools to help 
LSC's grantees manage their operations and increase financial support for their work.  PWF made full 
payment of the grant funds to LSC on July 16, 2012. 

6. Grants and Contracts Expense 

Grants and contracts expense for the years ended September 30, 2012 and 2011 consists of the 
following:

2012 2011

Basic Field Programs 323,232,739$       377,892,573$       
U.S. Court of Veterans Appeals 2,721,170 2,311,575
Grant From Other Funds 253,346 111,409
Technology Initiatives 6,045,050             2,903,326             
Grant Recoveries (74,029) (191,669)

Total 332,178,276$      383,027,214$       

7. Management and Grants Oversight  

Management and grants oversight expenses for the years ended September 30, 2012 and 2011 consists 
of the following:

2012 2011

Compensation and benefits 11,461,883$         12,157,984$         
Temporary employee pay 434,164 507,879
Consulting 540,767 618,469
Travel and transportation 717,372 800,518
Communications 86,509 106,815
Occupancy cost 1,711,870 1,730,590
Printing and reproduction 61,182                  62,706                  
Other operating expenses 696,122                696,319                
Capital expenditures 63,459 515,182

Total 15,773,328           17,196,462           

Depreciation and amortization 315,819                225,917                
Loss on disposal of assets -                        268                       
Less: capitalized assets (63,460)                 (515,448)               

16,025,687$        16,907,199$         

170



Legal Services Corporation 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
September 30, 2012 and 2011 

12 

8. Office of Inspector General  

LSC’s Office of Inspector General expenses for the years ended September 30, 2012 and 2011 were as 
follows:  

2012 2011

Compensation and benefits 3,743,718$           3,579,686$           
Temporary employee pay 22,647 8,408
Consulting 312,569 167,188
Travel and transportation 206,430 199,678
Communications 17,792 17,331
Occupancy cost -                        1,482
Printing and reproduction 8,170                    8,271                    
Other operating expenses 60,313                  56,668                  
Capital expenditures 135,922 73,246

Total 4,507,561             4,111,958             

Less: capitalized assets (135,921)               (73,246)                 
4,371,640$          4,038,712$           

9. Retirement Plans   

Pursuant to the Legal Services Corporation Act, all officers and employees hired before October 1, 1988, 
are participants in the Civil Service Retirement System (“CSRS”), although they are neither officers nor 
employees of the federal government.  The CSRS plan is administered by the United States Office of 
Personnel Management (“OPM”).  LSC makes contributions at rates applicable to agencies of the federal 
government.  The contributions do not equal the full service cost of the pension expense, which is the 
actuarial present value of benefits attributed to services rendered by covered employees during the 
accounting period.  The measurement of service cost requires the use of actuarial cost methods to 
determine the percentage of the employees’ basic compensation sufficient to fund their projected pension 
benefit.  These percentages (cost factors) are provided by OPM. 

The excess of total pension expense over the amount contributed by LSC and by LSC employees 
represents the amount which must be financed directly by OPM.  Several employees participate in the 
federal Employees Health Benefits plan (“FEHB”), also administered by the OPM.  LSC pays the cost of 
current employees.   

Post-retirement benefits are paid for by the OPM.  No amounts have been recognized in the financial 
statements for these imputed costs as they are not deemed material.  LSC does not report in its financial 
statements CSRS or FEHB assets, accumulated plan benefits or unfunded liabilities, if any, applicable to 
its employees. 

Eligible employees may contribute up to 5% of their pretax earnings to the federal Thrift Savings Plan.  
Also, all officers and employees hired after September 30, 1988 are ineligible for the Civil Service 
Retirement System, but are eligible to participate in LSC’s pension and thrift plan, which is a tax deferred 
annuity plan subject to Section 403(b) of the Internal Revenue Code.  Individuals can make contributions 
up to the maximum permitted by law.  LSC matches the first 2.51% contributed by the employee. In 
addition, LSC contributes 6% of each eligible employee’s salary regardless of their participation to the 
maximum permitted under federal income tax rules. 

171



Legal Services Corporation 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
September 30, 2012 and 2011 

13 

LSC’s contributions to these plans for the years ended September 30, 2012 and 2011 were $999,611 and 
$994,311, respectively.  The amounts are included in compensation and benefits for management and 
administration expenses.   

10. Operating Lease 

On June 1, 2003, LSC commenced an operating lease agreement for office space which provides for a 
non-escalating annual base rent for a 10-year term. A new lease agreement was entered into September 
2012, commencing in June 2013, for an additional 10 years.  LSC has no obligation to pay a portion of 
building operating expenses.  LSC has the right to terminate the lease by giving no less than 120-day 
prior written notice in the event that LSC does not receive an appropriation from Congress for 
administrative costs sufficient to cover LSC and its rental obligations for any period during the term of the 
lease.  Future minimum lease payments required under this leases as of September 30, 2012 are as 
follows:  

Fiscal Year Amount

2013 $ 1,710,000
2014 1,710,000
2015 1,710,000
2016 1,710,000
2017 1,710,000

Thereafter 9,690,000
$ 18,240,000

Rental expense for the years ended September 30, 2012 and 2011 is $1,710,000.   

11. Contingencies 

Grants and Contracts  
LSC receives its funding from appropriations by Congress and grants from the U.S. Court of Veterans 
Appeals and, accordingly, may be subject to federal audits.  In addition, LSC provides significant funding 
to numerous independent organizations, which are subject to their own independent audits and audits by 
LSC.

LSC’s management does not expect any significant adjustments as a result of federal audits, should they 
occur, or from the audits of the grantees’ independent auditors. 

Claims 
LSC is defending what started as two separate cases but have been consolidated into one case involving 
challenges to LSC regulations.  Plaintiffs are seeking injunctive relief but no monetary damages, except 
for attorneys’ fees but LSC’s legal fees in these cases were being paid by its insurance carriers.  
Insurance is no longer available to cover legal fees in this consolidated matter and must be paid directly 
by LSC out of normal operating funds, without reimbursement by insurance carriers.  However, the matter 
has been dormant since 2009 and no renewed activity is anticipated.  No funds have been recorded in 
the financial statements for any contingent liability associated with future legal fees. 

In August of 2011, a civil lawsuit, Wojdak v LSC, U.S. Department of Labor, U.S. Department of the 
Treasury, was filed against LSC but never served. Although the lawsuit names LSC as a co-defendant, 
no specific claims were made against LSC. No funds have been recorded in the financial statements for 
any contingent liability associated with this matter. 

172



Legal Services Corporation 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
September 30, 2012 and 2011 

14 

Since June of 2011, several employees of LSC have filed wage discrimination complaints with the Equal 
Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC).  As they were only recently filed, all but one remain 
pending before the EEOC. Outside counsel for the Corporation has assessed the pending claims and 
advised that none is meritorious.  Given that, in the opinion of counsel, none of these matters poses a 
reasonable possibility of an unfavorable outcome, no funds have been recorded in the financial 
statements for any contingent liability associated with these matters. 

Reclassification of employees from exempt to non-exempt 
No one made a claim against LSC alleging misclassification or failure to pay overtime, but LSC 
reclassified certain individuals from exempt to nonexempt and retroactively paid wages for hours worked 
in excess of 37.5 hours per week.  Sufficient funds were available to make these payments without 
affecting current operations. Total amount paid during year ended September 30, 2012 and 2011 were $0 
and $9,448, respectively and the amount due at September 30, 2012 and 2011 is $25,782.   

Collection Matters 
In 2010, upon concluding that an LSC grantee had misused LSC funds and committed other financial 
irregularities, LSC disallowed approximately $716,261 of the grantee’s costs. On appeal, LSC agreed to 
reduce that amount to $467,619. In 2011, the grantee was completely defunded. The Corporation is now 
exploring its options on how to recover the previously disallowed amount of $467,619. No amounts have 
been recorded. 

12. Loan Repayment Assistance Program  

Through the Herbert S. Garten Loan Repayment Assistance Program (LRAP), established in 2005 and 
funded by Congressional appropriations, LSC makes a limited number of forgivable loans to attorneys 
employed by its grantee programs to help repay law school debt. Each participant receives up to $5,600 
per year for three years – for a maximum of $16,800 if they remain eligible and funding remains available.  

Participants must commit to remain with the LSC-funded legal services program for three years. As long 
as the participant remains in good standing, the loans are forgiven. Participants that do not successfully 
complete employment within the loan terms must repay the loans. No provision has been made in the 
accompanying financial statements to reflect any interest on the loans as management has deemed 
these amounts to be immaterial. 

Accounts receivable are stated at the amount management expects to collect from refunded loans. 
Management provides for probable forgiven amounts through an adjustment to a valuation allowance 
based on its assessment of the current status of individual accounts. Accounts receivable balances are 
written-off through a charge to the valuation allowance in the year the loans are forgiven. Deferred 
revenue is comprised of funding available for future loans and loan amounts outstanding. 

2012 2011

Cash 1,606,088$           1,176,638$
Accounts receivable, net 4,952$                  7,535$
Deferred revenue 1,611,040$           1,184,223$

LRAP activity for the years ended September 30, 2012 and 2011 are as follows:

Loans made 573,308$              1,518,607$
Loans forgiven 1,095,391$           866,953$
Allowance for loan forgiveness (519,929)$             650,693$

LRAP balances at September 30, 2012 and 2011 are as follows:

173



Legal Services Corporation 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
September 30, 2012 and 2011 

15 

13. Temporarily Restricted Net Asset 

In 2012, LSC received a donation totaling $293,000 from the Public Welfare Foundation for the 
development and implementation of improvements to LSC's system for data collection and analysis, 
develop data collection tool kit for grantees to use and provide training and technical assistance for its 
use. The balance of the donation at September 30, 2012 was $287,191. 

In 2011, LSC received donations totaling $12,500 which are restricted for the American Bar Foundation 
Access Across America research project. These funds were expended in 2012. 

14. Subsequent Events  

Legal Services Corporation has evaluated subsequent events occurring after the statements of financial 
position date through the date of December 28, 2012 the date the financial statements were available for 
release.  

Fiscal Year 2013 Funding

Congress passed a Continuing Resolution (CR) in September 2012 as a six-month stopgap spending 
measure for FY 2013. The CR prevents a government shutdown on October 1 and funds federal 
programs until March 27, 2013 (H.J Res 117), since Congress did not pass the appropriations bills for 
Fiscal Year 2013. The CR provides funding at the $1.047 trillion cap set for discretionary spending in the 
Budget Control Act of August 2011 (P.L. 112-250). This is $8 billion more than the current FY 2012 levels. 
The increased spending is divided across the board for nearly all federal agencies at .612 percent.  

LSC's total funding under the CR for FY 2013 is $350,129,760, an increase of $2,129,760 from FY 2012, 
on an annualized basis. This increase would be applied evenly across LSC's budget line items; basic 
funding would increase by $1,973,088 on an annualized basis.  

174



A member of HLB International. A world-wide organization of accounting firms and business advisers. 

WithumSmith+Brown 
A Professional Corporation 
Certified Public Accountants and Consultants 

8403 Colesville Road, Suite 340 

Silver Spring, Maryland 20910-6331 USA 

301 585 7990  .  fax 301585 7975 

www.withum.com   

Additional Offices in New Jersey 
New York and Pennsylvania 

Report On Internal Control over Financial Reporting and On Compliance and Other Matters 
Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance With 

Government Auditing Standards 

To the Inspector General and Board of Directors, 
Legal Services Corporation: 

We have audited the financial statements of the Legal Services Corporation as of and for the year 
ended September 30, 2012 and have issued our report thereon dated December 26, 2012.  We 
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. 

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

Management of Legal Services Corporation is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective 
internal control over financial reporting. In planning and performing our audit, we considered LSC’s 
internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing our auditing procedures for the 
purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of LSC’s internal control over financial reporting.  Accordingly, we do 
not express an opinion on the effectiveness of LSC’s internal control over financial reporting. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, 
or detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis.  A material weakness is a deficiency, or 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a 
material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and 
corrected, on a timely basis.   

Our consideration of internal control over financial reporting was for the limited purpose described in 
the first paragraph and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be 
deficiencies, significant deficiencies or material weaknesses.  We did not identify any deficiencies in 
internal control over financial reporting that we consider to be material weaknesses, as defined 
above.

175



Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether LSC’s financial statements are free of material 
misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, 
and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the 
determination of financial statement amounts.  However, providing an opinion on compliance with those 
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such opinion. The results 
of our tests disclosed no instance of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported 
under Government Auditing Standards.

We noted a certain matter that we reported to management of LSC in a separate letter dated December 26, 
2012. 

This report is intended solely for the information and use of management, the Inspector General, Board of 
Directors, others within the organization, and Congress and is not intended to be and should not be used 
by anyone other than these specified parties.   

Silver Spring, Maryland  
December 26, 2012 

176



Appendix

177



Legal Services Corporation 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
September 30, 2012 and 2011  

19 

Mission 

The Legal Services Corporation’s mission is to ensure the provision of high-quality civil legal assistance to 
low-income persons and to promote equal access to justice in our nation. 

Organization 

Congress enacted legislation establishing the Legal Services Corporation (LSC) as a private nonprofit 
organization in 1974.  LSC is governed by an 11-member Board of Directors appointed by the President of 
the United States and confirmed by the U.S. Senate. 

LSC is the single largest source of funding for civil legal assistance for low-income individuals and families in 
the United States.  LSC currently provides grants to 134 legal services programs, which operate as 
independent nonprofit organizations with their own boards of directors.  Substantially all of the Corporation’s 
funding comes from the Congress, and almost 94 percent of the annual congressional appropriation is 
distributed to these programs through a competitive grants process.  LSC provides oversight, guidance and 
training to ensure the programs provide high-quality legal services and comply with congressional restrictions, 
LSC rules and regulations, and grant conditions. 

The Corporation’s two largest offices provide oversight of LSC grantees: 

 The Office of Program Performance (OPP) administers the grant-making process, and provides 
oversight and guidance to ensure that LSC-funded programs provide high-quality legal services that 
are responsive to the needs of clients. 

 The Office of Compliance and Enforcement (OCE) reviews grantee compliance with the LSC Act, with 
congressional restrictions on the use of LSC funds, and with LSC regulations and instructions. 

LSC is currently implementing the recommendations of the Fiscal Oversight Task Force report issued in 2011 
that was adopted by LSC’s Board of Directors in January 2012.  The report is available at 
http://www.lsc.gov/media/press-releases/lsc-solicits-public-comment-report-fiscal-oversight-task-force.  

In furtherance of the Task Force’s recommendations, LSC has hired a Vice President for Grants Management 
to oversee the Corporation’s day-to-day programmatic operations, competitive grants process, and 
assessment and oversight of grantees, and to lead the consolidation of three of LSC’s offices (OPP, OCE and 
the Office of Information Management) as recommended by the Task Force Report. 

Other Corporation offices include the Office of Finance and Administration, Office of Legal Affairs, Office of 
Information Technology and the Office of Government Relations and Public Affairs. 

In addition to these offices, LSC has an independent Office of Inspector General (OIG), established by statute 
to conduct and supervise audits, investigations, and reviews to detect and prevent fraud and abuse, and to 
promote economy, efficiency, and effectiveness in LSC’s programs and operations.  The OIG provides LSC 
and the Congress with independent and objective assessments of programs and activities; reports on 
problems and deficiencies; the need for and progress of corrective actions and reviews and makes 
recommendations with respect to laws and regulations affecting LSC.  The OIG is also responsible for 
oversight of the annual audits of LSC and its grantees, performed by independent public accountants (IPAs), 
as well as for monitoring grantee compliance with LSC regulations via the IPA audit process and through its 
own reviews.  The OIG is a separate line item in LSC’s annual appropriation acts. 

Access to Justice and Delivery of Civil Legal Assistance 

Equal access to justice is a core principle of American democracy. LSC has become the bedrock on which 
our national system of access to civil justice for low-income Americans stands. The system is also supported 

178



Legal Services Corporation 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
September 30, 2012 and 2011  

20 

by state and local appropriations, Interest on Lawyers’ Trust Accounts (IOLTA) funds, court filing-fee 
surcharges, foundation support, and private contributions. 

LSC currently awards and oversees grants to 134 independent, nonprofit legal aid programs in every state, 
the District of Columbia, and U.S. territories. Persons eligible for LSC-funded services are generally at or 
below 125 percent of the federal poverty line; in 2012 that was an income of $28,813 for a family of four, and 
$13,963 for a single person.  

Nearly 61 million Americans are eligible for LSC-funded services, according to the most recent U.S. Census 
Bureau count for the year 2011. That is nearly one in five Americans, and an increase of 4.1 million people 
from 2009. 

In 2011, the year for which the most recent data are available, matters involving family law represented 34.4 
percent of cases closed by LSC-funded programs. The next largest category involved housing law, at 26 
percent of cases closed. Other major case categories were income maintenance (12.7 percent) and 
consumer issues (11.7 percent). LSC-funded programs closed a total of 899,817 cases in 2011. These cases 
involved households with about 2.3 million people. 

LSC programs are unable to meet the legal needs of all low-income Americans seeking civil legal assistance. 
Data collected from LSC-funded programs in 2005 and 2009 showed that for every client served by a 
program, one eligible person who actually sought help was turned away because of insufficient resources. 

Despite inadequate resources, LSC programs are resilient and innovative.  Between 2008 and 2010, the 
number of cases closed through the involvement of private attorneys increased by 15.5 percent.  Due to 
funding cuts from Congress for FY 2011, however, cases closed by private attorney involvement dropped by 
nearly 5,000 cases or 5 percent from the previous year.  LSC-funded programs continue to reach more 
citizens through websites, and increasing numbers of legal forms and other information are being downloaded 
every year.  In 2011, more than 1 million self-help forms and printed materials were downloaded. 

Overview of Financial Statements 

The annual financial report presents LSC’s financial position and results on operations in three parts:  1) 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (this section), 2) comparative financial statements, and 3) notes to 
the financial statements. 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis provides an overview of LSC’s financial position and results of 
operations for fiscal years 2012 and 2011 and an overview of the fiscal year 2012 operating budget 
experience. 

Financial Highlights 

On November 17, 2011, the Congress appropriated $348 million to LSC for Fiscal Year 2012, a reduction of 
approximately $56 million from FY 2011.  The funding reduction was taken from basic field grants, a cut of 
14.8 percent.  The FY 2012 cut was the second year in a row that LSC’s funding was reduced.   LSC’s 
appropriation rose to $420 million in FY 2010 and dropped to $404.2 million in FY 2011; the entire reduction 
was in basic field grants.  The last time LSC was funded at $348 million was in 2007. 

Congress passed a Continuing Resolution (CR) in September 2012 as a six-month stopgap spending 
measure for FY 2013.  The CR funds federal programs until March 27, 2013 (H.J. Res 117). LSC’s total 
funding under the CR for FY 2013 is $350,129,760, an increase of $2,129,760 from FY 2012, on an 
annualized basis. This increase would be applied evenly across LSC’s budget line items; basic field funding 
would increase by $1,973,088 on an annualized basis.  

179



Legal Services Corporation 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
September 30, 2012 and 2011  

21 

LSC’s funding and financial status are dependent on action by Congress, and, as the experience of the last 
three years demonstrates, can fluctuate materially.  Any funds not expended in one fiscal year are carried 
over into the following fiscal year.  

180



Le
ga

l S
er

vi
ce

s 
C

or
po

ra
tio

n 
M

an
ag

em
en

t’s
 D

is
cu

ss
io

n 
an

d 
A

na
ly

si
s 

Se
pt

em
be

r 3
0,

 2
01

2 
an

d 
20

11
 

 

22
 

Th
e 

fo
llo

w
in

g 
ta

bl
es

 s
ho

w
 th

e 
cr

iti
ca

l e
le

m
en

ts
 o

f t
he

 b
ud

ge
ts

 a
nd

 th
ei

r b
re

ak
do

w
ns

 fo
r f

is
ca

l y
ea

rs
 2

01
2 

an
d 

20
11

: 

(1
)

(2
)

(3
)

(4
)

(5
)

FY
 2

01
2 

Ap
pr

op
ria

tio
ns

FY
 2

01
2 

Fu
nd

in
g 

R
ed

uc
tio

n 
& 

R
ec

is
si

on
FY

 2
01

1 
C

ar
ry

ov
er

C
ou

rt 
of

 V
et

s 
Ap

pe
al

s 
& 

Ad
ju

st
m

en
ts

FY
 2

01
2 

C
on

so
lid

at
ed

 
O

pe
ra

tin
g 

Bu
dg

et
   

I. 
D

el
iv

er
y 

of
 le

ga
l a

ss
is

ta
nc

e 

   
   

 1
. B

as
ic

 F
ie

ld
 P

ro
gr

am
s

32
2,

40
0,

00
0

$ 
 

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

1,
66

6,
60

4
$ 

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

 
32

4,
06

6,
60

4
$

   
   

 2
. U

S 
C

ou
rt 

of
 V

et
er

an
s 

Ap
pe

al
s 

Fu
nd

s 
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
3,

80
7

   
   

   
   

2,
72

6,
36

3
2,

73
0,

17
0

   
   

 3
. G

ra
nt

s 
Fr

om
 O

th
er

 F
un

ds
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
72

5,
07

7
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

72
5,

07
7

   
   

 4
. T

ec
hn

ol
og

y 
In

iti
at

iv
es

3,
40

0,
00

0
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
3,

82
6,

48
7

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

7,
22

6,
48

7
   

   
D

el
iv

er
y 

of
 le

ga
l a

ss
is

ta
nc

e 
to

ta
l 

32
5,

80
0,

00
0

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

6,
22

1,
97

5
2,

72
6,

36
3

33
4,

74
8,

33
8

  I
I. 

M
an

ag
em

en
t &

 g
ra

nt
 o

ve
rs

ig
ht

17
,0

00
,0

00
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
4,

30
2,

95
6

29
3,

00
0

   
   

 
21

,5
95

,9
56

 II
I. 

H
er

be
rt 

S.
 G

ar
te

n 
lo

an
 re

pa
ym

en
t 

as
si

st
an

ce
 p

ro
gr

am
 

1,
00

0,
00

0
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
1,

18
1,

55
0

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

2,
18

1,
55

0

  I
V.

 In
sp

ec
to

r G
en

er
al

 
4,

20
0,

00
0

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

2,
23

1,
55

3
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
6,

43
1,

55
3

To
ta

l B
ud

ge
t 

34
8,

00
0,

00
0

$ 
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
13

,9
38

,0
34

$
3,

01
9,

36
3

$ 
36

4,
95

7,
39

7
$

Ta
bl

e 
1-

-F
or

 th
e 

ye
ar

 e
nd

ed
 S

ep
te

m
be

r 3
0,

 2
01

2

181



Le
ga

l S
er

vi
ce

s 
C

or
po

ra
tio

n 
M

an
ag

em
en

t’s
 D

is
cu

ss
io

n 
an

d 
A

na
ly

si
s 

Se
pt

em
be

r 3
0,

 2
01

2 
an

d 
20

11
 

 

23
 

(1
)

(2
)

(3
)

(4
)

(5
)

FY
 2

01
1 

Ap
pr

op
ria

tio
ns

FY
 2

01
1 

Fu
nd

in
g 

R
ed

uc
tio

n 
& 

R
ec

is
si

on
FY

 2
01

0 
C

ar
ry

ov
er

C
ou

rt 
of

 V
et

s 
Ap

pe
al

s 
& 

Ad
ju

st
m

en
ts

FY
 2

01
1 

C
on

so
lid

at
ed

 
O

pe
ra

tin
g 

Bu
dg

et
   

I. 
D

el
iv

er
y 

of
 le

ga
l a

ss
is

ta
nc

e 

   
   

 1
. B

as
ic

 F
ie

ld
 P

ro
gr

am
s

39
4,

40
0,

00
0

$ 
 

(1
5,

75
8,

80
0)

$ 
   

  
91

7,
97

6
$ 

   
  

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
 

37
9,

55
9,

17
6

$
   

   
 2

. U
S 

C
ou

rt 
of

 V
et

er
an

s 
Ap

pe
al

s 
Fu

nd
s 

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

22
2,

31
5,

36
0

2,
31

5,
38

2
   

   
 3

. G
ra

nt
s 

Fr
om

 O
th

er
 F

un
ds

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

64
4,

81
7

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

64
4,

81
7

   
   

 4
. T

ec
hn

ol
og

y 
In

iti
at

iv
es

3,
40

0,
00

0
(6

,8
00

)
   

   
   

   
   

  
3,

33
6,

61
3

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

6,
72

9,
81

3
   

   
D

el
iv

er
y 

of
 le

ga
l a

ss
is

ta
nc

e 
to

ta
l 

39
7,

80
0,

00
0

(1
5,

76
5,

60
0)

4,
89

9,
42

8
2,

31
5,

36
0

38
9,

24
9,

18
8

  I
I. 

M
an

ag
em

en
t &

 g
ra

nt
 o

ve
rs

ig
ht

17
,0

00
,0

00
(3

4,
00

0)
4,

43
9,

92
6

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

21
,4

05
,9

26

 II
I. 

H
er

be
rt 

S.
 G

ar
te

n 
lo

an
 re

pa
ym

en
t 

as
si

st
an

ce
 p

ro
gr

am
 

1,
00

0,
00

0
(2

,0
00

)
2,

16
4,

28
0

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

3,
16

2,
28

0

  I
V.

 In
sp

ec
to

r G
en

er
al

 
4,

20
0,

00
0

(8
,4

00
)

2,
15

1,
91

1
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
6,

34
3,

51
1

To
ta

l B
ud

ge
t 

42
0,

00
0,

00
0

$ 
(1

5,
81

0,
00

0)
$ 

   
 

13
,6

55
,5

45
$

2,
31

5,
36

0
$ 

42
0,

16
0,

90
5

$

Ta
bl

e 
1-

-F
or

 th
e 

ye
ar

 e
nd

ed
 S

ep
te

m
be

r 3
0,

 2
01

1

182



Legal Services Corporation 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
September 30, 2012 and 2011 

24 

Table 2
Statement of Financial Position

September 30
2012 2011

Total current assets and other assets 73,835,070$  80,319,506$
Net property and equipment 637,802         754,240        

Total Assets 74,472,872    81,073,746

Grants and contracts payable 60,201,520$  64,187,855$
Other liabilities 1,699,212      2,193,618
Deferred revenue 3,630,389      6,674,663

Total Liabilities 65,531,121    73,056,136

Net Assets
   Undesignated 7,326,689      6,395,222
   Designated 690,069         855,648        
   Net investment in fixed assets 637,802         754,240        
   Temporarily restricted 287,191         12,500          

Total Net Assets 8,941,751      8,017,610

Total Liabilities and Net Assets 74,472,872$  81,073,746$

183



Legal Services Corporation 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
September 30, 2012 and 2011 

25 

Table 3
Statement of Activities

Years ended September 30,
2012 2011

Revenue
Federal appropriations 348,000,000$          404,190,000$          
Grant revenue 3,019,363                2,315,360                

General revenues
Change in deferred revenue 3,044,274                (718,856)                 
Contributed Services -                              67,145                     
Interest & other income 11,569                     26,080                     

 Total revenue 354,075,206            405,879,729            

Expenses
Program activities 332,753,738            384,544,860            
Supporting activities 20,397,327              20,945,911              

Total expenses 353,151,065            405,490,771            

Change in net assets 924,141                   388,958                   
Net assets, beginning of year 8,017,610                7,628,652                

Net assets end of year 8,941,751$              8,017,610$              

184



Legal Services Corporation 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
September 30, 2012 and 2011 

26 

Fiscal Year 2012 and 2011 MGO Budgetary Analysis and Activity Description 

Table 4 presents the final budgets for Management and Grants Oversight (MGO) for Fiscal Years 2012 and 
2011. 

Table 4
Management and Grants Oversight

Operating Budgets for Years Ending September 2012 and 2011

Budget Category 2012 2011

Compensation and benefits 13,319,050$ 14,905,225$
Temporary employee pay 659,950        578,725
Consulting 1,346,100     1,127,200
Travel & transportation expenses 1,306,650     1,292,850
Communications 152,150        177,550
Occupancy cost 1,758,500     1,759,650
Printing and reproduction 91,100          101,150
Other operating expenses 2,573,756     803,576
Capital expenditures 388,700        660,000

Total 21,595,956$ 21,405,926$

OPP focuses on the quality of legal services provided by grantees, using LSC’s Performance Criteria as its 
primary guide. OPP’s assessment of local program delivery systems included reviews of grantee priorities, 
client intake systems, outreach activities, legal work management and supervision, pro bono and private 
attorney involvement, board governance, leadership, resource development, and strategic planning. 

During Fiscal Year 2012, OPP: 

 Conducted full program quality visits to 21 grantee programs and one capability assessment in 17 
states and territories to ensure the delivery of high-quality civil legal assistance. 

 Performed 14 shorter program evaluation or technical assistance visits to another 16 programs in 11 
states and territories to assess grantee activities, to follow-up on prior concerns, or provide technical 
assistance.  

 Evaluated 72 proposals for funding from 47 applicants for 71 service areas in 31states and territories, 
including one multiple-applicant area. 

 Awarded 35 new Technology Initiative Grants (TIG), totaling more than $2.5 million in 23 states and 
one territory.  TIG funded several technology projects to enhance data analysis. These projects 
leverage technology to make better use of data to improve the effectiveness and efficiency of 
services provided to clients. TIG funding is also supporting several projects that use technology to 
increase pro bono involvement.  

 Administered the Herbert S. Garten Loan Repayment Assistance Program (LRAP), which provides 
forgivable loans to attorneys to help LSC grantee programs recruit and retain highly qualified 
attorneys.  A total of 202 attorneys in 100 programs received loans in FY 2012.  Recipients ranged 
from new hires to attorneys with six years of service with a grantee.   

185



Legal Services Corporation 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
September 30, 2012 and 2011 

27 

 Provided guidance to LSC-funded programs in more than 16 states preparing for or responding to 
disasters, hosted three national disaster update and networking calls, and coordinated disaster relief 
funding to begin in 2012 for Legal Aid of Western Missouri to serve persons affected by the May 22, 
2011 tornado in Joplin, Missouri.  

During Fiscal Year 2012, OCE assessed the policies and procedures of grantees for compliance with legal 
requirements in such areas as client-income eligibility, nature of legal assistance provided, use of non-LSC 
funds, sub-grants, and various statutory prohibitions. 

During Fiscal Year 2012, OCE: 

 Conducted 17 Case Service Report/Case Management System (CSR/CMS) reviews, five  follow-up 
reviews, and one financial internal controls review. 

 Received 30 audit finding referrals from the Office of Inspector General for the audited financial 
statements for fiscal years ending between 6/30/11 and 12/31/11.  OCE also received and, as 
appropriate, acted on 40 audit findings referred from audited financial statements for fiscal years 
ending between 12/31/10 and 12/31/11.   

 Opened 68 complaints against grantees for violations of the LSC Act, regulations and guidelines, and 
closed 67 complaints. 

 Reviewed and approved 61 subgrants. 
 Reviewed 126 grantee/subgrantee-audited financial statements for fiscal years 2010 and 2011 to 

ensure compliance with the LSC Accounting Guide. 
 Reviewed and approved fund balances at grantees, acting on 17 fund-balance waiver requests. 
 Provided on-site CSR training for one grantee and continued to offer webinar based training for new 

Executive Directors. 

Note 7 under Notes to Financial Statements presents the final expenses for MGO for fiscal years 2012 and 
2011. 

186



Legal Services Corporation 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
September 30, 2012 and 2011 

28 

Fiscal Year 2012 OIG Budgetary Analysis and Activity Description 
(The OIG prepared this section and it is included without change.)  

In fulfilling the Inspector General duties at LSC, the OIG was guided by its own multi-year strategic plan and 
led by Inspector General Jeffrey E. Schanz.  The FY 2012 OIG budget funded reviews of external grant 
recipients, IPAs, and internal LSC management operations and activities. 

External grant recipient and IPA focused projects included:  

 Audits of selected internal controls or technology initiative grants at LSC grant recipients including 
Center for Arkansas Legal Services, North Mississippi Rural Legal Services, Texas RioGrande Legal 
Aid, Southeast Louisiana Legal Services, South Jersey Legal Services, Inland Counties Legal 
Services (CA), Legal Services of Southern Missouri and an additional four grantee audits in progress 
at the end of the fiscal year; 

 Desk reviews of 134 grantee audit reports with referral of all significant findings to LSC management 
for follow-up and resolution;  

 Quality Control Reviews (QCR) to provide greater assurance as to the quality of the IPAs’ audit work 
and identify or respond to potential concerns that may arise with a particular grantee or IPA.  The 
reviews are conducted by an independent certified public accounting firm, operating under contract to 
the OIG.  This fiscal year 39 QCRs were completed with a summary advisory memorandum sent to 
all IPA’s and grantees and another 11 QCRs were in progress;  

 Investigations of fraud or financial irregularities and subsequent prosecutions of significant theft of 
grant recipient funds, as well as, investigations of regulatory compliance.  After a thorough review, the 
OIG closed 26 investigations of criminal and compliance matters;  

 Proactive fraud awareness briefings designed to assist LSC and its grantees in preventing and 
detecting fraud; as well as advisories, webinars, fraud and regulatory vulnerability assessments.  The 
OIG closed eight fraud vulnerability assessments and six regulatory vulnerability assessments; and 
performed 28 fraud awareness briefings, two webinars (available to all LSC grantees) and issued two 
fraud and one information security advisories;  

 Operation of a nation-wide Hotline for the reporting of suspected fraud, waste or abuse in recipient 
programs or LSC;  

 Continued involvement in litigation seeking subpoena enforcement in support of an investigation of a 
LSC grantee’s possible violations of Congressional restrictions.  

Projects reviewing selected LSC management operations and activities included:  

 Oversight of the FY 2011 LSC corporate audit; 

 Comments on LSC’s proposed amendments to its regulations on enforcement mechanisms; 

 Recommended to LSC Board Committee the use of the normal rulemaking process for proposal to 
alter the application of LSC’s subgrant regulation; 

 Recommendations on LSC’s draft Strategic Plan for 2012 -2016; 

 Workplace Safety and Security review update. 

187



Legal Services Corporation 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
September 30, 2012 and 2011 

29 

In addition, the OIG participates as a member of the Council of the Inspectors General for Integrity and 
Efficiency, the official organization of Federal inspectors general, and on its various committees and working 
groups. 

Table 5 presents the final OIG budgets for Fiscal Years 2012 and 2011.   

Table 5
Office of Inspector General

Operating Budgets for Years Ending September 2012 and 2011

Budget Category 2012 2011

Compensation and benefits 3,954,400$      3,883,891$
Temporary employee pay 40,000             40,000
Consulting 619,850           893,000
Travel & transportation expenses 385,000           400,000
Communications 34,050             44,700
Occupancy cost 6,000               6,000
Printing and reproduction 10,100             10,000
Other operating expenses 1,182,153        965,820
Capital expenditures 200,000           100,100

Total 6,431,553$     6,343,511$

188



Legal Services Corporation 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
September 30, 2012 and 2011 

30 

Table 6
Office of Inspector General

Operating Budget versus Actual Expenditures
For the year ended September 30, 2012

Final
Budget Category Budget Expenditures Variance

Compensation and benefits 3,954,400$          3,743,718$          210,682$             
Temporary employee pay 40,000                 22,647                 17,353                 
Consulting 619,850               312,569               307,281               
Travel and transportation 385,000               206,430               178,570               
Communications 34,050                 17,792                 16,258                 
Occupancy cost 6,000                   -                           6,000                   
Printing and reproduction 10,100                 8,170                   1,930                   
Other operating expenses 1,182,153            60,313                 1,121,840            
Capital expenditures 200,000               135,922               64,078                 

                           TOTAL 6,431,553$          4,507,561$          1,923,992$          

Less: capitalized assets (135,921)              135,921               
4,371,640$         2,059,913$          

For the year ended September 30, 2011

Final
Budget Category Budget Expenditures Variance

Compensation and benefits 3,883,891$          3,579,686$          304,205$             
Temporary employee pay 40,000                 8,408                   31,592                 
Consulting 893,000               167,188               725,812               
Travel and transportation 400,000               199,678               200,322               
Communications 44,700                 17,331                 27,369                 
Occupancy cost 6,000                   1,482                   4,518                   
Printing and reproduction 10,000                 8,271                   1,729                   
Other operating expenses 965,820               56,668                 909,152               
Capital expenditures 100,100               73,246                 26,854                 

                           TOTAL 6,343,511$          4,111,958$          2,231,553$          

Less: capitalized assets (73,246)                73,246                 
4,038,712$         2,304,799$          

189



Legal Services Corporation 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
September 30, 2012 and 2011 

31 

Future Events  

In pursuit of the OIG’s statutory mission, goals and objectives, the OIG will update its Strategic Plan, perform 
audit, evaluation, and investigative fact-finding activities and will make recommendations concerning laws and 
regulations affecting LSC in accordance with the IG Act and the LSC appropriations law.  The OIG will 
continue to carry out its Congressionally-assigned responsibilities to oversee the IPAs’ grantee audits, 
conduct reviews of grantees’ internal controls, financial processes, and compliance with LSC laws and 
regulations, conduct audits and investigations, maintain a hotline, and evaluate the effectiveness and 
efficiency of LSC and its grant recipient operations.

Major Challenges 

The need for civil legal assistance to low-income Americans has never been greater. Low-income Americans 
face legal issues involving matters of subsistence, safety, and family stability, and the number of low-income 
persons in poverty has risen substantially in recent years.  Even before the 2008 recession, studies in several 
states found that about 80 percent of the legal needs of low-income families go unmet. Increasing numbers of 
unrepresented litigants are swamping state courts, especially those that deal with housing and family law 
matters. 

In many states, significant parts of the non-federal funding structure have been essentially flat or declining 
over the last four years. An important source of non-federal funding for LSC programs, Interest on Lawyers’ 
Trust Accounts, declined from $111,797,730 in 2008 to $60,840,247 in 2011. Total state and local grants and 
private grants also declined between 2010 and 2011.    

LSC grants and related support in 2011 represented 43.3 percent of the total revenue that LSC grantees 
received.  LSC appropriations increased from 2007 to 2010 and declined by 3.8 percent in 2011. On 
November 17, 2011, Congress voted to reduce LSC funding to $348 million in Fiscal Year 2012. The 
appropriation reduced basic field funds by 14.8 percent, compared to Fiscal Year 2011, and has led to staff 
layoffs and reduced services at LSC-funded programs. Going forward, LSC and its grantees will face 
significant challenges in meeting the demand for civil legal assistance at a time of federal budget reductions. 

At its October 2012 meeting, the Board approved a new Strategic Plan for LSC for 2012-2016.  The plan sets 
forth three main goals for the next five years:  to maximize the availability, quality, and effectiveness of the 
civil legal services that its grantees provide to eligible low-income individuals; to become a leading voice for 
civil legal services for poor Americans; and to achieve the highest standards of fiscal responsibility both for 
itself and its grantees.   

LSC continues to make progress in implementing the recommendations from the June 2010 report by the 
Government Accountability Office (GAO) regarding controls over grant awards and grantee program 
effectiveness.  To date, the GAO has closed or is in the process of closing 11 of the 17 recommendations.  
LSC has begun implementing the remaining open recommendations that were contingent on the Board’s 
completion of the new strategic plan.   

LSC faces an additional challenge, and an opportunity, in expanding access to justice by increasing pro bono 
and volunteer services at legal aid programs. The LSC Board’s Pro Bono Task Force released a report of 
findings and recommendations on October 2, 2012 at the U.S. Capitol.  The Task Force, co-chaired by Dean 
Martha Minow of the Harvard Law School and Harry J. F. Korrell III of Davis Wright Tremaine LLP, included 
more than 60 distinguished leaders and experts from the judiciary, major corporations, private practice, law 
schools, the federal government, and the legal aid community.   

190



Legal Services Corporation 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
September 30, 2012 and 2011 

32 

LSC also has begun negotiating its first collective bargaining agreement with its unionized employees.  
Employees in professional and administrative positions are represented by the International Federation of 
Technical and Professional Engineers. 

RECENT EVENTS 

The Budget Control Act of 2011 (BCA) is scheduled to go into effect January 2, 2013 unless Congress acts 
prior to that date to forestall automatic tax increases and spending reductions.  If the BCA spending 
reductions are implemented, they will result in an 8.2 percent cut in LSC’s appropriation as of January 2, 
2013.  

191



A member of HLB International. A world-wide organization of accounting firms and business advisers. 

WithumSmith+Brown 
A Professional Corporation 
Certified Public Accountants and Consultants 

8403 Colesville Road, Suite 340 

Silver Spring, Maryland 20910-6331 USA 

301 585 7990  .  fax 301585 7975 

www.withum.com   

Additional Offices in New Jersey 
New York and Pennsylvania 

To the Inspector General and Board of Directors 
Legal Services Corporation: 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements of Legal Services Corporation (“LSC”) for 
the year ended September 30, 2012, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America, we considered the LSC’s internal control over financial reporting (internal 
control) as a basis for designing our auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the 
financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of LSC’s 
internal control.  Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the LSC’s internal 
control.

However, during our audit, we became aware of a matter that is an opportunity for strengthening internal 
controls and operating efficiency.  We previously reported on LSC’s internal control in our letter dated 
December 26, 2012.  This letter does not affect our report dated December 26, 2012, on the financial 
statements of Legal Services Corporation. 

We will review the status of this comment during our next audit engagement.  We have already discussed 
this comment and suggestions with various LSC personnel, and we will be pleased to discuss them in 
further detail at your convenience, to perform any additional study of this matter, or to assist you in 
implementing the recommendation.  Our comments are summarized as follows: 

Voided Checks/Bank Reconciliations 

During our review of the September 30, 2012 bank statement and reconciliation, we noted weaknesses in 
the controls surrounding the bank reconciliation process and with the voiding of checks.  Specifically, we 
found the following: 

 LSC cut check #6013 on September 12, 2012 for $22,280, payable to a grantee; 
 On or before September 18, 2012, the Comptroller discovered an error in the amount of the 

check, so it was never mailed; 
 The check was not voided in the accounting system until October 2012; 
 Management had difficulty producing for the audit team the actual voided check, and required 

several days to locate it; 
 A new check was subsequently issued on October 11, 2012 (check number 6028); 
 The September 30, 2012 bank reconciliation, prepared and reviewed by the Comptroller’s Office 

on October 31, continued to include the original check1  as outstanding as of September 30 even 
after it had been voided and reissued in October; and 

 LSC financial staff was not aware of GAAP requirements regarding held checks (checks not 
mailed until a subsequent accounting period) should be added back to cash as of September 30. 

                                            
1 Incorrectly listed as number 6004, instead of  6013

192



Sound business practices require transactions, including voided transactions, be recorded in the 
accounting system on a timely basis, and reconciliation procedures be performed to ensure that 
transactions are recorded correctly. 

LSC’s bank reconciliation is a manual process and the check number was inadvertently recorded 
incorrectly on the reconciliation.  Additionally, LSC did not have timely procedures for voiding checks in 
the accounting system.  Once the error was discovered, the accounting manager sought assistance from 
a consultant on how to properly void the check in the accounting system.  However, the check was not 
voided until October 2012.  Additionally, LSC did not maintain its voided checks in a file that is readily 
accessible or review that file in conjunction with its bank reconciliations. 

As a result of this error, cash and accounts payable were misstated on the financial statements by 
$22,280. We noted that LSC had 22 voided checks in Fiscal Year 2011 totaling $73,824 and 48 voided 
checks in FY 2012 totaling $42,181 (excluding the check referenced in this letter).  Although this amount 
is not material, this same error could have occurred for a check in any amount. 

We recommend that LSC: 
 Prepare detailed written guidance on the steps needed to void a check in the accounting system; 
 Establish procedures to ensure that voided checks are recorded into the accounting system prior 

to the end of an accounting period; 
 Print a check register report to be used in conjunction with the bank register process to ensure 

that check numbers, dates, payees, and amounts are correct on the bank reconciliation; 
 Establish procedures to capture the date checks were mailed (such as a check log), especially at 

year end, to ensure that held checks (checks written but not yet mailed), can be properly 
accounted for; and  

 Explore the feasibility of using Sunsystems bank reconciliation module, or another third party 
bank reconciliation module that will work with Sunsystems, to streamline the bank reconciliation 
process and reduce the chance of error. 

Management Response 

During WS+B audit team’s field work, the auditors identified a check that was initially prepared in 
September 2012 and voided in October, with a replacement check issued later in October.  The initial 
check was never approved for release and never left the offices of LSC.  LSC’s Treasurer/Comptroller 
realized that the amount of the initial check was in error when he first reviewed it, and the check was held 
in the LSC safe.   

LSC will clarify the voided checks procedures, and conduct and document training for our staff on it.  LSC 
will implement all of WS+B’s other recommendations.   

We wish to thank the Comptroller and Inspector General and their departments for their support and 
assistance during our audit. 

This report is intended solely for the information and use of management, the Board of Directors, and 
others within the Organization and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than 
these specified parties. 

Silver Spring, Maryland 
December 26, 2012 

193



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Committee Evaluation 
  

194



2012 AUDIT COMMITTEE EVALUATIONS 

All 3 members gave positive evaluations.   

Members liked:   

 Focused agenda;  

 Members prepared; and  

 Leadership of the chair.   

Ideas for improvement include:   

 Finding that the discussion time is too limited;  

 Desire for opportunity to informally get to know other members; and 

 Greater focus on the OIG. 

Future:   

 Improved coordination with OIG;  

 Greater involvement in the financial report process & LSC’s internal control structure; 

 Implement new charter; and 

 Improve internal controls of grantees 

 

 

195



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

403(b) Plan Performance 

196



  
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

 
 
Legal Services Corporation 
America’s Partner For Equal Justice 

3333 K Street, NW 3rd  Floor
Washington, DC  20007-3522 
Phone 202.295.1500  Fax 202.337.6797 
www.lsc.gov 

 
 
OFFICE OF HUMAN RESOURCES 
 

M E M O R A N D U M 
 
 
TO:               The Audit Committee 
 
FROM:         Traci L. Higgins 
   
DATE:           January 7, 2013 
 
SUBJECT:    LSC 403(b) Thrift Plan – 4th Quarter 2012 Update 
__________________________________________________________________________ 

 
Report Content Update:  At the suggestion of Victor Maddox, we recently decided that in lieu 
of my making an oral report and submitting an extensive written report on 403 (b) Thrift Plan 
performance for each quarterly meeting of the committee, I will make an oral report and submit 
an extensive written report only when significant developments affecting the plan occur (e.g., 
atypical performance, fund management changes, unusual disbursement activity, etc.).  
Otherwise, I will provide a summary report, which I do below. 
 
403 (b) Plan Performance 
 
LSC’s funds have continued to perform solidly, with 24 of the 25 funds posting returns ranging 
from 6.23% to 19.05% through the close of November 2012.  (Returns through December 31st 
will be available the week of January 14th.)  Eighteen of the 25 LSC funds have YTD returns 
over 10%.  One fund, Prudential Jennison Natural Resources, has a negative YTD return  
(-10.58%).  It is one of two funds on our “watch list” for short term performance issues.  
Despite negative returns for 2012, Prudential Jennison still has good five- and ten-year returns -
- 48% and 8%, respectively.  The category of natural resources has been out of favor for several 
years, and these results are consistent with the sector.  The second fund on the watch list is 
Lord Abbett Value Opportunities, which is in the mid-cap blend category.  Its five-year ranking 
is within the top 14% of funds in its category, and its performance has improved steadily.  Both 
funds are still “approved” by Mesirow. 
 
403 (b) Plan Distributions 
 
Between October 1st and December 31st, $487,931 in plan distributions were made.  Former 
LSC employees accounted for $407,727.78 in standard roll-overs, pay-outs, and required 
minimum distributions.  The balance of the distributions consisted of employee loans ($36,775) 
and forfeitures ($43,428.22); the latter represent funds returned to LSC for lack of vesting.   
 
Please let me know if you have any questions or require additional information.   

197



 

 

 

 

  VIII.   Finance Committee 

  



FINANCE COMMITTEE 
 

January 26, 2013 
 

Agenda 
 
 

1. Approval of agenda 
 
2. Approval of minutes of the Committee’s meeting of October 1, 2012 

 
3. Presentation of LSC’s Financial Report for FY 2012 

 
4. Consider and act on Revised Temporary Operating Budget for FY 2013, 

Resolution 2013-0XX 
 

 Presentation by David Richardson, Treasurer & Comptroller 
 

5. Presentation of LSC’s Financial Report for the first two months of  
FY 2013 

 
 Presentation by David Richardson, Treasurer & Comptroller 

 
6. Report of the Selection of Accounts and Depositories for LSC Funds 
 

 Presentation by David Richardson, Treasurer & Comptroller 
 

7. Consider and Act on submission of LSC’s FY 2014 budget request 
 

 Presentation Carol Bergman, Director, Office of  
     Government Relations & Public Affairs 

 
8. Discussion of Committee’s evaluation for 2012 and the Committee’s 

goals for 2013 
 

9. Public comment  
 
10. Consider and act on other business 
 
11. Consider and act on adjournment of meeting 

198



 

 

 

 

 

Draft Minutes of the Finance  
Committee’s Open Session meeting 

        of September 30, 2012 

 

   

  

199



 
Minutes: September 30, 2012: Open Session Meeting of the Finance Committee 
Page 1 of 5 
 
 

Legal Services Corporation 

Meeting of the Finance Committee 

Open Session 

Sunday, September 30, 2012 

 

DRAFT MINUTES 

 

 Chairman Robert J. Grey, Jr. convened an open session meeting of the Legal Services 

Corporation’s (“LSC”) Finance Committee (“the Committee”) at 1:16 p.m. on Sunday, 

September 30, 2012. The meeting was held at the Hilton Durham Hotel, 3800 Hillsborough 

Road, Durham, North Carolina 27705.   

 

The following Committee members were present: 

Robert J. Grey, Jr., Chairman  
Sharon L. Browne (by telephone) 
Martha L. Minow  
Father Pius Pietrzyk  
Allan Tanenbaum (Non-Director Member) 
John G. Levi, ex officio  
 

Other Board members present: 

Charles N.W. Keckler  
Victor B. Maddox 
Julie A. Reiskin 

Also attending were: 

200



 
Minutes: September 30, 2012: Open Session Meeting of the Finance Committee 
Page 2 of 5 
 
 

 
James J. Sandman  President 
Rebecca Fertig                        Special Assistant to the President   
Victor M. Fortuno Vice President for Legal Affairs, General Counsel, and Corporate 

Secretary 
Mark Freedman Senior Assistant General Counsel, Office of Legal Affairs 
David L. Richardson  Comptroller and Treasurer 
Jeffrey E. Schanz  Inspector General 
Laurie Tarantowicz Assistant Inspector General and Legal Counsel, Office of the       

Inspector General 
David Maddox Assistant Inspector General for Management and Evaluation, 

Office of the Inspector General 
Ronald “Dutch” Merryman Assistant Inspector General for Audit, Office of Inspector General 
Carol Bergman Director, Office of Government Relations 
Carl Rauscher                         Director of Media Relations, Office of Government Relations and 

Public Affairs (GRPA) 
Marcos Navarro Design Director, (GRPA) 
Janet LaBella Director Office of Program Performance 
Bernie Brady LSC Travel Coordinator 
Herbert Garten Non-Director Member, Institutional Advancement Committee 
Frank Strickland Non-Director Member, Institutional Advancement Committee 
Chuck Greenfield National Legal Aid and Defender Association (NLADA) 
Don Saunders   National Legal Aid and Defender Association (NLADA) 
Terry Brooks American Bar Association’s Standing Committee on Legal Aid 

and Indigent Defendants (SCLAID) 
Ann Carmichael American Bar Association’s Standing Committee on Legal Aid 

and Indigent Defendants (SCLAID) 
 

The following summarizes actions taken by, and presentations made to, the Committee: 

 

Chairman Grey called the open session meeting to order and noted a quorum.   

  

MOTION 

 

 Dean Minow moved to approve the agenda.  Board Chairman Levi seconded the motion. 

 

201



 
Minutes: September 30, 2012: Open Session Meeting of the Finance Committee 
Page 3 of 5 
 
 

VOTE 

 

 The motion passed without objection.   

 

MOTION 

 

 Board Chairman Levi moved to approve the minutes for the Committee’s meetings of 

July 17, July 27, and August 20, 2012.  Dean Minow seconded the motion. 

 

VOTE 

 

 The motion passed without objection.   

 

 Chairman Grey asked Mr. Richardson to present LSC’s financial reports for the ten-

month period ending July 31, 2012.  Mr. Richardson and President Sandman answered 

Committee members’ questions.   

 

Next, Ms. Bergman gave a report on the status of the FY 2013 appropriations process and 

answered Committee members’ questions.   

 

Mr. Richardson then presented the Temporary Operating Budget for FY 2013 along with 

the accompanying resolution.  

 

202



 
Minutes: September 30, 2012: Open Session Meeting of the Finance Committee 
Page 4 of 5 
 
 

MOTION 

 

 Board Chairman Levi moved to recommend to the full Board the adoption of the 

resolution approving the Temporary Operating Budget for FY 2013.  Father Pius seconded the 

motion. 

 

VOTE 

 

 The motion passed without objection.   

  

President Sandman next provided a briefing on the lease for 3333 K Street, the 

Corporation’s headquarters.   

  

 Chairman Grey solicited public comments and received none.  There was no other 

business to consider. 

 

MOTION 

   

 Father Pius moved to adjourn the meeting.  Dean Minow seconded the motion. 

 

VOTE 

 

 The motion passed by voice vote.  

203



 
Minutes: September 30, 2012: Open Session Meeting of the Finance Committee 
Page 5 of 5 
 
 

 

 The open session meeting of the Committee adjourned at 2:02 p.m. 

 

 

 

 

 
 

204



 

 

 

 

 

 

Finance Report for Fiscal Year 2012 

  

205



FINANCIAL & ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES

MEMORANDUM

TO: Robert J. Grey, Jr., Finance Committee Chairman 

FROM: David L. Richardson, Treasurer/Comptroller   dlr

DATE: November 26, 2012

SUBJECT: September 2012 Financial Report 

The annual financial report for Fiscal Year 2012 is attached for your review.  
There are four attachments that comprise this report:

Attachment A provides summary information for each element of the 
Consolidated Operating Budget (COB) in two sections.   

Attachment B presents Management and Grants Oversight’s (MGO) 
budget and expenditures. 

Attachment C shows the MGO Other Operating Expenses by cost centers. 

Attachment D provides budget and expenditures for the Office of 
Inspector General (OIG).

The first section of Attachment A presents information for the Delivery of Legal 
Assistance, Roman numeral I, and the Herbert S. Garten Loan Repayment Assistance 
Program (LRAP), Roman numeral II.  The expenditures are compared to the annual 
budget and the report shows the variance for each budget line. The expenditures are 
also compared to the same period of the prior year. 

  I. There are four elements included in the Delivery of Legal 
Assistance:

1. The Basic Field Programs budget is $324,066,604 and the 
grant expenses are $323,232,739.  The remaining funds of 
$833,865 are earmarked to support grants in the Mississippi, 
Wyoming, and American Samoa service areas. 
   

Legal Services Corporation
America’s Partner For Equal Justice

206



Robert J. Grey, Jr.
September 2012 Financial Report 
Page 2 

2. The U.S. Court of Veterans Appeals Funds budget totals 
$2,730,170 and expenses total $2,721,171.  A grant was 
provided for $2,700,000 and administrative costs totaled 
$21,171.  The remaining balance of $8,999 will support next 
year’s budget. 

3. The Grants from Other Funds budget totals $725,077; 
emergency grants totaling $253,346 have been awarded.  The 
balance of $471,731 is available to support additional one-
time grants.  

4. The Technology Initiatives budget totals $7,226,487.  Net 
grant expenses are $6,045,050 for the year.  An additional 
thirty-five technology grants were completed in September, 
which totaled $2,515,580.  For the year, we provided 72 
grants, and 8 prior year grants were canceled and the 
recaptured funds were netted with this year’s grant expenses.  
The remaining funds of $1,181,437 will be used for this year’s 
technology grants and other technology initiative expenses. 

 II. The LRAP budget is $2,181,550 and expenses total $575,462.  The 
balance of $1,606,088 will be used for future loans.   

The second section of Attachment A presents expenditures for Management and 
Grants Oversight (MGO), Roman numeral III, and the Office of Inspector General 
(OIG), Roman numeral IV.

III. MGO’s annual budget totals $21,595,956.  The budget is comprised 
of the MGO operating budget of $19,445,600 and the Contingency 
Funds totaling $2,150,356.

The MGO operating budget of $19,445,600 is compared to 
expenditures of $15,773,329.  This is $3,672,271 or 18.88% under 
budget.  Encumbrances for the period are $66,139.  The 
expenditures are $1,208,955 less than the same period in 2011.   

When the MGO Contingency Funds budget of $2,150,356 is 
included, the percentage under budget is 26.96%.  

207



Robert J. Grey, Jr.
September 2012 Financial Report 
Page 3 

IV. The OIG’s annual budget totals $6,431,553.  The budget consists of 
the OIG operating budget of $5,330,755 and the Contingency 
Funds of $1,100,798 to support the office’s multi-year budget 
plans.

The OIG operating budget of $5,330,755 is compared to 
expenditures of $4,507,561.  This is $823,194 or 15.44% under 
budget.  Encumbrances for the period are $152,199.  The 
expenditures are $395,603 more than in 2011.

Including the OIG Contingency Funds budget allocation of 
$1,100,798, the percentage under budget is 29.91%.

Attachment B, page 1, presents comparative budgets and expenditures for MGO 
by cost center; all cost centers are under budget.  Attachment B, page 2, shows the 
budgets and expenditures by budget category for the MGO operating budget.  The 
variances show that we are under budget in each category.    

The largest variance under budget totaling $1,437,164 is from the Compensation 
and Benefits category.  The reason for this variance is because we continue to 
have a number of budgeted open positions. 

The open positions by cost center are as follows:

Executive Office – Chief Development Officer, and an 
Administrative Assistant;

Legal Affairs – Assistant General Counsel and an FOIA 
Administrator;

Information Technology – Chief Information Officer; 

Program Performance – Deputy Director, Program Counsel, and 
Program Analyst;  

Information Management – Research Assistant; and 

Compliance and Enforcement – Deputy Director and an 
Administrative Assistant. 

208



Robert J. Grey, Jr.
September 2012 Financial Report 
Page 4 

The second largest variance under budget is in the Consulting budget category in 
the amount of $805,335.   The cost centers that account for these variances 
include:

Board of Directors – for costs associated with strategic planning for 
the implementation phase of the Fiscal Oversight Task Force 
recommendations, and for developing an institutional development 
plan and guide to establish development operations; 

Executive Office – for a union negotiation facilitator and for the 
Public Welfare Foundation grant funds;  

Legal Affairs – for outside counsel costs;

Human Resources – for an auditor regarding LSC’s retirement 
program;  

Program Performance – for a consulting firm to review the internal 
controls of the grant competition process, per a Government 
Accountability Office recommendation; and

Compliance and Enforcement – for consulting services related to 
developing a fiscal risk assessment program and on-site fiscal review 
program consistent with best practices. 

The third largest variance under budget is in the Travel and Transportation 
category in the amount of $589,276.  There are four cost centers that make up 
the largest portion of this variance: 1) Board of Directors; Executive Office; 
Program Performance; and Compliance and Enforcement. 

Attachment B, page 3, shows the MGO Contingency Funds budget categories.  
Attachment B, page 4, provides a summary of the expenditures by office and by budget 
category.  When the MGO Operating Budget and Contingency Funds are combined, 
Other Operating Expenses has the largest variance under budget.

Attachment C, pages 1 and 2, presents a breakdown of the other operating 
expenses by account code and by cost center.   The Board of Directors requested this 
review because when other operating expenses of the MGO Operating Budget and the 
Contingency Funds are combined, they create the second largest budget category 
within MGO.  All of the cost centers are under budget.    

209



Robert J. Grey, Jr.
September 2012 Financial Report 
Page 5 

Attachment D, page 1, shows a comparative OIG budget and expenditures by 
budget category and all are under budget. 

The largest budget category variance in the OIG budget includes funds for: 

A. Consulting totaling $307,281; the OIG has $126,416 in encumbrances 
for the second round of Quality Control Reviews (QCR) of grantees’ 
audit reports performed by independent public accountants and for IT 
support services. 

B. Travel/Transportation are $178,570; the OIG has $14,783 in 
encumbrances for the second round of the QCRs of grantees’ audit 
reports.

C. Compensation and Benefits variance totals $210,682 because of open 
positions.

Attachment D, page 2, shows the OIG Contingency Funds.  The unused OIG 
Contingency Funds are earmarked for the multi-year budget plan. 

If you have any questions, please let me know.   

Attachments (A – B – C - D) 

cc Board of Directors 
 President 
 Corporate Secretary 
 Inspector General 

210



A
TT

A
C

H
M

EN
T 

A
 

LE
G

A
L 

SE
R

VI
C

ES
 C

O
R

PO
R

A
TI

O
N

C
O

N
SO

LI
D

A
TE

D
 O

PE
R

A
TI

N
G

 B
U

D
G

ET
 W

O
R

K
SH

EE
T

FO
R

 T
H

E 
TW

EL
FT

H
 M

O
N

TH
 O

F 
FI

SC
A

L 
YE

A
R

 2
01

2
PE

R
IO

D
 E

N
D

IN
G

 S
EP

TE
M

B
ER

 3
0,

 2
01

2

(1
)

(2
)

(3
)

(4
)

(5
)

(6
)

(7
)

   
 V

A
R

IA
N

C
E 

   
   

%
 O

F
VA

R
IA

N
C

E
   

 B
U

D
 V

S 
A

C
T

   
   

VA
R

IA
N

C
E 

A
C

TU
A

L 
VS

   
 A

N
N

U
A

L
   

 U
N

D
ER

 / 
   

   
U

N
D

ER
 / 

EN
C

U
M

-
   

   
PR

IO
R

 Y
-T

-D
   

   
PR

IO
R

 Y
-T

-D
   

 B
U

D
G

ET
   

A
C

TU
A

L
   

 (O
VE

R
)

   
   

(O
VE

R
)

B
R

A
N

C
ES

   
   

A
C

TU
A

L
IN

C
R

 / 
(D

EC
R

)
   

---
---

---
---

-
   

---
---

---
---

-
   

 --
---

---
---

--
---

---
---

---
-

---
---

---
---

-
---

---
---

---
-

---
---

---
---

-
   

I. 
 D

EL
IV

ER
Y 

O
F 

LE
G

A
L 

A
SS

IS
TA

N
C

E
   

---
---

---
---

---
---

---
---

---
---

---
---

---
---

---
---

---
---

   
1.

 B
as

ic
 F

ie
ld

 P
ro

gr
am

s
$3

24
,0

66
,6

04
32

3,
23

2,
73

9
   

   
   

   
$8

33
,8

65
0.

26
$0

$3
77

,8
92

,5
72

($
54

,6
59

,8
33

)
   

2.
 U

S 
C

ou
rt

 o
f V

et
s 

A
pp

ea
ls

 F
un

ds
  

2,
73

0,
17

0
2,

72
1,

17
1

8,
99

9
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
0.

33
0

2,
31

1,
57

5
40

9,
59

6
   

3.
 G

ra
nt

s 
Fr

om
 O

th
er

 F
un

ds
 

72
5,

07
7

25
3,

34
6

47
1,

73
1

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
65

.0
6

0
11

1,
40

9
14

1,
93

7
   

4.
 T

ec
hn

ol
og

y 
In

iti
at

iv
es

7,
22

6,
48

7
6,

04
5,

05
0

1,
18

1,
43

7
   

   
   

   
   

 
16

.3
5

0
2,

90
3,

32
6

3,
14

1,
72

4
 --

---
---

---
---

---
--

 --
---

---
---

---
---

--
 --

---
---

---
---

---
-

 --
---

---
---

--
 --

---
---

---
---

---
--

 --
---

---
---

---
---

-
   

TO
TA

L 
D

EL
IV

ER
Y 

O
F 

LE
G

A
L 

A
SS

IS
TA

N
C

E
$3

34
,7

48
,3

38
$3

32
,2

52
,3

06
$2

,4
96

,0
32

0.
75

$0
$3

83
,2

18
,8

82
($

50
,9

66
,5

76
)

 Il
. H

ER
B

ER
T 

S.
 G

A
R

TE
N

 L
O

A
N

   
  R

EP
A

YM
EN

T 
A

SS
IS

TA
N

C
E 

PR
O

G
R

A
M

$2
,1

81
,5

50
57

5,
46

2
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

1,
60

6,
08

8
   

   
   

   
   

 
73

.6
2

$0
$1

,5
17

,6
46

($
94

2,
18

4)
  -

---
---

---
---

---
---

---
---

---
---

---
---

---
---

---
---

---
---

--

VA
R

IA
N

C
E 

%
 O

F
VA

R
IA

N
C

E
B

U
D

 V
S 

A
C

T
VA

R
IA

N
C

E 
A

C
TU

A
L 

VS
A

N
N

U
A

L
U

N
D

ER
 / 

U
N

D
ER

 / 
EN

C
U

M
-

   
   

PR
IO

R
 Y

-T
-D

   
   

PR
IO

R
 Y

-T
-D

B
U

D
G

ET
A

C
TU

A
L

(O
VE

R
)

(O
VE

R
)

B
R

A
N

C
ES

   
   

A
C

TU
A

L
IN

C
R

 / 
(D

EC
R

)
---

---
---

---
-

---
---

---
---

-
---

---
---

---
-

---
---

---
---

-
---

---
---

---
-

---
---

---
---

-
---

---
---

---
-

 II
I. 

M
A

N
A

G
EM

EN
T 

&
 G

R
A

N
TS

 O
VE

R
SI

G
H

T
  -

---
---

---
---

---
---

---
---

---
---

---
---

---
---

---
---

---
---

---
--

   
1.

 M
 &

 G
 O

 O
pe

ra
tin

g 
B

ud
ge

t 
$1

9,
44

5,
60

0
$1

5,
77

3,
32

9
$3

,6
72

,2
71

18
.8

8
$6

6,
13

9
$1

6,
98

2,
28

4
($

1,
20

8,
95

5)
   

2.
 M

 &
 G

 O
 C

on
tin

ge
nc

y 
Fu

nd
s 

2,
15

0,
35

6
0

2,
15

0,
35

6
   

   
   

   
   

 
10

0.
00

0
21

3,
91

1
(2

13
,9

11
)

 --
---

---
---

---
---

--
 --

---
---

---
---

---
--

 --
---

---
---

---
---

-
 --

---
---

---
--

 --
---

---
---

---
---

--
 --

---
---

---
---

---
-

TO
TA

L 
M

A
N

A
G

EM
EN

T 
G

R
A

N
TS

 &
 O

VE
R

SI
G

H
T

$2
1,

59
5,

95
6

$1
5,

77
3,

32
9

$5
,8

22
,6

27
26

.9
6

$6
6,

13
9

$1
7,

19
6,

19
5

($
1,

42
2,

86
6)

 IV
. I

N
SP

EC
TO

R
 G

EN
ER

A
L

  -
---

---
---

---
---

---
---

---
---

---
---

--
   

1.
 I 

G
 O

pe
ra

tin
g 

B
ud

ge
t

$5
,3

30
,7

55
$4

,5
07

,5
61

$8
23

,1
94

15
.4

4
$1

52
,1

99
$4

,1
11

,9
58

$3
95

,6
03

   
2.

 I 
G

 C
on

tin
ge

nc
y 

Fu
nd

s
1,

10
0,

79
8

0
1,

10
0,

79
8

   
   

   
   

   
 

10
0.

00
0

0
0

 --
---

---
---

---
---

--
 --

---
---

---
---

---
--

 --
---

---
---

---
---

-
 --

---
---

---
--

 --
---

---
---

---
---

--
 --

---
---

---
---

---
-

TO
TA

L 
IN

SP
EC

TO
R

 G
EN

ER
A

L
$6

,4
31

,5
53

$4
,5

07
,5

61
$1

,9
23

,9
92

29
.9

1
$1

52
,1

99
$4

,1
11

,9
58

$3
95

,6
03

 --
---

---
---

---
---

--
 --

---
---

---
---

---
--

 --
---

---
---

---
---

-
 --

---
---

---
--

 --
---

---
---

---
---

--
 --

---
---

---
---

---
-

TO
TA

L 
$3

64
,9

57
,3

97
$3

53
,1

08
,6

58
$1

1,
84

8,
73

9
$2

18
,3

38
$4

06
,0

44
,6

81
($

52
,9

36
,0

23
)

 =
==

==
==

==
==

 
 =

==
==

==
==

==
 

 =
==

==
==

==
==

 
   

   
  =

==
==

==
 

 =
==

==
==

==
==

 
 =

==
==

==
==

= 

F 
  I

   
S 

  C
   

A
   

L 
   

  Y
   

E 
  A

   
R

   
   

2 
  0

   
1 

  2
C

  O
  M

  P
  A

  R
  A

  T
  I

  V
  E

11
/1

2/
20

12

211



A
TT

A
C

H
M

EN
T 

B
PA

G
E 

1 
O

F 
4

LE
G

A
L 

SE
R

VI
C

ES
 C

O
R

PO
R

A
TI

O
N

C
O

N
SO

LI
D

A
TE

D
 O

PE
R

A
TI

N
G

 B
U

D
G

ET
 W

O
R

K
SH

EE
T

FO
R

 T
H

E 
TW

EL
FT

H
 M

O
N

TH
 O

F 
FI

SC
A

L 
YE

A
R

 2
01

2
PE

R
IO

D
 E

N
D

IN
G

 S
EP

TE
M

B
ER

 3
0,

 2
01

2

(1
)

(2
)

(4
)

(5
)

(6
)

(7
)

(7
)

VA
R

IA
N

C
E 

%
 O

F
VA

R
IA

N
C

E
B

U
D

 V
S 

A
C

T
VA

R
IA

N
C

E 
A

C
TU

A
L 

VS
A

N
N

U
A

L
U

N
D

ER
 / 

U
N

D
ER

 / 
EN

C
U

M
-

   
   

PR
IO

R
 Y

-T
-D

   
   

PR
IO

R
 Y

-T
-D

B
U

D
G

ET
A

C
TU

A
L

(O
VE

R
)

(O
VE

R
)

B
R

A
N

C
ES

   
   

A
C

TU
A

L
IN

C
R

 / 
(D

EC
R

)
---

---
---

---
-

---
---

---
---

-
---

---
---

---
-

---
---

---
---

-
---

---
---

---
-

---
---

---
---

-
---

---
---

---
-

 II
I. 

M
A

N
A

G
EM

EN
T 

&
 G

R
A

N
TS

 O
VE

R
SI

G
H

T
 --

---
---

---
---

---
---

---
---

---
---

---
---

---
---

---
---

---
---

---
--

   
1.

 B
oa

rd
 o

f D
ire

ct
or

s 
$6

30
,5

00
$3

20
,8

63
$3

09
,6

37
49

.1
1

$2
3,

59
9

$5
14

,7
65

($
19

3,
90

2)
   

2.
 E

xe
cu

tiv
e 

O
ffi

ce
1,

29
8,

50
0

57
5,

45
3

72
3,

04
7

55
.6

8
0

43
8,

56
8

13
6,

88
5

   
3.

 L
eg

al
 A

ffa
irs

1,
43

7,
85

0
1,

13
4,

47
5

30
3,

37
5

21
.1

0
0

1,
19

7,
19

3
(6

2,
71

8)
   

4.
 G

ov
er

nm
en

t R
el

at
io

ns
/P

ub
lic

 A
ffa

irs
91

3,
20

0
82

2,
86

3
90

,3
37

9.
89

0
79

8,
65

2
24

,2
11

   
5.

 H
um

an
 R

es
ou

rc
es

79
8,

20
0

70
3,

19
4

95
,0

06
11

.9
0

9,
88

0
67

5,
92

4
27

,2
70

   
6.

 F
in

an
ci

al
 &

 A
dm

in
 S

er
vi

ce
s

3,
38

9,
20

0
3,

03
3,

10
8

35
6,

09
2

10
.5

1
0

3,
12

6,
66

6
(9

3,
55

8)
   

7.
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n 
Te

ch
no

lo
gy

1,
85

5,
95

0
1,

40
8,

42
0

44
7,

53
0

24
.1

1
9,

10
2

1,
86

1,
05

3
(4

52
,6

33
)

   
8.

 P
ro

gr
am

 P
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 
4,

19
8,

65
0

3,
73

1,
91

8
46

6,
73

2
11

.1
2

6,
23

3
4,

03
9,

56
4

(3
07

,6
46

)
   

9.
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n 
M

an
ag

em
en

t
67

5,
25

0
58

7,
42

0
87

,8
30

13
.0

1
0

62
5,

75
0

(3
8,

33
0)

  1
0.

 C
om

pl
ia

nc
e 

&
 E

nf
or

ce
m

en
t

4,
24

8,
30

0
3,

45
5,

61
5

79
2,

68
5

18
.6

6
17

,3
25

3,
70

4,
14

9
(2

48
,5

34
)

 --
---

---
---

---
--

 --
---

---
---

---
--

 --
---

---
---

---
--

 --
---

---
---

---
--

 --
---

---
---

---
--

 --
---

---
---

---
--

  M
A

N
A

G
EM

EN
T 

&
 G

R
A

N
TS

 O
VE

R
SI

G
H

T 
SU

B
TO

TA
L

$1
9,

44
5,

60
0

$1
5,

77
3,

32
9

$3
,6

72
,2

71
18

.8
8

$6
6,

13
9

$1
6,

98
2,

28
4

($
1,

20
8,

95
5)

  1
1.

 M
 G

 &
 O

 C
on

tin
ge

nc
y 

Fu
nd

s
2,

15
0,

35
6

0
2,

15
0,

35
6

10
0.

00
0

21
3,

91
1

(2
13

,9
11

)
 --

---
---

---
---

---
--

 --
---

---
---

---
---

--
 --

---
---

---
---

---
-

 --
---

---
---

--
 --

---
---

---
---

---
--

 --
---

---
---

---
---

-
  T

O
TA

L 
M

A
N

A
G

EM
EN

T 
&

 G
R

A
N

TS
 O

VE
R

SI
G

H
T

$2
1,

59
5,

95
6

$1
5,

77
3,

32
9

$5
,8

22
,6

27
26

.9
6

$6
6,

13
9

$1
7,

19
6,

19
5

($
1,

42
2,

86
6)

 =
==

==
==

==
==

 
 =

==
==

==
==

==
 

 =
==

==
==

==
==

 
   

   
  =

==
==

==
 

 =
==

==
==

==
==

 
 =

==
==

==
==

= 

*
12

/1
2T

H
S 

O
F 

TH
E 

12
 M

O
N

TH
 B

U
D

G
ET

F 
  I

   
S 

  C
   

A
   

L 
   

  Y
   

E 
  A

   
R

   
   

2 
  0

   
1 

  2
C

  O
  M

  P
  A

  R
  A

  T
  I

  V
  E

11
/1

2/
20

12

212



A
TT

A
C

H
M

EN
T 

B
PA

G
E 

2 
O

F 
4

LE
G

A
L 

SE
R

VI
C

ES
 C

O
R

PO
R

A
TI

O
N

FI
N

A
N

C
IA

L 
R

EP
O

R
T 

B
Y 

B
U

D
G

ET
 C

A
TE

G
O

R
Y

FO
R

 T
H

E 
TW

EL
FT

H
 M

O
N

TH
 O

F 
FY

 2
01

2 
- P

ER
IO

D
 E

N
D

IN
G

 S
EP

TE
M

B
ER

 3
0,

 2
01

2
M

A
N

A
G

EM
EN

T 
A

N
D

 G
R

A
N

TS
 O

VE
R

SI
G

H
T

(1
)

(2
)

(3
)

(4
)

(5
)

(6
)

(7
)

F 
 I 

 S
  C

  A
  L

   
 Y

  E
  A

  R
   

 2
  0

 1
  2

VA
R

IA
N

C
E 

%
 O

F 
VA

R
IA

N
C

E
B

U
D

 V
S 

A
C

T
VA

R
IA

N
C

E
A

C
TU

A
L 

VS
A

N
N

U
A

L
U

N
D

ER
/

U
N

D
ER

/
EN

C
U

M
-

PR
IO

R
 Y

-T
-D

PR
IO

R
 Y

-T
-D

B
U

D
G

ET
 C

A
TE

G
O

R
Y

B
U

D
G

ET
A

C
TU

A
L

(O
VE

R
)

(O
VE

R
)

B
R

A
N

C
ES

A
C

TU
A

L
IN

C
R

 / 
(D

EC
R

)

TO
TA

L 
C

O
M

P.
/B

EN
EF

IT
S

12
,8

99
,0

50
   

   
   

 
11

,4
61

,8
86

   
   

 
1,

43
7,

16
4

   
   

  
11

.1
4

-
   

   
   

   
   

  
11

,9
44

,0
73

   
   

   
(6

96
,0

98
)

TE
M

P.
 E

M
PL

O
YE

E 
PA

Y
65

9,
95

0
   

   
   

   
   

43
4,

16
4

   
   

   
   

22
5,

78
6

   
   

   
  

34
.2

1
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

50
7,

87
8

   
   

   
   

 
(7

3,
71

4)

C
O

N
SU

LT
IN

G
1,

34
6,

10
0

   
   

   
   

54
0,

76
5

   
   

   
   

80
5,

33
5

   
   

   
  

59
.8

3
57

,0
37

   
   

  
61

8,
47

0
   

   
   

   
 

(7
7,

70
5)

TR
A

VE
L/

TR
A

N
SP

O
R

TA
TI

O
N

 E
XP

S
1,

30
6,

65
0

   
   

   
   

71
7,

37
4

   
   

   
   

58
9,

27
6

   
   

   
  

45
.1

0
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

80
0,

51
7

   
   

   
   

 
(8

3,
14

3)

C
O

M
M

U
N

IC
A

TI
O

N
S

15
2,

15
0

   
   

   
   

   
86

,5
07

   
   

   
   

  
65

,6
43

   
   

   
   

 
43

.1
4

-
   

   
   

   
   

  
10

6,
81

4
   

   
   

   
 

(2
0,

30
7)

O
C

C
U

PA
N

C
Y 

C
O

ST
1,

75
8,

50
0

   
   

   
   

1,
71

1,
87

0
   

   
   

46
,6

30
   

   
   

   
 

2.
65

-
   

   
   

   
   

  
1,

73
0,

59
0

   
   

   
 

(1
8,

72
0)

PR
IN

TI
N

G
 &

 R
EP

R
O

D
U

C
TI

O
N

91
,1

00
   

   
   

   
   

 
61

,1
82

   
   

   
   

  
29

,9
18

   
   

   
   

 
32

.8
4

-
   

   
   

   
   

  
62

,7
06

   
   

   
   

   
(1

,5
24

)

O
TH

ER
 O

PE
R

A
TI

N
G

 E
XP

EN
SE

S
84

3,
40

0
   

   
   

   
   

69
6,

12
1

   
   

   
   

14
7,

27
9

   
   

   
  

17
.4

6
9,

10
2

   
   

   
 

69
6,

05
3

   
   

   
   

 
68

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

C
A

PI
TA

L 
EX

PE
N

D
IT

U
R

E S
38

8,
70

0
   

   
   

   
   

63
,4

60
   

   
   

   
  

32
5,

24
0

   
   

   
  

83
.6

7
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

51
5,

18
3

   
   

   
   

 
(4

51
,7

23
)

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
TO

TA
L

$1
9,

44
5,

60
0

$1
5,

77
3,

32
9

$3
,6

72
,2

71
18

.8
8

$6
6,

13
9

16
,9

82
,2

84
   

   
   

(1
,4

22
,8

66
)

rd
sb

co
.v

is
a.

xl
s 

B

C
  O

  M
  P

  A
  R

  A
  T

  I
  V

  E

213



A
TT

A
C

H
M

EN
T

B
PA

G
E 

3 
O

F 
4

LE
G

A
L 

SE
R

VI
C

ES
 C

O
R

PO
R

A
TI

O
N

FI
N

A
N

C
IA

L 
R

EP
O

R
T 

B
Y 

B
U

D
G

ET
 C

A
TE

G
O

R
Y

FO
R

 T
H

E 
TW

EL
FT

H
 M

O
N

TH
 O

F 
FY

 2
01

2 
- P

ER
IO

D
 E

N
D

IN
G

 S
EP

TE
M

B
ER

 3
0,

 2
01

2
M

A
N

A
G

EM
EN

T 
G

R
A

N
TS

 &
 O

VE
R

SI
G

H
T 

C
O

N
TI

N
G

EN
C

Y 
FU

N
D

S

(1
)

(2
)

(4
)

(5
)

(6
)

(7
)

(8
)

F 
 I 

 S
  C

  A
  L

   
 Y

  E
  A

  R
   

 2
  0

 1
2

VA
R

IA
N

C
E 

%
 O

F 
VA

R
IA

N
C

E
B

U
D

 V
S 

A
C

T
VA

R
IA

N
C

E
A

C
TU

A
L 

VS
A

N
N

U
A

L
U

N
D

ER
/

U
N

D
ER

/
EN

C
U

M
-

PR
IO

R
 Y

-T
-D

PR
IO

R
 Y

-T
-D

B
U

D
G

ET
 C

A
TE

G
O

R
Y

B
U

D
G

ET
A

C
TU

A
L

(O
VE

R
)

(O
VE

R
)

B
R

A
N

C
ES

A
C

TU
A

L
IN

C
R

 / 
(D

EC
R

)

TO
TA

L 
C

O
M

P.
/B

EN
EF

IT
S

$4
20

,0
00

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

42
0,

00
0

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
21

3,
91

1
   

   
   

   
 

(2
13

,9
11

)

TE
M

P.
 E

M
PL

O
YE

E 
PA

Y
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

C
O

N
SU

LT
IN

G
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

TR
A

VE
L/

TR
A

N
SP

O
R

TA
TI

O
N

 E
XP

S
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

C
O

M
M

U
N

IC
A

TI
O

N
S

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-

O
C

C
U

PA
N

C
Y 

C
O

ST
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

PR
IN

TI
N

G
 &

 R
EP

R
O

D
U

C
TI

O
N

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-

O
TH

ER
 O

PE
R

A
TI

N
G

 E
XP

EN
SE

S
1,

73
0,

35
6

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

1,
73

0,
35

6
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

C
A

PI
TA

L 
EX

PE
N

D
IT

U
R

E S
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
TO

TA
L

$2
,1

50
,3

56
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
2,

15
0,

35
6

   
   

   
 

$0
21

3,
91

1
   

   
   

   
 

(2
13

,9
11

)

rd
sb

co
.v

is
a.

xl
s 

B

C
  O

  M
  P

  A
  R

  A
  T

  I
  V

  E

214



A
TT

A
C

H
M

EN
T 

B
PA

G
E 

4 
O

F 
4

LE
G

A
L 

SE
R

VI
C

ES
 C

O
R

PO
R

A
TI

O
N

O
PE

R
A

TI
N

G
 E

XP
EN

SE
S 

FO
R

 F
IS

C
A

L 
YE

A
R

 2
01

2
FO

R
 T

H
E 

TW
EL

FT
H

 M
O

N
TH

 O
F 

FY
 2

01
2 

- P
ER

IO
D

 E
N

D
IN

G
 S

EP
TE

M
B

ER
 3

0,
 2

01
2

M
A

N
A

G
EM

EN
T 

A
N

D
 G

R
A

N
TS

 O
VE

R
SI

G
H

T

B
O

A
R

D
O

FF
IC

E
O

F 
EX

EC
U

TI
VE

LE
G

A
L 

G
O

V'
T 

R
EL

H
U

M
A

N
FI

N
A

N
C

IA
L 

&
B

U
D

G
ET

 C
A

TE
G

O
R

Y
D

IR
EC

TO
R

S
O

FF
IC

E
A

FF
A

IR
S

PU
B

LI
C

 A
FF

S
R

ES
O

U
R

C
ES

A
D

M
IN

 S
R

VC
S

C
O

M
PE

N
SA

TI
O

N
 &

 B
EN

EF
IT

S
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

55
2,

44
0

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
90

2,
74

5
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
77

2,
42

1
   

   
   

   
   

  
62

4,
87

6
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

92
7,

12
0

TE
M

PO
R

A
R

Y 
EM

PL
O

YE
E 

PA
Y

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
12

,4
18

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
14

,3
90

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

C
O

N
SU

LT
IN

G
14

0,
07

3
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
17

8,
50

1
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
3,

20
8

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
27

,2
26

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

TR
A

VE
L/

TR
A

N
SP

O
R

TA
TI

O
N

 E
XP

S
13

1,
89

1
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
19

,2
42

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
10

,2
47

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

13
,9

05
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

2,
23

7
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
8,

74
8

C
O

M
M

U
N

IC
A

TI
O

N
S

3,
19

9
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

3,
51

6
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
3,

66
2

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
2,

98
7

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
1,

92
7

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

11
,9

06

O
C

C
U

PA
N

C
Y 

C
O

S T
77

0
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
1,

71
0,

00
0

PR
IN

TI
N

G
 &

 R
EP

R
O

D
U

C
TI

O
N

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

3,
50

6
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

57
,6

33

O
TH

ER
 O

PE
R

A
TI

N
G

 E
XP

EN
SE

S
44

,9
30

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
25

5
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

26
,9

02
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
26

,8
36

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
32

,5
38

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
30

9,
63

8

C
A

PI
TA

L 
EX

PE
N

D
IT

U
R

E S
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

8,
06

3

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
TO

TA
L

$3
20

,8
63

$5
75

,4
53

$1
,1

34
,4

75
$8

22
,8

63
$7

03
,1

94
$3

,0
33

,1
08

TO
TA

L
IN

FO
R

M
A

TI
O

N
PR

O
G

R
A

M
IN

FO
R

M
A

TI
O

N
 

C
O

M
PL

IA
N

C
E 

&
M

G
T 

&
 G

R
A

N
TS

B
U

D
G

ET
 C

A
TE

G
O

R
Y

TE
C

H
N

O
LO

G
Y

PE
R

FO
R

M
A

N
C

E
M

A
N

A
G

EM
EN

T
EN

FO
R

C
EM

EN
T

C
O

N
TI

N
G

EN
C

Y
O

VE
R

SI
G

H
T

C
O

M
PE

N
SA

TI
O

N
 &

 B
EN

EF
IT

S
98

9,
06

6
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
3,

12
0,

94
6

   
   

   
   

   
 

56
2,

80
6

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

3,
00

9,
46

6
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

11
,4

61
,8

86

TE
M

PO
R

A
R

Y 
EM

PL
O

YE
E 

PA
Y

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
23

6,
57

1
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
17

0,
78

5
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
43

4,
16

4

C
O

N
SU

LT
IN

G
97

,8
84

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
51

,1
98

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

42
,6

75
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

54
0,

76
5

TR
A

VE
L/

TR
A

N
SP

O
R

TA
TI

O
N

 E
XP

S
24

,2
89

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
28

4,
31

1
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

19
9

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

22
2,

30
5

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

71
7,

37
4

C
O

M
M

U
N

IC
A

TI
O

N
S

33
,0

42
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

16
,0

98
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

23
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

10
,1

47
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

86
,5

07

O
C

C
U

PA
N

C
Y 

C
O

S T
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

1,
10

0
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
1,

71
1,

87
0

PR
IN

TI
N

G
 &

 R
EP

R
O

D
U

C
TI

O
N

43
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

61
,1

82

O
TH

ER
 O

PE
R

A
TI

N
G

 E
XP

EN
SE

S
20

8,
69

9
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
21

,6
94

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
24

,3
92

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

23
7

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

69
6,

12
1

C
A

PI
TA

L 
EX

PE
N

D
IT

U
R

E S
55

,3
97

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
63

,4
60

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
TO

TA
L

$1
,4

08
,4

20
$3

,7
31

,9
18

$5
87

,4
20

$3
,4

55
,6

15
$0

$1
5,

77
3,

32
9

215



A
tt
ac
h
m
en
t
C

P
ag
e
1
o
f
2

O
TH

ER
 O

PE
R

AT
IN

G
 E

XP
EN

SE
S 

FO
R

 T
H

E 
M

O
N

TH
 O

F 
AU

G
U

ST
 2

01
2

AN
N

U
AL

 B
U

D
G

ET
AC

TU
AL

VA
R

IA
N

C
E

$8
43

,4
00

.0
0

69
6,

12
1.

00
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

14
7,

27
9.

00

AC
C

O
U

N
T 

C
O

D
ES

D
ES

C
R

IP
TI

O
N

C
O

ST
 C

EN
TE

R
S

YT
D

 E
XP

EN
SE

B
O

A
R

D
 O

F 
D

IR
E

C
TO

R
S

19
,7

98
.0

1
G

O
V

E
R

N
M

E
N

T 
R

E
LA

TI
O

N
S

/P
U

B
LI

C
 A

FF
A

IR
S

1,
19

5.
68

FI
N

A
N

C
IA

L 
&

 A
D

M
IN

 S
E

R
V

IC
E

S
22

,8
26

.1
7

IN
FO

R
M

A
TI

O
N

 T
E

C
H

N
O

LO
G

Y
12

6,
02

8.
05

IN
FO

R
M

A
TI

O
N

 M
A

N
A

G
E

M
E

N
T

39
5.

00
P

R
O

G
R

A
M

 P
E

R
FO

R
M

A
N

C
E

49
1.

20
56

00
   

   
   

 E
Q

U
IP

M
EN

T 
R

EN
TA

L
TO

TA
L

17
0,

73
4.

11

LE
G

A
L 

A
FF

A
IR

S
69

.6
9

G
O

V
E

R
N

M
E

N
T 

R
E

LA
TI

O
N

S
/P

U
B

LI
C

 A
FF

A
IR

S
1,

25
6.

99
FI

N
A

N
C

IA
L 

&
 A

D
M

IN
 S

E
R

V
IC

E
S

55
,6

12
.4

1
IN

FO
R

M
A

TI
O

N
 T

E
C

H
N

O
LO

G
Y

9,
77

4.
63

P
R

O
G

R
A

M
 P

E
R

FO
R

M
A

N
C

E
1,

14
0.

00
IN

FO
R

M
A

TI
O

N
 M

A
N

A
G

E
M

E
N

T
1,

23
1.

12
56

10
   

   
   

 O
FF

IC
E 

SU
PP

LI
ES

TO
TA

L
69

,0
84

.8
4

G
O

V
E

R
N

M
E

N
T 

R
E

LA
TI

O
N

S
/P

U
B

LI
C

 A
FF

A
IR

S
44

0.
33

H
U

M
A

N
 R

E
S

O
U

R
C

E
S

38
8.

66
FI

N
A

N
C

IA
L 

&
 A

D
M

IN
 S

E
R

V
IC

E
S

5,
26

2.
32

IN
FO

R
M

A
TI

O
N

 T
E

C
H

N
O

LO
G

Y
16

,7
14

.7
3

56
11

   
   

   
 O

FF
IC

E 
EQ

U
IP

M
EN

T
TO

TA
L

22
,8

06
.0

4

FI
N

A
N

C
IA

L 
&

 A
D

M
IN

 S
E

R
V

IC
E

S
15

8,
51

7.
17

56
20

   
   

   
 C

O
M

M
ER

IC
AL

 IN
SU

R
AN

C
E

TO
TA

L
15

8,
51

7.
17

LE
G

A
L 

A
FF

A
IR

S
20

,8
04

.3
2

G
O

V
E

R
N

M
E

N
T 

R
E

LA
TI

O
N

S
/P

U
B

LI
C

 A
FF

A
IR

S
62

.9
5

H
U

M
A

N
 R

E
S

O
U

R
C

E
S

9,
44

0.
00

FI
N

A
N

C
IA

L 
&

 A
D

M
IN

 S
E

R
V

IC
E

S
24

,0
48

.5
0

IN
FO

R
M

A
TI

O
N

 T
E

C
H

N
O

LO
G

Y
55

,1
67

.0
6

IN
FO

R
M

A
TI

O
N

 M
A

N
A

G
E

M
E

N
T

1,
09

9.
86

56
40

   
   

   
 D

AT
A 

PR
O

C
ES

SI
N

G
TO

TA
L

11
0,

62
2.

69

216



A
tt
ac
h
m
en
t
C

P
ag
e
2
o
f
2

O
TH

ER
 O

PE
R

AT
IN

G
 E

XP
EN

SE
S 

FO
R

 T
H

E 
M

O
N

TH
 O

F 
AU

G
U

ST
 2

01
2

AN
N

U
AL

 B
U

D
G

ET
AC

TU
AL

VA
R

IA
N

C
E

$8
43

,4
00

.0
0

69
6,

12
1.

00
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

14
7,

27
9.

00

AC
C

O
U

N
T 

C
O

D
ES

D
ES

C
R

IP
TI

O
N

C
O

ST
 C

EN
TE

R
S

YT
D

 E
XP

EN
SE

B
O

A
R

D
 O

F 
D

IR
E

C
TO

R
S

24
,4

48
.0

0
O

FF
IC

E
 O

F 
LE

G
A

L 
A

FF
A

IR
S

3,
81

6.
00

G
O

V
E

R
N

M
E

N
T 

R
E

LA
TI

O
N

S
/P

U
B

LI
C

 A
FF

A
IR

S
6,

22
2.

21
H

U
M

A
N

 R
E

S
O

U
R

C
E

S
12

,7
99

.5
0

P
R

O
G

R
A

M
 P

E
R

FO
R

M
A

N
C

E
17

,6
01

.2
9

56
50

   
   

   
 A

D
VE

R
TI

SI
N

G
 &

 C
LI

PP
IN

G
 S

ER
VI

C
ES

TO
TA

L
64

,8
87

.0
0

E
XE

C
U

TI
V

E
 O

FF
IC

E
25

5.
00

LE
G

A
L 

A
FF

A
IR

S
76

5.
00

56
60

   
   

   
 D

U
ES

 &
 M

EM
B

ER
SH

IP
S

TO
TA

L
1,

02
0.

00

LE
G

A
L 

A
FF

A
IR

S
77

6.
96

G
O

V
E

R
N

M
E

N
T 

R
E

LA
TI

O
N

S
/P

U
B

LI
C

 A
FF

A
IR

S
16

,3
24

.9
5

H
U

M
A

N
 R

E
S

O
U

R
C

E
S

3,
45

0.
32

FI
N

A
N

C
IA

L 
&

 A
D

M
IN

 S
E

R
V

IC
E

S
75

6.
15

IN
FO

R
M

A
TI

O
N

 T
E

C
H

N
O

LO
G

Y
40

5.
00

P
R

O
G

R
A

M
 P

E
R

FO
R

M
A

N
C

E
1,

37
3.

83
IN

FO
R

M
A

TI
O

N
 M

A
N

A
G

E
M

E
N

T
14

,2
36

.9
8

C
O

M
P

LI
A

N
C

E
 &

 E
N

FO
R

C
E

M
E

N
T

22
7.

00
56

70
   

   
   

 S
U

B
SC

R
IP

TI
O

N
S

TO
TA

L
37

,5
51

.1
9

H
U

M
A

N
 R

E
S

O
U

R
C

E
S

3,
52

4.
17

FI
N

A
N

C
IA

L 
&

 A
D

M
IN

 S
E

R
V

IC
E

S
30

,9
26

.4
8

56
80

   
   

   
 E

M
PL

O
YE

E 
LE

C
TU

R
ES

/O
TH

ER
 A

C
TI

VI
TI

ES
TO

TA
L

34
,4

50
.6

5

B
O

A
R

D
 O

F 
D

IR
E

C
TO

R
S

68
4.

14
LE

G
A

L 
A

FF
A

IR
S

67
0.

30
G

O
V

E
R

N
M

E
N

T 
R

E
LA

TI
O

N
S

/P
U

B
LI

C
 A

FF
A

IR
S

1,
33

3.
28

H
U

M
A

N
 R

E
S

O
U

R
C

E
S

2,
93

5.
64

FI
N

A
N

C
IA

L 
&

 A
D

M
IN

 S
E

R
V

IC
E

S
11

,6
88

.8
0

IN
FO

R
M

A
TI

O
N

 T
E

C
H

N
O

LO
G

Y
61

0.
00

P
R

O
G

R
A

M
 P

E
R

FO
R

M
A

N
C

E
1,

08
7.

47
IN

FO
R

M
A

TI
O

N
 M

A
N

A
G

E
M

E
N

T
7,

42
9.

10
C

O
M

P
LI

A
N

C
E

 &
 E

N
FO

R
C

E
M

E
N

T
10

.0
0

56
90

   
   

   
 O

FF
IC

E 
EX

PE
N

SE
S

TO
TA

L
26

,4
48

.7
3

   
   

   
   

 T
O

TA
L 

 O
TH

ER
 O

PE
R

AT
IN

G
 E

XP
EN

SE
S

$6
96

,1
22

.4
2

217



A
TT

A
C

H
M

EN
T

D
PA

G
E 

1 
O

F 
2

LE
G

A
L 

SE
R

VI
C

ES
 C

O
R

PO
R

A
TI

O
N

FI
N

A
N

C
IA

L 
R

EP
O

R
T 

B
Y 

B
U

D
G

ET
 C

A
TE

G
O

R
Y

FO
R

 T
H

E 
TW

EL
FT

H
 M

O
N

TH
 O

F 
FY

 2
01

2 
- P

ER
IO

D
 E

N
D

IN
G

 S
EP

TE
M

B
ER

 3
0,

 2
01

2
IN

SP
EC

TO
R

 G
EN

ER
A

L

(1
)

(2
)

(3
)

(4
)

(5
)

(6
)

(7
)

F 
 I 

 S
  C

  A
  L

   
 Y

  E
  A

  R
   

 2
  0

 1
2

VA
R

IA
N

C
E 

%
 O

F 
VA

R
IA

N
C

E
B

U
D

 V
S 

A
C

T
VA

R
IA

N
C

E
A

C
TU

A
L 

VS
A

N
N

U
A

L
U

N
D

ER
/

U
N

D
ER

/
EN

C
U

M
-

PR
IO

R
 Y

-T
-D

PR
IO

R
 Y

-T
-D

B
U

D
G

ET
 C

A
TE

G
O

R
Y

B
U

D
G

ET
A

C
TU

A
L

(O
VE

R
)

(O
VE

R
)

B
R

A
N

C
ES

A
C

TU
A

L
IN

C
R

 / 
(D

EC
R

)

TO
TA

L 
C

O
M

P.
/B

EN
EF

IT
S

$3
,9

54
,4

00
3,

74
3,

71
8

   
   

   
 

21
0,

68
2

   
   

   
   

 
5.

33
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
3,

57
9,

68
7

   
   

   
 

16
4,

03
1

TE
M

P.
 E

M
PL

O
YE

E 
PA

Y
40

,0
00

   
   

   
   

   
  

22
,6

47
   

   
   

   
   

17
,3

53
   

   
   

   
   

43
.3

8
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
8,

40
8

   
   

   
   

   
  

14
,2

39

C
O

N
SU

LT
IN

G
61

9,
85

0
   

   
   

   
   

31
2,

56
9

   
   

   
   

 
30

7,
28

1
   

   
   

   
 

49
.5

7
12

6,
41

6
   

   
   

   
 

16
7,

18
8

   
   

   
   

 
14

5,
38

1

TR
A

VE
L/

TR
A

N
SP

O
R

TA
TI

O
N

 E
XP

S
38

5,
00

0
   

   
   

   
   

20
6,

43
0

   
   

   
   

 
17

8,
57

0
   

   
   

   
 

46
.3

8
14

,7
83

   
   

   
   

   
19

9,
67

8
   

   
   

   
 

6,
75

2

C
O

M
M

U
N

IC
A

TI
O

N
S

34
,0

50
   

   
   

   
   

  
17

,7
92

   
   

   
   

   
16

,2
58

   
   

   
   

   
47

.7
5

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

17
,3

31
   

   
   

   
   

46
1

O
C

C
U

PA
N

C
Y 

C
O

S T
6,

00
0

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
6,

00
0

   
   

   
   

   
  

10
0.

00
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
1,

48
2

   
   

   
   

   
  

(1
,4

82
)

PR
IN

TI
N

G
 &

 R
EP

R
O

D
U

C
TI

O
N

10
,1

00
   

   
   

   
   

  
8,

17
0

   
   

   
   

   
  

1,
93

0
   

   
   

   
   

  
19

.1
1

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

8,
27

0
   

   
   

   
   

  
(1

00
)

O
TH

ER
 O

PE
R

A
TI

N
G

 E
XP

EN
SE

S
81

,3
55

   
   

   
   

   
  

60
,3

13
   

   
   

   
   

21
,0

42
   

   
   

   
   

25
.8

6
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
56

,6
68

   
   

   
   

   
3,

64
5

C
A

PI
TA

L 
EX

PE
N

D
IT

U
R

E S
20

0,
00

0
   

   
   

   
   

13
5,

92
2

   
   

   
   

 
64

,0
78

   
   

   
   

   
32

.0
4

11
,0

00
   

   
   

   
   

73
,2

46
   

   
   

   
   

62
,6

76

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
TO

TA
L

$5
,3

30
,7

55
4,

50
7,

56
1

   
   

   
 

82
3,

19
4

   
   

   
   

 
15

.4
4

$1
52

,1
99

4,
11

1,
95

8
   

   
   

 
39

5,
60

3

rd
sb

co
.v

is
a.

xl
s 

B

C
  O

  M
  P

  A
  R

  A
  T

  I
  V

  E

218



A
TT

A
C

H
M

EN
T

D
PA

G
E 

2 
O

F 
2

LE
G

A
L 

SE
R

VI
C

ES
 C

O
R

PO
R

A
TI

O
N

FI
N

A
N

C
IA

L 
R

EP
O

R
T 

B
Y 

B
U

D
G

ET
 C

A
TE

G
O

R
Y

FO
R

 T
H

E 
TW

EL
FT

H
 M

O
N

TH
 O

F 
FY

 2
01

2 
- P

ER
IO

D
 E

N
D

IN
G

 S
EP

TE
M

B
ER

 3
0,

 2
01

2
IN

SP
EC

TO
R

 G
EN

ER
A

L 
C

O
N

TI
N

G
EN

C
Y 

FU
N

D
S

(1
)

(2
)

(4
)

(5
)

(6
)

(7
)

(8
)

F 
 I 

 S
  C

  A
  L

   
 Y

  E
  A

  R
   

 2
  0

 1
2

VA
R

IA
N

C
E 

%
 O

F 
VA

R
IA

N
C

E
B

U
D

 V
S 

A
C

T
VA

R
IA

N
C

E
A

C
TU

A
L 

VS
A

N
N

U
A

L
U

N
D

ER
/

U
N

D
ER

/
EN

C
U

M
-

PR
IO

R
 Y

-T
-D

PR
IO

R
 Y

-T
-D

B
U

D
G

ET
 C

A
TE

G
O

R
Y

B
U

D
G

ET
A

C
TU

A
L

(O
VE

R
)

(O
VE

R
)

B
R

A
N

C
ES

A
C

TU
A

L
IN

C
R

 / 
(D

EC
R

)

TO
TA

L 
C

O
M

P.
/B

EN
EF

IT
S

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-

TE
M

P.
 E

M
PL

O
YE

E 
PA

Y
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

C
O

N
SU

LT
IN

G
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

TR
A

VE
L/

TR
A

N
SP

O
R

TA
TI

O
N

 E
XP

S
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

C
O

M
M

U
N

IC
A

TI
O

N
S

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-

O
C

C
U

PA
N

C
Y 

C
O

ST
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

PR
IN

TI
N

G
 &

 R
EP

R
O

D
U

C
TI

O
N

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-

O
TH

ER
 O

PE
R

A
TI

N
G

 E
XP

EN
SE

S
$1

,1
00

,7
98

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

1,
10

0,
79

8
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

C
A

PI
TA

L 
EX

PE
N

D
IT

U
R

E S
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
TO

TA
L

$1
,1

00
,7

98
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
1,

10
0,

79
8

   
   

   
 

$0
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

rd
sb

co
.v

is
a.

xl
s 

B

C
  O

  M
  P

  A
  R

  A
  T

  I
  V

  E

219



 

 

 

 

 

 

Revised Temporary Operating Budget 

for Fiscal Year 2013 

  

220



FINANCIAL & ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES

MEMORANDUM

TO:  Robert J. Grey, Jr., Finance Committee Chairman 

FROM: David L. Richardson, Treasurer/Comptroller dlr 

DATE:  January 6, 2013

SUBJECT:  Fiscal Year (FY) 2013 Revised Proposed Temporary Operating Budget 
(TOB)

During the October Board Meeting, the Finance Committee and Board of 
Directors reviewed and approved a TOB to begin FY 2013.  The $360,889,022 TOB 
included funds from the Continuing Resolution totaling $350,129,760, $2,726,363 from 
the U.S. Court of Veterans Appeals, and projected FY 2012 carryover totaling 
$10,032,899.   With the close of the fiscal year and the audit completed, we have 
adjustments to the projected carryover in the amount of $1,901,440.  This will increase 
the TOB to $364,790,462.  The following table identifies the budget lines where 
adjustments are needed.

(1) (2) (3)

FY 2012 INCREASED
PROJECTED FY 2012 (DECREASED)
CARRYOVER CARRYOVER CARRYOVER

------------ ------------ ------------

  1. Basic Field Programs 833,865$    833,865$    -$          
  2. U.S. Court of Veterans Appeals Funds  1,000 8,999 7,999
  3. Grants From Other Funds 519,138 546,361 27,223
  4. Technology Initiatives 100,000 1,181,438 1,081,438
  5. Herbert S. Garten LRAP 1,628,896 1,606,088 (22,808)
  6. Management & Grants Oversight Operations 2,063,410 2,299,810 236,400
  7. M & G O Research Initiative 287,073 287,191 118
  8. M & G O Contingency Funds 2,799,517 3,246,595 447,078
  9. Inspector General Operations 1,274,296 1,274,296 -           
 10. Inspector General Contingency Funds 525,704 649,696 123,992

 -----------  -----------  ----------- 
TOTAL BUDGET $10,032,899 $11,934,339 $1,901,440

 ============  ============   ==========

Legal Services Corporation
America’s Partner For Equal Justice

221



Robert J. Grey
FY 2013 TOB 
Page 2 of 3 

The U.S. Court of Veterans Appeals allows reimbursement of administrative 
expenses, which are estimated at the being of the fiscal year; expenses were $7,999 
lower than anticipated.  This amount needs to be used to increase the U.S. Court of 
Veterans Appeals funds for FY 2013.

An additional grant recovery was received in September, and two contributions 
were received in FY 2012.  The contributions were from the L. H. Tribe Charitable 
Foundation for $500 and CIMA (LSC’s insurance broker) for $100.  The grant recovery 
and the contributions increase the Grants from Other Funds budget line by $27,223.   

It was anticipated that the full amount of the Technology Initiative Grants 
($3,557,892) would be awarded in FY 2012.  A number of awards were not completed, 
which resulted in a higher TIG carryover of $1,081,438 that needs to be added to the 
FY 2013 budget.  The remaining awards are expected to be made in FY 2013.    

The decrease of $22,808 in the Herbert S. Garten Loan Repayment Assistance 
Program (LRAP) was the result of scholarships that were provided in September, which 
required a reevaluation of the LRAP allowance account.  Additional expenses were 
recognized that lowered the FY 2012 carryover.

With fewer expenses in Management and Grants Oversight (MGO) Operations 
than anticipated, there was additional carryover of $683,596.  This amount is shown in 
three different budget lines: 1) MGO Operations, 2) MGO Research Initiative, and 3) 
MGO Contingency Funds. 

The Research Initiative was included in the MGO Operations budget in FY 2012.  
It has been broken out separately, and relates to the Public Welfare Foundation data 
collection grant and a new MGO Research Initiative budget line.  One expense was 
estimated for the Research Initiative project turned out to cost $118 less than 
anticipated.  This amount increases the MGO Research Initiative budget line for FY 
2013.

This proposal takes the remaining FY 2012 MGO carryover of 683,478, and 
allocates $236,400 to MGO Operations and the remaining $447,078 to MGO 
Contingency Funds.   

This will increase the MGO Contingency to $3,246,595.  Management plan’s to 
implement a reorganization for the Corporation’s oversight operations during this fiscal 
year will require expenditure of some of the contingency funds.   

222



Robert J. Grey
FY 2013 TOB 
Page 3 of 3 

The TOB memorandum of September 19th provided an analysis of operations and 
staffing.  The revised TOB reflects the following adjustments:

Executive Office — Personnel compensation and benefits needs to be corrected 
by $94,100 to fund the Chief Development Officer position, which was 
inadvertently under budgeted;    

Legal Affairs — Other operating expenses of $10,000 are needed for a new legal 
research subscription that will aid the office’s work;

Government Relations/Public Affairs — Personnel compensation and benefits 
funds of $77,500 are needed for a regular temporary hire for seven months.  
Treefa Aziz received a seven-month Brookings Institution fellowship that allows 
her to work in a staff position on Capitol Hill, which will give her experience that 
will be valuable to LSC.  During her fellowship, an attorney from LSC’s Office of 
Legal Affairs will be assuming her duties, and the adjustment reflects the 
temporary compensation and benefits costs; and 

Human Resources and Information Technology — Personnel compensation and 
benefits are needed in the amount of $8,950 and $45,850, respectively in 
connection with recent personnel departures from LSC. 

The Office of Inspector General (OIG) Contingency Funds will increase by 
$123,992, and the funds are earmarked to supplement the support of the multiyear OIG 
budget planning. 

Attached is a draft TOB resolution for your consideration along, with two 
supporting worksheets; 1) the Revised Temporary Operating Budget Worksheet and 2) 
the budget by office and by budget category.  If you have any questions regarding the 
proposed MGO budget, please give me a call at (202) 295-1510.  Questions regarding 
the Office of Inspector General's budget should be directed to Jeffrey Schanz (202) 
295-1677 or David Maddox (202) 295-1653.

Attachments

223



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Resolution 2013-XXX 

  

224



BOARD OF DIRECTORS

RESOLUTION 
Revised Temporary Operating Budget and 
Special Circumstance Operating Authority 

For Fiscal Year 2013 

WHEREAS, the Legal Services Corporation (LSC) Board of Directors 
(Board) has reviewed information regarding the status of the Fiscal Year (FY) 
2013 appropriation, the U.S Court of Veterans Appeals grant, and the FY 
2012 carryover. The projected funds available for the Temporary Operating 
Budget (TOB) include: 

1) a fiscal year (FY) 2013 Continuing Resolution funding totaling  
$350,129,760;  

2) U.S. Court of Veterans Appeals Funds totaling $2,726,363;  

3) carryover in the amount of $11,934,339, which is comprised of: 

a. Basic Field Programs carryover of $833,865;
b. U.S. Court of Veterans Appeals of $8,999;  
c. Grants from Other Funds of $546,361;  
d. Technology Initiative Grant funds of $1,181,438;  
e. Herbert S. Garten Loan Repayment Assistance Program of 

$1,606,088;  
f. Management and Grants Oversight of $5,833,596; and  
g. Office of Inspector General of $1,923,992; and 

Legal Services Corporation
America’s Partner For Equal Justice

225



BOARD OF DIRECTORS

WHEREAS, Management and the Inspector General recommend that a 
TOB be adopted reflecting the funds available;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board hereby adopts 
a TOB for FY 2013 totaling $364,790,462 of which $333,090,922 is for the 
Delivery of Legal Assistance; $2,612,208 is for the Herbert S. Garten Loan 
Repayment Assistance Program; $22,937,636 is for Management Grants 
Oversight; and $6,149,696 is for the Office of Inspector General, as reflected 
in the attached documents;

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Board hereby authorizes 
Management, in consultation with the Chairman of the Board and the 
Chairman of the Finance Committee, to increase or decrease the annual 
grants awards, as necessary, in reaction to the FY 2013 appropriation.

Adopted by the Board of Directors 
on January 26, 2013

____________________________
John G. Levi 
Chairman 

____________________________
Victor M. Fortuno 
Vice President for Legal Affairs,
General Counsel, and
Corporate Secretary 

226



ATTACHMENT A

(1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6)

FY 2013
CONTINUING FY 2012 COURT OF FY 2013 FY 2012 REVISED
RESOLUTION PROJECTED VETS APPEALS & TEMPORARY CARRYOVER CONSOLIDATED
FUNDING CARRYOVER ADJUSTMENTS OPERATING BUDGET ADJUSTMENTS OPERATING BUDGET

------------ ------------ ------------ ------------ ------------ ------------

   I. DELIVERY OF LEGAL ASSISTANCE
   ----------------------------------

      1. Basic Field Programs 324,373,088 833,865 -               325,206,953 -               325,206,953
      2. U.S. Court of Veterans Appeals Funds  -               1,000           2,726,363       2,727,363 7,999           2,735,362
      3. Grants From Other Funds -               519,138 -               519,138 27,223          546,361

      4. Technology Initiatives 3,420,808 100,000 -               3,520,808 1,081,438       4,602,246

------------  -----------   ----------  ------------ ----------- ----------- 

     DELIVERY OF LEGAL ASSISTANCE TOTALS 327,793,896 1,454,003 2,726,363       331,974,262 1,116,660       333,090,922

  II. HERBERT S. GARTEN
        LOAN REPAYMENT ASSISTANCE PROGRAM 1,006,120 1,628,896 -               2,635,016 (22,808)         2,612,208

  ---------------------------------------

  III. MANAGEMENT & GRANTS OVERSIGHT
  --------------------------------------
       1.  M & G O Operations 17,104,040      2,063,410 -               19,167,450 236,400         19,403,850

       2.  M & G O Research Initiative -               287,073 -               287,073 118             287,191

       3.  M & G O Contingency Funds -               2,799,517 -               2,799,517 447,078         3,246,595

----------- ----------- ----------- ----------- ----------- ----------- 

     MANAGEMENT & GRANTS OVERSIGHT TOTALS 17,104,040 5,150,000 -               22,254,040 683,596 22,937,636

  IV. INSPECTOR GENERAL 
  ---------------------
       1.  IG Operations 4,225,704 1,274,296       -               5,500,000 -               5,500,000

       2.  IG Contingency Funds -               525,704 -               525,704 123,992         649,696

----------- ----------- ----------- ----------- ----------- ----------- 

     INSPECTOR GENERAL TOTALS 4,225,704 1,800,000 -               6,025,704       123,992         6,149,696        

------------  -----------   ----------  ------------ ------------- ------------- 

TOTAL BUDGET $350,129,760 $10,032,899 $2,726,363 $362,889,022 $1,901,440 $364,790,462

   ===========     ==========      =========    ===========    ===========     ===========

LEGAL SERVICES CORPORATION
PROPOSED TEMPORARY OPERATING BUDGET 

--------------------------------
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR 2013

227



ATTACHMENT B

LEGAL SERVICES CORPORATION
PROPOSED TEMPORARY OPERATING BUDGET
FOR MANAGEMENT AND GRANTS OVERSIGHT

AND INSPECTOR GENERAL
FOR FISCAL YEAR 2013

BOARD GOVERNMENT OFFICE
OF EXECUTIVE LEGAL RELATIONS & HUMAN FINANCIAL &

BUDGET CATEGORY DIRECTORS OFFICES AFFAIRS PUB AFFS RESOURCES ADMIN SRVCS

COMPENSATION & BENEFITS 0 1,061,800 966,750 1,015,900 715,650 1,000,600

TEMP. EMPLOYEE PAY 0 0 14,550 22,100 7,500 10,100

CONSULTING 133,200 0 250,000 41,500 85,400 0

TRAVEL & TRANSPORTATION 240,600 91,500 16,400 25,825 45,100 16,200

COMMUNICATIONS 6,000 6,900 5,350 4,050 2,600 19,700

OCCUPANCY COSTS 0 0 0 0 0 1,720,000

PRINTING & REPRODUCTION 0 100 0 7,000 0 85,000

OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES 48,100 400 33,650 30,025 27,400 372,000

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES 0 0 0 0 0 50,000

                     TOTAL 427,900 1,160,700 1,286,700 1,146,400 883,650 3,273,600

INFORMATION PROGRAM INFORMATION COMPLIANCE MGT & GRNTS INSPECTOR
BUDGET CATEGORY TECHNOLOGY PERFORM MANGEMENT & ENFORCE OVERSIGHT GENERAL

COMPENSATION & BENEFITS 1,148,050 3,637,075 562,850 3,722,800 13,831,475 4,363,500

TEMP. EMPLOYEE PAY 0 302,750 0 276,100 633,100 25,000

CONSULTING 79,600 85,000 0 50,000 724,700 550,000

TRAVEL & TRANSPORTATION 30,650 313,025 5,000 444,800 1,229,100 321,600

COMMUNICATIONS 40,400 21,100 100 16,700 122,900 28,000

OCCUPANCY COSTS 0 2,100 0 0 1,722,100 4,000

PRINTING & REPRODUCTION 0 0 0 0 92,100 12,000

OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES 332,900 20,550 30,900 1,200 897,125 100,900

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES 101,250 0 0 0 151,250 95,000

                     TOTAL 1,732,850 4,381,600 598,850 4,511,600 19,403,850 5,500,000

228



 

 

 

 

 

Financial Report for the first two 
months of Fiscal Year 2013 

  

229



FINANCIAL & ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES

MEMORANDUM

TO: Robert J. Grey, Jr., Finance Committee Chairman 

FROM: David L. Richardson, Treasurer/Comptroller   dlr 

DATE: January 3, 2012

SUBJECT:  November 2012 Financial Reports 

The financial reports for the period ending November 30, 2012, are attached for 
your review and discussion. There are three worksheets that comprise this report, and 
we are using the fiscal year 2013 Temporary Operating Budget for our comparisons.

Attachment A provides summary information for each element of the 
Temporary Operating Budget in two sections.

Attachment B presents Management and Grants Oversight’s (MGO) 
budget and expenditures. 

Attachment C shows the MGO Other Operating Expenses by cost centers. 

Attachment D provides budget and expenditures for the Office of 
Inspector General (OIG).

The first section of Attachment A presents information for the Delivery of Legal 
Assistance, Roman numeral I, and the Herbert S. Garten Loan Repayment Assistance 
Program (LRAP), Roman numeral II.  The expenditures are compared to the annual 
budget and the report shows the variance for each budget line. The expenditures are 
also compared to the same period of the prior year. 

I. There are four elements included in the Delivery of Legal 
Assistance:

Legal Services Corporation
America’s Partner For Equal Justice

230



Robert J. Grey, Jr.
November 2012 Financial Reports 
Page 2 

1. The Basic Field Programs budget is $325,206,953; there are 
no grant expenses for this period.  Grants totaling 
$324,459,425 were awarded for 2013 and will show as 
expenses in the January financial report.      

2. The U.S. Court of Veterans Appeals Funds budget totals 
$2,727,363, and there are no grant expenses for this period.    

3. The Grants from Other Funds budget totals $519,138, and no 
emergency or one-time grants have been awarded for this 
period.

4. The Technology Initiatives budget totals $3,520,808, and 
there have been 5 grant awards totaling $448,689.

II. The Herbert S. Garten Loan Repayment Assistance Program’s 
budget is $2,635,016; there are no loan expenses for the period.

The second section of Attachment A presents expenditures for MGO and the 
OIG.  The expenditures are compared to a pro rata allocation of the annual budget 
based on the number of months into the fiscal year.

III. MGO’s annual budget totals $22,254,040.  The budget is comprised 
of the MGO operating budget of $19,167,450, the MGO Research 
Initiative (Public Welfare Foundation grants) of $287,073 and the 
MGO Contingency Funds totaling $2,799,517.

The MGO operating budget allocation for this reporting period 
is $3,194,575, compared to actual expenses of $2,580,233.  
LSC is under budget by $614,342, or 19.23%.  The 
expenditures are $7,993 less than the same period in 2012, 
and the encumbrances for the period are $186,278.

The MGO Research Initiative budget allocation is $47,846, and 
there are no expenses. 

The MGO Contingency Funds allocation is $466,586, and there 
are no expenses. 

IV. The OIG’s annual budget totals $6,025,704.  The budget consists of 
the OIG operating budget of $5,500,000, and Contingency Funds of 
$525,704.

231



Robert J. Grey, Jr.
November 2012 Financial Reports 
Page 3 

The OIG operating budget allocation is $916,667, compared 
to actual expenses of $685,028.  The OIG is $231,639 or 
25.27% under budget.  The expenditures are $69,622 less 
than in 2012, and the encumbrances are $321,916.

Attachment B, page 1, presents comparative budgets and expenditures for MGO 
by cost center; all cost centers are under budget.  Attachment B, page 2, shows the 
budgets and expenditures by budget category for the MGO operating budget.  The 
variances show that we are under budget in each category.    

The largest variance under budget totaling $314,393 is in the Compensation and 
Benefits category.  This amount represents 51.15% ($314,393 divided by 
$614,342) of this month’s variance and is due to open positions.  The open 
positions by cost center are as follows:  

Executive Office – Chief Development Officer and an Administrative 
Assistant;

Government Relations/Public Affairs – Web Content Manager; 

Information Technology – Chief Information Officer1;

Program Performance – Deputy Director, Program Counsel, 
Research Analyst, Program Analyst; and 

Compliance and Enforcement – Deputy Director, four Fiscal 
Oversight Analysts, and an Administrative Assistant.    

Attachment B, page 3, shows the MGO Contingency Funds budget categories.  
Attachment B, page 4, provides a summary of the expenditures by office and by budget 
category.

Attachment C, pages 1 and 2, presents a breakdown of the other operating 
expenses by account code and by cost center.

Attachment D, page 1, shows a comparative OIG budget and expenditures by 
budget category and all are under budget.

                                        
1 A Chief Information Officer was hired and began work on January 2, 2013. 

232



Robert J. Grey, Jr.
November 2012 Financial Reports 
Page 4 

Attachment D, page 2, shows the OIG Contingency Funds.  The unused OIG 
Contingency Funds are earmarked for the multi-year budget plan. 

If you have any questions, please let me know.   

Attachments (A – B – C - D) 

cc Board of Directors 
 President 
 Corporate Secretary 
 Inspector General 

233



A
TT

A
C

H
M

EN
T 

A
 

LE
G

A
L 

SE
R

VI
C

ES
 C

O
R

PO
R

A
TI

O
N

TE
M

PO
R

A
R

Y 
O

PE
R

A
TI

N
G

 B
U

D
G

ET
 W

O
R

K
SH

EE
T

FO
R

 T
H

E 
SE

C
O

N
D

 M
O

N
TH

 O
F 

FI
SC

A
L 

YE
A

R
 2

01
3

PE
R

IO
D

 E
N

D
IN

G
 N

O
VE

M
B

ER
 3

0,
 2

01
2

(1
)

(2
)

(3
)

(4
)

(5
)

(6
)

(7
)

(8
)

F 
   

I  
  S

   
 C

   
 A

   
 L

   
   

   
 Y

   
 E

   
 A

   
 R

   
   

   
2 

   
0 

   
1 

   
3

C
 O

 M
 P

 A
 R

 A
 T

 I 
V 

E 

   
 V

A
R

IA
N

C
E 

   
   

%
 O

F
VA

R
IA

N
C

E
   

 B
U

D
 V

S 
A

C
T

   
   

VA
R

IA
N

C
E 

A
C

TU
A

L 
VS

   
 A

N
N

U
A

L
   

 A
N

N
U

A
L

   
 U

N
D

ER
 / 

   
   

U
N

D
ER

 / 
EN

C
U

M
-

 P
R

IO
R

 Y
-T

-D
 P

R
IO

R
 Y

-T
-D

   
 B

U
D

G
ET

   
A

C
TU

A
L

   
 B

U
D

G
ET

   
 (O

VE
R

)
   

   
(O

VE
R

)
B

R
A

N
C

ES
   

   
A

C
TU

A
L

IN
C

R
 / 

(D
EC

R
)

   
I. 

 D
EL

IV
ER

Y 
O

F 
LE

G
A

L 
A

SS
IS

TA
N

C
E

   
1.

 B
as

ic
 F

ie
ld

 P
ro

gr
am

s
$3

25
,2

06
,9

53
$0

$3
25

,2
06

,9
53

$3
25

,2
06

,9
53

10
0.

00
$0

$9
8,

39
7

($
98

,3
97

)
   

2.
 U

S 
C

ou
rt

 o
f V

et
s 

A
pp

ea
ls

 F
un

ds
  

2,
72

7,
36

3
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

2,
72

7,
36

3
2,

72
7,

36
3

   
   

   
   

   
 

10
0.

00
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
   

3.
 G

ra
nt

s 
Fr

om
 O

th
er

 F
un

ds
 

51
9,

13
8

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
51

9,
13

8
51

9,
13

8
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

10
0.

00
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
25

3,
34

6
(2

53
,3

46
)

   
4.

 T
ec

hn
ol

og
y 

In
iti

at
iv

es
3,

52
0,

80
8

44
8,

68
9

3,
52

0,
80

8
3,

07
2,

11
9

   
   

   
   

   
 

87
.2

6
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
3,

20
6,

55
0

(2
,7

57
,8

61
)

   
TO

TA
L 

D
EL

IV
ER

Y 
O

F 
LE

G
A

L 
A

SS
IS

TA
N

C
E

$3
31

,9
74

,2
62

$4
48

,6
89

$3
31

,9
74

,2
62

$3
31

,5
25

,5
73

99
.8

6
$0

$3
,5

58
,2

93
($

3,
10

9,
60

4)

 Il
. H

ER
B

ER
T 

S.
 G

A
R

TE
N

 L
O

A
N

   
  R

EP
A

YM
EN

T 
A

SS
IS

TA
N

C
E 

PR
O

G
R

A
M

$2
,6

35
,0

16
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

2,
63

5,
01

6
   

   
   

   
   

 
*

2,
63

5,
01

6
   

   
   

   
   

 
10

0.
00

$0
$0

$0

SE
C

O
N

D
**

VA
R

IA
N

C
E 

%
 O

F
VA

R
IA

N
C

E
M

O
N

TH
 O

F 
B

U
D

 V
S 

A
C

T
VA

R
IA

N
C

E 
A

C
TU

A
L 

VS
A

N
N

U
A

L
FY

 2
01

3
U

N
D

ER
 / 

U
N

D
ER

 / 
EN

C
U

M
-

 P
R

IO
R

 Y
-T

-D
 P

R
IO

R
 Y

-T
-D

B
U

D
G

ET
A

C
TU

A
L

B
U

D
G

ET
(O

VE
R

)
(O

VE
R

)
B

R
A

N
C

ES
   

   
A

C
TU

A
L

IN
C

R
 / 

(D
EC

R
)

 II
I. 

M
A

N
A

G
EM

EN
T 

&
 G

R
A

N
TS

 O
VE

R
SI

G
H

T

   
1.

 M
 &

 G
 O

 O
pe

ra
tin

g 
B

ud
ge

t 
$1

9,
16

7,
45

0
$2

,5
80

,2
33

$3
,1

94
,5

75
$6

14
,3

42
19

.2
3

$1
86

,2
78

$2
,5

88
,2

26
($

7,
99

3)
   

2.
 M

 &
 G

 O
 R

es
ea

rc
h 

In
iti

at
iv

e
$2

87
,0

73
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

$4
7,

84
6

$4
7,

84
6

10
0.

00
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
   

3.
 M

 &
 G

 O
 C

on
tin

ge
nc

y 
Fu

nd
s 

2,
79

9,
51

7
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

46
6,

58
6

46
6,

58
6

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
10

0.
00

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

TO
TA

L 
M

A
N

A
G

EM
EN

T 
&

 G
R

A
N

TS
 O

VE
R

SI
G

H
T

$2
2,

25
4,

04
0

$2
,5

80
,2

33
$3

,7
09

,0
07

$1
,1

28
,7

74
30

.4
3

$1
86

,2
78

$2
,5

88
,2

26
($

7,
99

3)

 IV
. I

N
SP

EC
TO

R
 G

EN
ER

A
L

   
1.

 I 
G

 O
pe

ra
tin

g 
B

ud
ge

t
$5

,5
00

,0
00

$6
85

,0
28

$9
16

,6
67

$2
31

,6
39

25
.2

7
$3

21
,9

16
$7

54
,6

50
($

69
,6

22
)

   
2.

 I 
G

 C
on

tin
ge

nc
y 

Fu
nd

s
52

5,
70

4
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

87
,6

17
87

,6
17

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
10

0.
00

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

TO
TA

L 
IN

SP
EC

TO
R

 G
EN

ER
A

L
$6

,0
25

,7
04

$6
85

,0
28

$1
,0

04
,2

84
$3

19
,2

56
31

.7
9

$3
21

,9
16

$7
54

,6
50

($
69

,6
22

)

TO
TA

L 
$3

62
,8

89
,0

22
$3

,7
13

,9
50

$3
39

,3
22

,5
69

$3
35

,6
08

,6
19

$5
08

,1
94

$6
,9

01
,1

69
($

3,
18

7,
21

9)

**
$5

43
,6

06
LR

A
P 

A
C

C
O

U
N

TS
 R

EC
EI

VA
B

LE
*

2/
12

TH
S 

O
F 

TH
E 

12
 M

O
N

TH
 B

U
D

G
ET

1/
3/

20
13

234



A
TT

A
C

H
M

EN
T 

B
PA

G
E 

1 
O

F 
4

LE
G

A
L 

SE
R

VI
C

ES
 C

O
R

PO
R

A
TI

O
N

TE
M

PO
R

A
R

Y 
O

PE
R

A
TI

N
G

 B
U

D
G

ET
 W

O
R

K
SH

EE
T

FO
R

 T
H

E 
SE

C
O

N
D

 M
O

N
TH

 O
F 

FI
SC

A
L 

YE
A

R
 2

01
3

PE
R

IO
D

 E
N

D
IN

G
 N

O
VE

M
B

ER
 3

0,
 2

01
2

(1
)

(2
)

(3
)

(4
)

(5
)

(6
)

(7
)

(8
)

F 
   

I  
  S

   
 C

   
 A

   
 L

   
   

   
 Y

   
 E

   
 A

   
 R

   
   

   
2 

   
0 

   
1 

   
3

C
  O

  M
  P

  A
  R

  A
  T

  I
  V

  E
 

SE
C

O
N

D
*

VA
R

IA
N

C
E 

%
 O

F
VA

R
IA

N
C

E
M

O
N

TH
 O

F 
B

U
D

 V
S 

A
C

T
VA

R
IA

N
C

E 
A

C
TU

A
L 

VS
A

N
N

U
A

L
FY

 2
01

3
U

N
D

ER
 / 

U
N

D
ER

 / 
EN

C
U

M
-

 P
R

IO
R

 Y
-T

-D
 P

R
IO

R
 Y

-T
-D

B
U

D
G

ET
A

C
TU

A
L

B
U

D
G

ET
(O

VE
R

)
(O

VE
R

)
B

R
A

N
C

ES
   

   
A

C
TU

A
L

IN
C

R
 / 

(D
EC

R
)

 II
I. 

M
A

N
A

G
EM

EN
T 

&
 G

R
A

N
TS

 O
VE

R
SI

G
H

T

   
1.

 B
oa

rd
 o

f D
ire

ct
or

s 
$4

27
,9

00
$5

3,
52

9
$7

1,
31

7
$1

7,
78

8
24

.9
4

$2
3,

59
9

$7
4,

87
5

($
21

,3
46

)
   

2.
 E

xe
cu

tiv
e 

O
ffi

ce
1,

06
6,

60
0

14
1,

90
3

17
7,

76
7

35
,8

64
20

.1
7

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

61
,2

12
80

,6
91

   
3.

 L
eg

al
 A

ffa
irs

1,
27

6,
70

0
13

5,
92

9
21

2,
78

3
76

,8
54

36
.1

2
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
18

8,
96

2
(5

3,
03

3)
   

4.
 G

ov
er

nm
en

t R
el

at
io

ns
/P

ub
lic

 A
ffa

irs
1,

06
8,

90
0

15
1,

19
2

17
8,

15
0

26
,9

58
15

.1
3

6,
52

5
11

9,
27

2
31

,9
20

   
5.

 H
um

an
 R

es
ou

rc
es

87
4,

70
0

11
0,

23
8

14
5,

78
3

35
,5

45
24

.3
8

25
,0

00
10

7,
54

9
2,

68
9

   
6.

 F
in

an
ci

al
 &

 A
dm

in
 S

er
vi

ce
s

3,
27

3,
60

0
47

0,
90

0
54

5,
60

0
74

,7
00

13
.6

9
54

,0
69

46
8,

97
5

1,
92

5
   

7.
 In

fo
rm

at
io

n 
Te

ch
no

lo
gy

1,
68

7,
00

0
23

7,
39

3
28

1,
16

7
43

,7
74

15
.5

7
21

,7
02

26
9,

00
6

(3
1,

61
3)

   
8.

 P
ro

gr
am

 P
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 
4,

38
1,

60
0

64
1,

31
0

73
0,

26
7

88
,9

57
12

.1
8

55
,3

83
59

8,
34

4
42

,9
66

   
9.

 In
fo

rm
at

io
n 

M
an

ag
em

en
t

59
8,

85
0

93
,0

23
99

,8
08

6,
78

5
6.

80
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
10

1,
44

6
(8

,4
23

)
  1

0.
 C

om
pl

ia
nc

e 
&

 E
nf

or
ce

m
en

t
4,

51
1,

60
0

54
4,

81
6

75
1,

93
3

20
7,

11
7

27
.5

4
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
59

8,
58

5
(5

3,
76

9)

  M
A

N
A

G
EM

EN
T 

&
 G

R
A

N
TS

 O
VE

R
SI

G
H

T 
SU

B
TO

TA
L

$1
9,

16
7,

45
0

$2
,5

80
,2

33
$3

,1
94

,5
75

$6
14

,3
42

19
.2

3
$1

86
,2

78
$2

,5
88

,2
26

($
7,

99
3)

  1
1.

 M
 &

 G
 O

 R
es

ea
rc

h 
In

iti
at

iv
e

28
7,

07
3

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
47

,8
46

47
,8

46
10

0.
00

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

  1
2.

 M
 &

 G
 O

 C
on

tin
ge

nc
y 

Fu
nd

s
2,

79
9,

51
7

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
46

6,
58

6
46

6,
58

6
10

0.
00

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

  T
O

TA
L 

M
A

N
A

G
EM

EN
T 

&
 G

R
A

N
TS

 O
VE

R
SI

G
H

T
$2

2,
25

4,
04

0
$2

,5
80

,2
33

$3
,7

09
,0

07
$1

,1
28

,7
74

30
.4

3
$1

86
,2

78
$2

,5
88

,2
26

($
7,

99
3)

*
2/

12
TH

S 
O

F 
TH

E 
12

 M
O

N
TH

 B
U

D
G

ET

1/
3/

20
13

235



A
TT

A
C

H
M

EN
T

B
PA

G
E 

2 
O

F 
4

LE
G

A
L 

SE
R

VI
C

ES
 C

O
R

PO
R

A
TI

O
N

FI
N

A
N

C
IA

L 
R

EP
O

R
T 

B
Y 

B
U

D
G

ET
 C

A
TE

G
O

R
Y

FO
R

 T
H

E 
SE

C
O

N
D

 M
O

N
TH

 O
F 

FY
 2

01
3 

- P
ER

IO
D

 E
N

D
IN

G
 N

O
VE

M
B

ER
 3

0,
 2

01
2

M
A

N
A

G
EM

EN
T 

A
N

D
 G

R
A

N
TS

 O
VE

R
SI

G
H

T

(1
)

(2
)

(3
)

(4
)

(5
)

(6
)

(7
)

(8
)

F 
 I 

 S
  C

  A
  L

   
 Y

  E
  A

  R
   

 2
  0

 1
2

VA
R

IA
N

C
E 

%
 O

F 
VA

R
IA

N
C

E
SE

C
O

N
D

B
U

D
 V

S 
A

C
T

VA
R

IA
N

C
E

A
C

TU
A

L 
VS

A
N

N
U

A
L

M
O

N
TH

U
N

D
ER

 /
U

N
D

ER
 /

EN
C

U
M

-
PR

IO
R

 Y
-T

-D
PR

IO
R

 Y
-T

-D
B

U
D

G
ET

 C
A

TE
G

O
R

Y
B

U
D

G
ET

A
C

TU
A

L
B

U
D

G
ET

(O
VE

R
)

(O
VE

R
)

B
R

A
N

C
ES

A
C

TU
A

L
IN

C
R

 / 
(D

EC
R

)

TO
TA

L 
C

O
M

P.
/B

EN
EF

IT
S

13
,6

05
,5

25
   

   
   

  
1,

95
3,

19
3

   
   

   
 

2,
26

7,
58

6
   

   
   

  
31

4,
39

3
   

   
   

   
13

.8
6

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
1,

88
9,

12
6

   
   

   
  

64
,0

67

TE
M

P.
 E

M
PL

O
YE

E 
PA

Y
63

3,
10

0
   

   
   

   
   

 
70

,6
15

   
   

   
   

   
10

5,
51

6
   

   
   

   
  

34
,9

01
   

   
   

   
  

33
.0

8
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

68
,5

68
   

   
   

   
   

 
2,

04
7

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 

C
O

N
SU

LT
IN

G
72

4,
70

0
   

   
   

   
   

 
64

,8
36

   
   

   
   

   
12

0,
78

4
   

   
   

   
  

55
,9

48
   

   
   

   
  

46
.3

2
10

3,
98

2
   

   
11

3,
50

5
   

   
   

   
  

(4
8,

66
9)

TR
A

VE
L/

TR
A

N
SP

O
R

TA
TI

O
N

 E
XP

S
1,

22
9,

10
0

   
   

   
   

 
10

1,
11

3
   

   
   

   
 

20
4,

84
9

   
   

   
   

  
10

3,
73

6
   

   
   

   
50

.6
4

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
12

9,
34

6
   

   
   

   
  

(2
8,

23
3)

C
O

M
M

U
N

IC
A

TI
O

N
S

12
2,

45
0

   
   

   
   

   
 

12
,1

49
   

   
   

   
   

20
,4

09
   

   
   

   
   

 
8,

26
0

   
   

   
   

   
 

40
.4

7
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

9,
50

4
   

   
   

   
   

   
2,

64
5

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 

O
C

C
U

PA
N

C
Y 

C
O

ST
1,

72
2,

10
0

   
   

   
   

 
28

5,
00

0
   

   
   

   
 

28
7,

01
7

   
   

   
   

  
2,

01
7

   
   

   
   

   
 

0.
70

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
28

5,
00

0
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

PR
IN

TI
N

G
 &

 R
EP

R
O

D
U

C
TI

O
N

92
,1

00
   

   
   

   
   

   
4,

60
4

   
   

   
   

   
  

15
,3

51
   

   
   

   
   

 
10

,7
47

   
   

   
   

  
70

.0
1

54
,0

69
   

   
  

17
9

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
4,

42
5

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 

O
TH

ER
 O

PE
R

A
TI

N
G

 E
XP

EN
SE

S
88

7,
12

5
   

   
   

   
   

 
85

,9
65

   
   

   
   

   
14

7,
85

5
   

   
   

   
  

61
,8

90
   

   
   

   
  

41
.8

6
28

,2
27

   
   

  
79

,7
56

   
   

   
   

   
 

6,
20

9
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

C
A

PI
TA

L 
EX

PE
N

D
IT

U
R

ES
15

1,
25

0
   

   
   

   
   

 
2,

75
8

   
   

   
   

   
  

25
,2

08
   

   
   

   
   

 
22

,4
50

   
   

   
   

  
89

.0
6

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
13

,2
42

   
   

   
   

   
 

(1
0,

48
4)

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
TO

TA
L

$1
9,

16
7,

45
0

$2
,5

80
,2

33
3,

19
4,

57
5

   
   

   
  

61
4,

34
2

   
   

   
   

19
.2

3
$1

86
,2

78
2,

58
8,

22
6

   
   

   
  

(7
,9

93
)

rd
sb

co
.v

is
a.

xl
s 

B

C
  O

  M
  P

  A
  R

  A
  T

  I
  V

E

236



A
TT

A
C

H
M

EN
T 

B
PA

G
E 

3 
O

F 
4

LE
G

A
L 

SE
R

VI
C

ES
 C

O
R

PO
R

A
TI

O
N

FI
N

A
N

C
IA

L 
R

EP
O

R
T 

B
Y 

B
U

D
G

ET
 C

A
TE

G
O

R
Y

FO
R

 T
H

E 
SE

C
O

N
D

 M
O

N
TH

 O
F 

FY
 2

01
3 

- P
ER

IO
D

 E
N

D
IN

G
 N

O
VE

M
B

ER
 3

0,
 2

01
2

M
A

N
A

G
EM

EN
T 

A
N

D
 G

R
A

N
TS

 O
VE

R
SI

G
H

T 
C

O
N

TI
N

G
EN

C
Y 

FU
N

D
S

(1
)

(2
)

(3
)

(4
)

(5
)

(6
)

(7
)

(8
)

F 
 I 

 S
  C

  A
  L

   
 Y

  E
  A

  R
   

 2
  0

 1
2

VA
R

IA
N

C
E 

%
 O

F 
VA

R
IA

N
C

E
SE

C
O

N
D

B
U

D
 V

S 
A

C
T

VA
R

IA
N

C
E

A
C

TU
A

L 
VS

A
N

N
U

A
L

M
O

N
TH

U
N

D
ER

 /
U

N
D

ER
/

EN
C

U
M

-
PR

IO
R

 Y
-T

-D
PR

IO
R

 Y
-T

-D
B

U
D

G
ET

 C
A

TE
G

O
R

Y
B

U
D

G
ET

A
C

TU
A

L
B

U
D

G
ET

(O
VE

R
)

(O
VE

R
)

B
R

A
N

C
ES

A
C

TU
A

L
IN

C
R

 / 
(D

EC
R

)

TO
TA

L 
C

O
M

P.
/B

EN
EF

IT
S

$6
50

,0
00

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

10
8,

33
3

   
   

   
   

 
10

8,
33

3
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   

TE
M

P.
 E

M
PL

O
YE

E 
PA

Y
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

C
O

N
SU

LT
IN

G
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

TR
A

VE
L/

TR
A

N
SP

O
R

TA
TI

O
N

 E
XP

S
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

C
O

M
M

U
N

IC
A

TI
O

N
S

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   

O
C

C
U

PA
N

C
Y 

C
O

S T
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

PR
IN

TI
N

G
 &

 R
EP

R
O

D
U

C
TI

O
N

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   

O
TH

ER
 O

PE
R

A
TI

N
G

 E
XP

EN
SE

S
2,

14
9,

51
7

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

35
8,

25
3

   
   

   
   

 
35

8,
25

3
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   

C
A

PI
TA

L 
EX

PE
N

D
IT

U
R

E S
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
TO

TA
L

$2
,7

99
,5

17
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
46

6,
58

6
   

   
   

   
 

46
6,

58
6

   
   

   
   

 
$0

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   

rd
sb

co
.v

is
a.

xl
s 

B

C
  O

  M
  P

  A
  R

  A
  T

  I
  V

  E

237



A
TT

A
C

H
M

EN
T 

B
PA

G
E 

4 
O

F 
4

B
O

A
R

D
O

FF
IC

E
O

F 
EX

EC
U

TI
VE

LE
G

A
L 

G
O

V'
T 

R
EL

H
U

M
A

N
FI

N
A

N
C

IA
L 

&
B

U
D

G
ET

 C
A

TE
G

O
R

Y
D

IR
EC

TO
R

S
O

FF
IC

E
A

FF
A

IR
S

PU
B

LI
C

 A
FF

S
R

ES
O

U
R

C
ES

A
D

M
IN

 S
R

VC
S

C
O

M
PE

N
SA

TI
O

N
 &

 B
EN

EF
IT

S
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

13
4,

71
3

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
12

7,
29

6
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

14
2,

14
1

   
   

   
   

   
   

10
0,

62
4

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
15

1,
31

1

TE
M

PO
R

A
R

Y 
EM

PL
O

YE
E 

PA
Y

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-

C
O

N
SU

LT
IN

G
16

,9
82

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
7,

09
8

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
60

0
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

6,
43

1
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

TR
A

VE
L/

TR
A

N
SP

O
R

TA
TI

O
N

 E
XP

S
29

,2
56

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
6,

56
0

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

1,
09

4
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

3,
98

6
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
62

6
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

60
2

C
O

M
M

U
N

IC
A

TI
O

N
S

13
8

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

63
0

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
44

1
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
54

6
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

13
9

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
65

9

O
C

C
U

PA
N

C
Y 

C
O

ST
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
28

5,
00

0

PR
IN

TI
N

G
 &

 R
EP

R
O

D
U

C
TI

O
N

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

4,
60

4

O
TH

ER
 O

PE
R

A
TI

N
G

 E
XP

EN
SE

S
7,

15
3

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
3,

91
9

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

2,
41

8
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
28

,7
24

C
A

PI
TA

L 
EX

PE
N

D
IT

U
R

ES
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
TO

TA
L

$5
3,

52
9

$1
41

,9
03

$1
35

,9
29

$1
51

,1
92

$1
10

,2
38

$4
70

,9
00

TO
TA

L
IN

FO
R

M
A

TI
O

N
PR

O
G

R
A

M
IN

FO
R

M
A

TI
O

N
 

C
O

M
PL

IA
N

C
E 

&
R

ES
EA

R
C

H
 

M
G

T 
&

 G
R

A
N

TS
B

U
D

G
ET

 C
A

TE
G

O
R

Y
TE

C
H

N
O

LO
G

Y
PE

R
FO

R
M

A
N

C
E

M
A

N
A

G
EM

EN
T

EN
FO

R
C

EM
EN

T
IN

IT
IA

TI
VE

S
C

O
N

TI
N

G
EN

C
Y

O
VE

R
SI

G
H

T

C
O

M
PE

N
SA

TI
O

N
 &

 B
EN

EF
IT

S
18

7,
12

4
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
51

9,
39

5
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

91
,5

82
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
49

9,
00

7
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
1,

95
3,

19
3

TE
M

PO
R

A
R

Y 
EM

PL
O

YE
E 

PA
Y

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
56

,3
47

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
14

,2
68

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
70

,6
15

C
O

N
SU

LT
IN

G
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

16
,4

00
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

17
,3

25
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

64
,8

36

TR
A

VE
L/

TR
A

N
SP

O
R

TA
TI

O
N

 E
XP

S
25

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
46

,6
80

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
12

,2
84

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
10

1,
11

3

C
O

M
M

U
N

IC
A

TI
O

N
S

5,
17

6
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

2,
48

8
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
1,

93
2

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

12
,1

49

O
C

C
U

PA
N

C
Y 

C
O

ST
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
28

5,
00

0

PR
IN

TI
N

G
 &

 R
EP

R
O

D
U

C
TI

O
N

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

4,
60

4

O
TH

ER
 O

PE
R

A
TI

N
G

 E
XP

EN
SE

S
42

,3
10

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
1,

44
1

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

85
,9

65

C
A

PI
TA

L 
EX

PE
N

D
IT

U
R

ES
2,

75
8

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

2,
75

8

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
TO

TA
L

$2
37

,3
93

$6
41

,3
10

$9
3,

02
3

$5
44

,8
16

$0
$0

$2
,5

80
,2

33

LE
G

A
L 

SE
R

VI
C

ES
 C

O
R

PO
R

A
TI

O
N

O
PE

R
A

TI
N

G
 E

XP
EN

SE
S 

FO
R

 F
IS

C
A

L 
YE

A
R

 2
01

3
FO

R
 T

H
E 

SE
C

O
N

D
 M

O
N

TH
 O

F 
FY

 2
01

3 
- P

ER
IO

D
 E

N
D

IN
G

 N
O

VE
M

B
ER

 3
0,

 2
01

2
M

A
N

A
G

EM
EN

T 
A

N
D

 G
R

A
N

TS
 O

VE
R

SI
G

H
T

238



A
tt
ac
h
m
en

t
C

P
ag
e
1
o
f
2

O
TH

ER
 O

PE
R

A
TI

N
G

 E
XP

EN
SE

S 
FO

R
 T

H
E 

M
O

N
TH

 O
F 

N
O

VE
M

B
ER

 2
01

2
U

N
D

ER
 / 

(O
VE

R
)

SE
C

O
N

D
 M

O
N

TH
B

U
D

 V
S 

A
C

T
A

N
N

U
A

L 
B

U
D

G
ET

A
C

TU
A

L
 B

U
D

G
ET

VA
R

IA
N

C
E

$8
87

,1
25

.0
0

85
,9

65
.0

0
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

14
7,

85
5.

00
   

   
   

   
   

 
61

,8
90

.0
0

   
   

   
   

   
   

 

A
C

C
O

U
N

T
 C

O
D

ES
D

ES
C

R
IP

TI
O

N
C

O
ST

 C
EN

TE
R

S
YT

D
 E

XP
EN

SE

B
O

A
R

D
 O

F 
D

IR
E

C
TO

R
S

7,
00

5.
90

G
O

V
E

R
N

M
E

N
T 

R
E

LA
TI

O
N

S
/P

U
B

LI
C

 A
FF

A
IR

S
59

7.
12

FI
N

A
N

C
IA

L 
&

 A
D

M
IN

 S
E

R
V

IC
E

S
1,

75
8.

00
IN

FO
R

M
A

TI
O

N
 T

E
C

H
N

O
LO

G
Y

23
,1

77
.2

3
56

00
   

   
   

 E
Q

U
IP

M
EN

T 
R

EN
TA

L
TO

TA
L

32
,5

38
.2

5

G
O

V
E

R
N

M
E

N
T 

R
E

LA
TI

O
N

S
/P

U
B

LI
C

 A
FF

A
IR

S
26

2.
94

FI
N

A
N

C
IA

L 
&

 A
D

M
IN

 S
E

R
V

IC
E

S
8,

11
0.

06
IN

FO
R

M
A

TI
O

N
 T

E
C

H
N

O
LO

G
Y

4,
75

1.
07

IN
FO

R
M

A
TI

O
N

 M
A

N
A

G
E

M
E

N
T

39
.3

2
56

10
   

   
   

 O
FF

IC
E 

SU
PP

LI
ES

TO
TA

L
13

,1
63

.3
9

H
U

M
A

N
 R

E
S

O
U

R
C

E
S

14
5.

73
FI

N
A

N
C

IA
L 

&
 A

D
M

IN
 S

E
R

V
IC

E
S

78
8.

24
IN

FO
R

M
A

TI
O

N
 T

E
C

H
N

O
LO

G
Y

1,
63

0.
31

56
11

   
   

   
 O

FF
IC

E 
EQ

U
IP

M
EN

T
TO

TA
L

2,
56

4.
28

FI
N

A
N

C
IA

L 
&

 A
D

M
IN

 S
E

R
V

IC
E

S
12

,3
49

.8
3

56
20

   
   

   
 C

O
M

M
ER

IC
A

L 
IN

SU
R

A
N

C
E

TO
TA

L
12

,3
49

.8
3

FI
N

A
N

C
IA

L 
&

 A
D

M
IN

 S
E

R
V

IC
E

S
94

4.
41

IN
FO

R
M

A
TI

O
N

 T
E

C
H

N
O

LO
G

Y
12

,7
51

.6
0

56
40

   
   

   
 D

A
TA

 P
R

O
C

ES
SI

N
G

TO
TA

L
13

,6
96

.0
1

239



A
tt
ac
h
m
en

t
C

P
ag
e
2
o
f
2

O
TH

ER
 O

PE
R

A
TI

N
G

 E
XP

EN
SE

S 
FO

R
 T

H
E 

M
O

N
TH

 O
F 

N
O

VE
M

B
ER

 2
01

2
U

N
D

ER
 / 

(O
VE

R
)

SE
C

O
N

D
 M

O
N

TH
B

U
D

 V
S 

A
C

T
A

N
N

U
A

L 
B

U
D

G
ET

A
C

TU
A

L
 B

U
D

G
ET

VA
R

IA
N

C
E

$8
87

,1
25

.0
0

85
,9

65
.0

0
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
 

14
7,

85
5.

00
   

   
   

   
   

 
61

,8
90

.0
0

   
   

   
   

   
   

 

A
C

C
O

U
N

T
 C

O
D

ES
D

ES
C

R
IP

TI
O

N
C

O
ST

 C
EN

TE
R

S
YT

D
 E

XP
EN

SE

G
O

V
E

R
N

M
E

N
T 

R
E

LA
TI

O
N

S
/P

U
B

LI
C

 A
FF

A
IR

S
51

8.
51

H
U

M
A

N
 R

E
S

O
U

R
C

E
S

1,
44

4.
00

56
50

   
   

   
 A

D
VE

R
TI

SI
N

G
 &

 C
LI

PP
IN

G
 S

ER
VI

C
ES

TO
TA

L
1,

96
2.

51

G
O

V
E

R
N

M
E

N
T 

R
E

LA
TI

O
N

S
/P

U
B

LI
C

 A
FF

A
IR

S
2,

54
0.

16
IN

FO
R

M
A

TI
O

N
 M

A
N

A
G

E
M

E
N

T
62

2.
13

56
70

   
   

   
 S

U
B

SC
R

IP
TI

O
N

S
TO

TA
L

3,
16

2.
29

H
U

M
A

N
 R

E
S

O
U

R
C

E
S

22
9.

62
FI

N
A

N
C

IA
L 

&
 A

D
M

IN
 S

E
R

V
IC

E
S

3,
35

4.
75

56
80

   
   

   
 E

M
PL

O
YE

E 
LE

C
TU

R
ES

/O
TH

ER
 A

C
T.

TO
TA

L
3,

58
4.

37

B
O

A
R

D
 O

F 
D

IR
E

C
TO

R
S

14
7.

50
H

U
M

A
N

 R
E

S
O

U
R

C
E

S
59

8.
65

FI
N

A
N

C
IA

L 
&

 A
D

M
IN

 S
E

R
V

IC
E

S
1,

41
8.

49
IN

FO
R

M
A

TI
O

N
 M

A
N

A
G

E
M

E
N

T
77

9.
67

56
90

   
   

   
 O

FF
IC

E 
EX

PE
N

SE
S

TO
TA

L
2,

94
4.

31

   
   

   
   

 T
O

TA
L 

 O
TH

ER
 O

PE
R

A
TI

N
G

 E
XP

EN
SE

S
$8

5,
96

5.
24

240



A
TT

A
C

H
M

EN
T 

D
PA

G
E 

1 
O

F 
2

LE
G

A
L 

SE
R

VI
C

ES
 C

O
R

PO
R

A
TI

O
N

FI
N

A
N

C
IA

L 
R

EP
O

R
T 

B
Y 

B
U

D
G

ET
 C

A
TE

G
O

R
Y

FO
R

 T
H

E 
SE

C
O

N
D

 M
O

N
TH

 O
F 

FY
 2

01
3 

- P
ER

IO
D

 E
N

D
IN

G
 N

O
VE

M
B

ER
 3

0,
 2

01
2

IN
SP

EC
TO

R
 G

EN
ER

A
L

(1
)

(2
)

(3
)

(4
)

(5
)

(6
)

(7
)

(8
)

F 
 I 

 S
  C

  A
  L

   
 Y

  E
  A

  R
   

 2
  0

 1
2

VA
R

IA
N

C
E 

%
 O

F 
VA

R
IA

N
C

E
SE

C
O

N
D

B
U

D
 V

S 
A

C
T

VA
R

IA
N

C
E

A
C

TU
A

L 
VS

A
N

N
U

A
L

M
O

N
TH

U
N

D
ER

 /
U

N
D

ER
/

EN
C

U
M

-
PR

IO
R

 Y
-T

-D
PR

IO
R

 Y
-T

-D
B

U
D

G
ET

 C
A

TE
G

O
R

Y
B

U
D

G
ET

A
C

TU
A

L
B

U
D

G
ET

(O
VE

R
)

(O
VE

R
)

B
R

A
N

C
ES

A
C

TU
A

L
IN

C
R

 / 
(D

EC
R

)

TO
TA

L 
C

O
M

P.
/B

EN
EF

IT
S

$4
,3

63
,5

00
62

6,
75

1
   

   
   

   
 

72
7,

24
9

   
   

   
   

 
10

0,
49

8
   

   
   

   
 

13
.8

2
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
62

9,
26

9
   

   
   

   
 

(2
,5

18
)

TE
M

P.
 E

M
PL

O
YE

E 
PA

Y
25

,0
00

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

4,
16

7
   

   
   

   
   

  
4,

16
7

   
   

   
   

   
  

10
0.

00
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
3,

97
5

   
   

   
   

   
  

(3
,9

75
)

C
O

N
SU

LT
IN

G
55

0,
00

0
   

   
   

   
   

21
,1

42
   

   
   

   
   

91
,6

67
   

   
   

   
   

70
,5

25
   

   
   

   
   

76
.9

4
28

8,
45

7
   

   
   

   
 

75
,4

64
   

   
   

   
   

(5
4,

32
2)

TR
A

VE
L/

TR
A

N
SP

O
R

TA
TI

O
N

 E
XP

S
32

1,
60

0
   

   
   

   
   

25
,9

23
   

   
   

   
   

53
,6

00
   

   
   

   
   

27
,6

77
   

   
   

   
   

51
.6

4
22

,4
59

   
   

   
   

   
31

,9
38

   
   

   
   

   
(6

,0
15

)

C
O

M
M

U
N

IC
A

TI
O

N
S

28
,0

00
   

   
   

   
   

  
4,

30
8

   
   

   
   

   
  

4,
66

7
   

   
   

   
   

  
35

9
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

7.
69

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

3,
10

1
   

   
   

   
   

  
1,

20
7

O
C

C
U

PA
N

C
Y 

C
O

S T
4,

00
0

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
66

7
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

66
7

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
10

0.
00

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   

PR
IN

TI
N

G
 &

 R
EP

R
O

D
U

C
TI

O
N

12
,0

00
   

   
   

   
   

  
1,

03
9

   
   

   
   

   
  

2,
00

0
   

   
   

   
   

  
96

1
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

48
.0

5
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
1,

59
2

   
   

   
   

   
  

(5
53

)

O
TH

ER
 O

PE
R

A
TI

N
G

 E
XP

EN
SE

S
10

0,
90

0
   

   
   

   
   

4,
87

0
   

   
   

   
   

  
16

,8
17

   
   

   
   

   
11

,9
47

   
   

   
   

   
71

.0
4

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

6,
85

3
   

   
   

   
   

  
(1

,9
83

)

C
A

PI
TA

L 
EX

PE
N

D
IT

U
R

E S
95

,0
00

   
   

   
   

   
  

99
5

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
15

,8
33

   
   

   
   

   
14

,8
38

   
   

   
   

   
93

.7
2

11
,0

00
   

   
   

   
   

2,
45

8
   

   
   

   
   

  
(1

,4
63

)

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
TO

TA
L

$5
,5

00
,0

00
68

5,
02

8
   

   
   

   
 

91
6,

66
7

   
   

   
   

 
23

1,
63

9
   

   
   

   
 

25
.2

7
$3

21
,9

16
75

4,
65

0
   

   
   

   
 

(6
9,

62
2)

rd
sb

co
.v

is
a.

xl
s 

B

C
  O

  M
  P

  A
  R

  A
  T

  I
  V

  E

241



A
TT

A
C

H
M

EN
T

D
PA

G
E 

2 
O

F 
2

LE
G

A
L 

SE
R

VI
C

ES
 C

O
R

PO
R

A
TI

O
N

FI
N

A
N

C
IA

L 
R

EP
O

R
T 

B
Y 

B
U

D
G

ET
 C

A
TE

G
O

R
Y

FO
R

 T
H

E 
SE

C
O

N
D

 M
O

N
TH

 O
F 

FY
 2

01
3 

- P
ER

IO
D

 E
N

D
IN

G
 N

O
VE

M
B

ER
 3

0,
 2

01
2

IN
SP

EC
TO

R
 G

EN
ER

A
L 

C
O

N
TI

N
G

EN
C

Y 
FU

N
D

S

(1
)

(2
)

(4
)

(5
)

(6
)

(7
)

(8
)

F 
 I 

 S
  C

  A
  L

   
 Y

  E
  A

  R
   

 2
  0

 1
2

VA
R

IA
N

C
E 

%
 O

F 
VA

R
IA

N
C

E
B

U
D

 V
S 

A
C

T
VA

R
IA

N
C

E
A

C
TU

A
L 

VS
A

N
N

U
A

L
U

N
D

ER
/

U
N

D
ER

/
EN

C
U

M
-

PR
IO

R
 Y

-T
-D

PR
IO

R
 Y

-T
-D

B
U

D
G

ET
 C

A
TE

G
O

R
Y

B
U

D
G

ET
A

C
TU

A
L

(O
VE

R
)

(O
VE

R
)

B
R

A
N

C
ES

A
C

TU
A

L
IN

C
R

 / 
(D

EC
R

)

TO
TA

L 
C

O
M

P.
/B

EN
EF

IT
S

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-

TE
M

P.
 E

M
PL

O
YE

E 
PA

Y
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

C
O

N
SU

LT
IN

G
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

TR
A

VE
L/

TR
A

N
SP

O
R

TA
TI

O
N

 E
XP

S
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

C
O

M
M

U
N

IC
A

TI
O

N
S

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-

O
C

C
U

PA
N

C
Y 

C
O

ST
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

PR
IN

TI
N

G
 &

 R
EP

R
O

D
U

C
TI

O
N

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

-

O
TH

ER
 O

PE
R

A
TI

N
G

 E
XP

EN
SE

S
$5

25
,7

04
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
87

,6
17

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

C
A

PI
TA

L 
EX

PE
N

D
IT

U
R

E S
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
TO

TA
L

$5
25

,7
04

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

87
,6

17
   

   
   

   
   

$0
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
-

rd
sb

co
.v

is
a.

xl
s 

B

C
  O

  M
  P

  A
  R

  A
  T

  I
  V

  E

242



 

 

 

 

 

Accounts and Depositories 

  

243



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

FINANCIAL & ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
TO: Robert J. Grey, Jr., Finance Committee Chairman 
 
FROM: David L. Richardson, Treasurer/Comptroller   dlr 
 
cc:  Jim Sandman 
 
DATE: January 9, 2013 
 
SUBJECT:  Review of the Selection and Depositories for LSC Funds 

 

This memorandum supplements my prior memorandum of December 21, 2012.   
 
As you, President Sandman, and I discussed on December 27, 2012, I 

implemented the recommendation reflected in my earlier memorandum effective 
January 1, 2013.  As we also discussed, President Sandman and I followed up with 
Bank of America to identify alternatives to the sweep account investing in securities 
issued by the Federal National Mortgage Association (“Fannie Mae”) or the Federal 
Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (“Freddie Mac”) that Bank of America (BofA) had 
recommended to us.   

 
BofA provided additional information on a BofA Treasury Reserves Money Market 

Fund, which invests in only first-tier securities that consist of U.S. Treasury obligations 
and U.S. Government obligations whose principal and interest are backed by the full 
faith and credit of the U.S. Government.   President Sandman and I concluded that his 
alternative was preferable to the sweep option for investing in Fannie Mae and Freddie 
Mae securities. 

 
I also had further conversations with Wells Fargo, and with President Sandman’s 

concurrence, agreed that Wells Fargo Bank would sweep the funds in excess of the 
FDIC-insured limit to its 100% Treasury Money Market Fund – Services Fund, which 
invests in high-quality, short-term money market instruments that consist of U.S. 
Treasury obligations, an option identified in my prior memorandum.   

 
 
 
 

Legal Services Corporation
America’s Partner For Equal Justice

244



 
Robert J. Grey, Jr. 
Review of the Selection and Depositories for LSC Funds 
Page 2 
 

Board Resolution 2012-003 requires that the LSC president and I discuss strategy 
regarding the banking needs of LSC each year and that we provide a report to the 
Finance Committee.   Prior to making any significant changes in the handling of LSC 
funds, such as changing investment options, a written record needs to be created 
documenting the reasons for the change.  The President must agree to the action and 
must provide written notice of the same to the Chair of LSC Finance Committee.   This 
memorandum and my prior memorandum of December 12th reflect our compliance with 
this resolution. 

 
If you have any questions, please let me know. 
 
 

 

245



FINANCIAL & ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES

MEMORANDUM

TO: Robert J. Grey, Jr., Finance Committee Chairman 

FROM: David L. Richardson, Treasurer/Comptroller   dlr

cc:  Jim Sandman 

DATE: December 21, 2012

SUBJECT:  Review of the Selection and Depositories for LSC Funds

Late in the summer, I began conversations with representatives from Bank of 
America and Wells Fargo Bank regarding the expiration of LSC’s current account 
insurance coverage.  LSC has protected its funds by following the Federal Deposit 
Insurance Corporation (FDIC) final rule that implemented the Dodd-Frank Wall Street 
Reform and Consumer Protection Act. This rule provided insurance coverage of all funds 
in noninterest-bearing accounts from December 10, 2010 through December 31, 2012.   
With this protection about to expire, I discussed with our banks ways of protecting our 
funds with the full faith and credit of the United States and, if possible, also providing 
LSC with interest income on deposited funds. 

On December 3, 2012, President Sandman and I met to discuss our banking 
needs upon the expiration of the current protection on December 31.  Jim asked that I 
talk with the banks to determine if there had been any new developments regarding a 
possible extension of the FDIC coverage and determine how we might best secure our 
funds with the least possible risk.    

I have now had discussions with both banks.   They are recommending that we 
establish sweep accounts.  The process would begin with setting a maximum amount in 
LSC’s operating account at each bank under the FDIC limit of $250,000.  Bank of 
America would sweep any funds in excess of the limit and purchase mortgage-backed 
securities issued by the Federal National Mortgage Association (“Fannie Mae”) or 
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (“Freddie Mac”) under an agreement that we 
established in April of 2009.  This is the option that Bank of America recommends as 
the best option offered.  

Legal Services Corporation
America’s Partner For Equal Justice

246



Robert J. Grey, Jr. 
Review of the Selection and Depositories for LSC Funds 
Page 2 

Wells Fargo would sweep the funds to one of two financial instruments, Treasury 
Plus Money Market Fund – A, or 100% Treasury Money Market Fund – Services.

Board Resolution 2012-003 requires that the LSC president and I discuss strategy 
regarding the banking needs of LSC each year and that we provide a report to the 
Finance Committee.   Prior to making any significant changes in the handling of LSC 
funds, such as changing investment options, a written record needs to be created 
documenting the reasons for the change.  The President must agree to the action and 
must be provided with written notice of the same to the Chair of LSC Finance 
Committee.

Mr. Sandman and I agree with and approve of the changes recommended by 
Bank of America and Wells Fargo. This memorandum constitutes notice of our intention 
to make the recommended changes, effective January 1, 2013. 

Attached are the documents that were provided by each.   

If you have any questions, please let me know. 

Attachments 3 

247



248



249



250



251



252



 

 

 

 

 

Budget Request for Fiscal Year 2014 

  

253



Legal Services Corporation Pro Bono Innovation Fund Proposal 
 
Overview.  For many of the millions of Americans who crowd legal aid offices each year, a 
lawyer is their lifeline to our system of justice. This lifeline is being stretched to the breaking 
point by a combination of record-breaking demand and sharply reduced resources for legal 
services. 
 
The Legal Services Corporation (LSC) is the single largest funder of civil legal aid for low 
income Americans, providing grants to 134 non-profit legal aid organizations in every state. 
These programs address civil matters that go to the heart of their clients’ safety and security— 
helping women and children escape abusive relationships, families avert wrongful foreclosures, 
the elderly avoid consumer scams, and veterans receive the benefits they deserve. 
 
In 2011, LSC’s Board of Directors formed a Pro Bono Task Force of more than 60 distinguished 
leaders from the legal profession and charged it with identifying how to engage pro bono lawyers 
to leverage LSC’s federal funding and increase the resources available to serve low-income 
people. The Task Force issued a comprehensive report and set of recommendations in October 
of 2012. One of the recommendations is the creation of an Innovation Fund to promote creativity 
in expanding legal assistance across the country. The following provides a brief framework for 
LSC’s Pro Bono Innovation Fund. 
 
Purpose.  The purpose of the Innovation Fund would be to establish a competitive grant program 
that will invest in projects that identify and promote replicable innovations in pro bono for the 
benefit of the eligible poverty population. Projects funded under this program will develop, test, 
and replicate innovative pro bono efforts that can enable LSC grant recipients to expand clients’ 
access to high quality legal assistance. The grant criteria would require both innovation (new 
ideas or new applications of existing best practices) and replicability (likelihood that the 
innovation, if successful, could be implemented by other legal aid programs). 
 
LSC will allow innovation grants to be used to improve, or to implement in new locations, 
successful projects developed using previous Innovation Fund grants. LSC expects that each 
approved project will either serve as a model for other legal services providers to follow or 
effectively replicate a prior innovation. 
 
The award of an innovation grant is not meant to substitute for, or be credited against, the 
longstanding requirement that LSC recipients spend an amount equivalent to 12.5 percent of 
their basic field grant to involve private attorneys in the delivery of legal assistance to eligible 
clients. 
 
Eligible Applicants.  Eligible applicants for the LSC Innovation Fund would be existing LSC 
grant recipients. 
   

254



Eligible Activities.  The following activities are illustrative of projects that would be eligible for 
funding under the proposed Innovation Fund. 
 

 Developing pro bono programs to serve rural and other hard-to-reach communities. 
 Providing pro bono opportunities that engage all segments of the bar—solo practitioners, 

in-house corporate counsel, firm lawyers, law schools, and government attorneys. 
 Developing accessible, tested, user-friendly curricula and training programs for pro bono 

attorneys. 
 Expanding collaborations and resource-sharing among pro bono programs in a city, state 

or region. 
 Targeting pro bono projects to practitioners in specific areas of law, with appropriate 

training, mentoring, and other support for volunteers. 
 Developing pro bono programs with specialized bar associations that relate to the 

association’s expertise and interests. 
 Forming cohorts of lawyers to expand volunteerism by leveraging shared interests and 

experiences. 
 
Partnerships.   Applicants would be encouraged to work in partnerships with key stakeholders 
in their communities. Potential stakeholders could include, among others, court systems, bar 
associations, client groups, government agencies, and other non-profit organizations. 
 
Additional Funds from Other Organizations.  Applicants would be strongly encouraged to 
seek additional support for projects by partnering with other LSC recipients as well as other 
organizations. 
 
Evaluation.  Evaluation is an important project planning and management tool. Applicants 
would need to identify the methods and data they plan to use to assess progress toward the 
project objectives. A final grant payment would not be provided until an approved final grant 
report was submitted; that report would include evaluation data about a project’s activities, 
accomplishments and effectiveness. 
 
Award Period.  The grant award period would be between 18 and 24 months. 
 
Amount.  The Legal Services Corporation respectfully requests $5 million annually for the 
Innovation Fund. 
 
Management and Administration.  Five percent of the total funding for the Innovation Fund 
would be retained by LSC for management and administrative purposes associated with the 
Fund. 

255



 

 

 

 

 

Resolution 2013-XXX 

  

256



 
 
 
 
 
 

 

       BOARD

A

 
WHER
“Corpora
Fiscal Ye
 
WHER
funding t
 
WHER
appropria
 
WHER
the estab
 
WHER
$5,000,0
 
NOW, 
Congress
 

$ 
$ 
$ 
$ 
$ 
$ 

 
 

 

D OF DIRECTORS

ADOPTIN

REAS, the B
ation”) has r
ear (“FY”) 2

REAS, the 
to provide fo

REAS, the B
ation request

REAS, LSC
lishment of 

REAS, the 
00 would im

THEREF
s an appropr

451,300,000
    5,000,000
    1,000,000
    5,000,000
  19,500,000
    4,200,000

S 

G LSC’S
FO

Board of Di
received and

2014 appropr

Board has d
or the legal s

Board previo
t of $481,00

C’s Pro Bono
a Pro Bono 

LSC Board
mprove the d

FORE, BE
iation of $48

0 for Basic F
0 for Techno
0 for Loan R
0 for Pro Bo
0 for Manag
0 for the Off

Resolut

RESO

S REVIS
OR FISC

irectors (“Bo
d carefully c
riation reque

determined 
services need

ously approv
0,000 for FY

o Task Forc
Innovation F

d believes th
elivery of le

E IT RE
86,000,000 f

Field; 
ology Initiat
Repayment A
ono Innovatio
gement & Gr
fice of Inspe

 

tion 2012 - XX

 
 

OLUTIO

ED APPR
CAL YEA

oard”) of th
considered i
est;  

that LSC is
ds of people 

ved Resoluti
Y 2014;  

e issued a re
Fund; and  

hat a Pro B
egal services 

SOLVED
for FY 2014

ive Grants;
Assistance P
on Fund:  
rants Oversig
ector Genera

Ado
on J

____
John
Cha

XX 

ON 

ROPRIAT
AR 2014

he Legal Ser
information 

s a program
in poverty 

ion 2012-01

eport in Sep

ono Innovat
 to people in

 that the C
, to be alloca

rogram; 

ght; and 
al. 

opted by the
January 26,

__________
n G. Levi 

airman 

TION RE

rvices Corpo
regarding t

m in vital ne

6 on Augus

ptember 201

tion Fund i
n poverty; 

Corporation 
ated as follo

e Board of D
, 2013 

___________

L
A

EQUEST

oration(“LSC
the Corporat

eed of addit

st 31, 2012 f

2 recommen

n the amou

will reque
ows: 

Directors 

_______ 

Legal Services Co
America’s Partner F

C” or 
tion’s 

tional 

for an 

nding 

unt of 

est of 

orporation
For Equal Justice

257



 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
RESOLTUION  
 
 
 

 
       _____________________________ 

Victor M. Fortuno 
Vice President for Legal Affairs,  
General Counsel & Corporate Secretary 

 
 

258



 

 

 

 

 

Committee Evaluation 

  

259



2012 FINANCE COMMITTEE EVALUATIONS 

All 5 members gave positive reviews.   

Members liked:   

 Thorough attention;  

 Respect for others’ opinions;  

 Meetings run professionally;  

 Members’ skill sets;  

 Presentations;  

 Ability to advance mission. 

 

Ideas for improvement include:   

 More attention to long term;  

 “More info from congressional requests;” 

 More consistently set up telephonic meetings between Board meetings to get regular 

financial reports; and 

 Better technology. 

Future:   

 Look at alternative funding sources; and 

 How to better tell the LSC story.  

 

 

 

260



 

 

 

 

 

IX.   Board of Directors 

  



BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
 

January 26, 2013 
 

Agenda 
 

OPEN SESSION 
 
1.  Pledge of Allegiance 
 
2.  Approval of agenda 
 
3.  Approval of minutes of the Board's Open Session telephonic meeting of 

November 29, 2012 
 
4.  Consider and act on nominations for the Chairman of the Board of Directors 
 
5.  Consider and act on nominations for the Vice Chairman of the Board of 

Directors 
 
6.  Consider and act on delegation to the Chairman of authority to make 

committee appointments, including the appointment of committee Chairs 
and non-director members 

 
7. Chairman's Report 
 
8.  Members' Reports 
 
9.  President's Report 
 
10. Inspector General's Report 
 
11. Consider and act on the report of the Promotion and Provision for the 

Delivery of Legal Services Committee 
 
12.  Consider and act on the report of the Finance Committee 
  
13.  Consider and act on the report of the Audit Committee 
 
14.  Consider and act on the report of the Operations and Regulations Committee 

261



 
15.  Consider and act on the report of the Governance and Performance Review 

Committee 
 
16.  Consider and act on the report of the Institutional Advancement Committee 
 
17.  Consider and act on Resolution 2013-XXX thanking the Members of the Pro 

Bono Task Force for their service on the Task Force 
 
18. Consider and act on a request of a corporate officer for permission to accept 

compensation for outside employment 
 
19. Public comment 
 
20.  Consider and act on other business 
 
21.  Consider and act on whether to authorize an executive session of the Board 

to address items listed below, under Closed Session 
 
CLOSED SESSION 
 
22.  Approval of Minutes of the Board's Closed Session of October 2, 2012 
 
24. Management Briefing 
 
25.  Inspector General Briefing 
 
26. Consider and act on General Counsel's report on potential and pending 

litigation involving LSC 
 
27.  Consider and act on motion to adjourn meeting 
 

262



 

 

 

 

Draft Minutes of the Board’s Open 
Session meeting of November 29, 2012 

  

263



Minutes: November 29, 2012: Open Session Telephonic Meeting of the Board of Directors 
Page 1 of 5 
 
 

Legal Services Corporation 

Meeting of the Board of Directors 

Open Session 

Thursday, November 29, 2012 

 

DRAFT MINUTES 

 

Chairman John G. Levi convened an open session telephonic meeting of the Legal 

Services Corporation’s (“LSC”) Board of Directors (“the Board”) at 5:01 p.m. on Thursday, 

November 29, 2012.  The meeting was held at the F. William McCalpin Conference Center, LSC 

Headquarters, 3333 K Street, NW, Washington D.C. 20007. 

 

The following Board Members were present by telephone: 

 

John G. Levi, Chairman  
Martha L. Minow, Vice Chair  
Sharon L. Browne  
Charles N.W. Keckler 
Harry J.F. Korrell, III  
Laurie I. Mikva  
Julie A. Reiskin  
Father Pius Pietrzyk 
Gloria Valencia-Weber 
 

Also attending were: 

James J. Sandman President 
Richard Sloane Chief of Staff and Special Assistant to the President 

264



Minutes: November 29, 2012: Open Session Telephonic Meeting of the Board of Directors 
Page 2 of 5 
 
 

Rebecca Fertig Special Assistant to the President 
Lynn Jennings Vice President for Grants Management 
Kathleen McNamara Executive Assistant to the President 
Victor M. Fortuno Vice President for Legal Affairs, General Counsel and Corporate 

Secretary 
Katherine Ward  Executive Assistant, Office of Legal Affairs 
Jeffrey E. Schanz  Inspector General 
Ronald “Dutch” Merryman Assistant Inspector General for Audit, Office of the Inspector 

General 
David Maddox Assistant Inspector General for Management and Evaluation, 

Office of the Inspector General 
Carl Rauscher Director of Media Relations, GRPA 
Elizabeth Arledge Communications Manager, GRPA 
Treefa Aziz Government Affairs Representative, GRPA 
Lora Rath Director, Office of Compliance and Enforcement 
John Eidleman Senior Program Counsel, Office of Program Performance 
Chuck Greenfield National Legal Aid and Defender Association (NLADA) 
 
 

The following summarizes actions taken by, and presentations made to, the Board: 

 

Chairman Levi called the open session telephonic meeting of the Board to order. 

 

MOTION 

 

Dean Minow moved to approve the agenda.  Ms. Reiskin seconded the motion.  

 

VOTE 

 

The motion passed by voice vote. 

 

MOTION 

265



Minutes: November 29, 2012: Open Session Telephonic Meeting of the Board of Directors 
Page 3 of 5 
 
 

 

Ms. Reiskin moved to approve the minutes of the Board’s meeting of October 1-2, 2012.  

Dean Minow seconded the motion. 

 

VOTE 

 

The motion passed by voice vote.  

 

 Chairman Levi invited Inspector General Schanz before the Board to discuss the 

Semiannual Report (SAR) to Congress for the six-month period of April 1, 2012 through 

September 30, 2012.  President Sandman also noted brief updates to the Board’s transmittal letter 

for the SAR.   The Board members shared comments on the transmittal letter and additional 

amendments were made.  

 

MOTION 

 

Dean Minow moved to approve submitting the SAR transmittal letter to Congress, as 

amended.  Professor Valencia-Weber seconded the motion. 

 

VOTE 

 

The motion passed by voice vote.  

 

266



Minutes: November 29, 2012: Open Session Telephonic Meeting of the Board of Directors 
Page 4 of 5 
 
 

 President Sandman and Mr. Eidleman gave a report on legal services needs and activities 

relating to Hurricane Sandy.  Mr. Eidleman provided an overview of the impact of Hurricane 

Sandy in New Jersey, New York, and Connecticut and the need for legal assistance. President 

Sandman reported on legislative developments related to supplemental appropriations funding 

for post-Hurricane Sandy relief.  They answered Board members’ questions.      

  

 Chairman Levi solicited public comment and received none.   

 

In other business, Professor Valencia-Weber asked if the other Board members were 

familiar with a report by Laura K. Abel, National Center for Access to Justice at Cardozo Law 

School, titled “Economic Benefits of Civil Legal Aid.”  She offered to circulate it to the Board 

members.  

 

MOTION 

 

Dean Minow moved to adjourn the meeting.  Professor Valencia-Weber seconded the 

motion.   

    

VOTE 

 

The motion passed by voice vote. 

 

The open session meeting of the Board adjourned at 5:31 p.m.  

267



Minutes: November 29, 2012: Open Session Telephonic Meeting of the Board of Directors 
Page 5 of 5 
 
 

 

268



 

 

 

 

Delegation of Authority to the 
Chairman for appointment 

 

Resolution 2013-XXX 

  

269



 
 
 
 
 

Resolution #2013-0xx 

      BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
 

 
RESOLUTION  

 
DELEGATING TO THE CHAIRMAN  

AUTHORITY TO APPOINT THE MEMBERSHIP 
AND 

         DESIGNATE THE CHAIRS OF BOARD COMMITTEES 
 

WHEREAS, Article V of the Bylaws (“Bylaws”) of the Legal Services 
Corporation (“LSC” or “Corporation”) provides that the Board of 
Directors (“Board”) “may appoint and designate or may delegate to the 
Board Chair the authority to appoint Directors or non-Directors, as 
appropriate, to serve on committees, or to designate committee chairs”; 
and  
 
WHEREAS, the Bylaws also provide that “[a]ny non-Director may be 
appointed to serve as a voting or non-voting member of a committee, as 
determined by the Board or, if the appointing authority has been 
delegated, by the Board Chair”; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Board has determined that having non-Directors with 
appropriate backgrounds and expertise serve on committees is prudent and 
that they would be helpful to the Board in discharging it responsibilities;   
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that, pursuant to the Bylaws, 
the Board hereby delegates to the Board Chair the authority to appoint 
both Directors and non-Directors, as appropriate, to serve on the various 
committees of the Board; and 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Board Chair is further delegated 
the authority and discretion to designate whether any non-Director he 
appoints to a committee is to serve as a voting or non-voting member of 
the committee, but no non-Director shall count towards a quorum; and 

 
 

Legal Services Corporation 
America’s Partner For Equal Justice 

270



 
 
RESOLUTION 2013- 0XX  Page 2 
 
 

 
BE IT FUTHER RESOLVED that the Board Chair is further delegated  

      the authority and discretion to designate the Chair of each committee. 
 

 
 
Adopted by the Board of Directors 
on January 26, 2013 

 
 

______________________________ 
John G. Levi 
Chairman 

                                                            
             

         ______________________________                      
          Victor M. Fortuno 

                                                             Vice President, General Counsel  
                                                               & Corporate Secretary  

 
 

271



 

 

 

 

Pro Bono Task Force Recognition 

Resolution 2013-XXX 

  

272



 
 
 
 
 
 

Resolution # 2013-0XX 

      BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

RESOLUTION  
IN RECOGNITION AND APPRECIATION OF  

DISTINGUISHED SERVICE 
BY 

[INSERT TASK FORCE MEMBER’S NAME] 
 
WHEREAS, by Resolution adopted on March 31, 2011, the LSC Board of 
Directors established the Pro Bono Task Force, comprised of distinguished judges, 
governors, law professors, lawyers and other professionals, “to identify and 
recommend to the Board new and innovative ways in which to promote and 
enhance pro bono initiatives throughout the country, including urban areas, rural 
areas, and areas with underserved populations”; and 
WHEREAS _______________ graciously volunteered [his/her] time and expertise 
to the Task Force, providing invaluable insights, perspective, and guidance 
throughout the year-long fact-finding and report-preparation process; and 
WHEREAS _______________ has served on the Task Force with great 
professionalism, dedication, and distinction; and 
WHEREAS the Task Force’s recommendations will assist LSC in fulfilling its 
mission; 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that LSC’s Board of Directors 
acknowledges and extends its gratitude to _________________ for [his/her] 
dedicated service to the Pro Bono Task Force and notable contribution to LSC’s 
mission of expanding access to justice to low-income Americans. 

 
Adopted by the Board of Directors 
On January 26, 2013 
 
____________________________ 
John G. Levi 
Chairman 

 
 

____________________________ 
Victor M. Fortuno 
Vice President, General Counsel 
& Corporate Secretary 

Legal Services Corporation 
America’s Partner For Equal Justice 

273



 

 

 

Permission to accept compensation  

for outside employment 

 

Resolution 2013-XXX 

  

274



 
 
 
 
 
 
      BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

Resolution 
           REGARDING CORPORATE OFFICER’S REQUEST 

FOR PERMISSION TO ACCEPT COMPENSATION 
FOR GRADUATE SCHOOL TEACHING ASSIGNMENT 

 
WHEREAS the Legal Services Corporation Act of 1974, as amended, and the Corporation’s 
Bylaws permit officers of the Corporation, during the course of their employment by the 
Corporation, to receive compensation for services from a source other than the Corporation only 
if the receipt of such compensation is authorized by the Board of Directors; and 
 
WHEREAS the Bylaws of the Corporation and the employment terms of Ms. Jennings’ position 
provide that she “may not receive any salary or other compensation for services from any 
sources other than the Corporation during her period of employment by the Corporation, except 
as authorized by the Board”; and 
 
WHEREAS Ms. Jennings has disclosed to the President her interest in accepting an adjunct 
teaching assignment1 and has given the required assurances that any work in that capacity would 
be performed by her on her own time and would not involve LSC resources; and 
 
WHEREAS Ms. Jennings has informed the Board and President that compensation of $3,250 
would be provided to her for such services; and  
 
WHEREAS the Board has determined that the provision of said services and such compensation 
are not inconsistent with Ms. Jennings’ duties with and obligations as an officer of the 
Corporation; 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that, on the basis of the aforementioned disclosures 
to the Board, Lynn A. Jennings, Vice President for Grants Management, is authorized to accept 
the adjunct teaching position, perform the services incident to that position and receive the 
compensation proposed for those services. 
 

Adopted by the Board of Directors 
        on January 26, 2013  
 
 
        _______________________________ 
        John G. Levi 
        Chairman 
 
 
        ______________________________ 

Victor M. Fortuno 
        Vice President for Legal Affairs,  

General Counsel & Corporate Secretary 
 

                                                           
1 The position is at Georgetown University’s Public Policy Institute to teach a half-semester module entitled 
“Introduction to Emergency Management.” 

Legal Services Corporation 
America’s Partner For Equal Justice 

275 



 

 

      BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
 

TO:  The Legal Services Corporation Board of Directors 

FROM:  Lynn Jennings, Vice President for Grants Managements 

SUBJECT: Request for permission to receive outside compensation for graduate school teaching 
assignment 

DATE: January 11, 2013 

 

 

I have been asked by Georgetown University’s Public Policy Institute (“GPPI”) to serve as an affiliated 
faculty member to teach a graduate-level course entitled “Introduction to Emergency Management.”  I 
taught this class at GPPI in the spring of 2012.  The course will examine the history of emergency 
management and its evolution in the post-9/11 and Hurricane Katrina era.   The class will review the 
principles and practices of emergency management at the local, state, and national levels and will 
explore the concepts of prevention, protection, preparedness, response, recovery and mitigation.   

The course is scheduled for seven, 2.5 hour sessions on Tuesday evenings from 6:30 p.m. to 9:00 p.m. in 
March and April.  Total compensation for my services is $3,250, which I use to help defray the expense 
of travel for guest speakers. 

Thank you for your consideration. 

   

Legal Services Corporation 
America’s Partner For Equal Justice 

276 



1 
 

COURSE SYLLABUS 
INTRODUCTION TO EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT 

 
I. GENERAL COURSE INFORMATION: 
 
PPOL 811: INTRODUCTION TO EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT 
Georgetown University – Healy 104 
Thursdays:  6:30 p.m. – 9:00 p.m. 
March 1, 15, 22, 29; April 12, 19, 26 
 
II. COURSE OVERVIEW AND OBJECTIVES: 
 

A. Overview.  Emergency Management today is an integral component of the nation’s 
homeland security enterprise.  This introductory course will explore the history of 
emergency management and its evolution in the post-9/11 and Hurricane Katrina era.   
The course will review the principles and practices of emergency management at the 
local, state, and national levels and will explore the concepts of prevention, protection, 
preparedness, response, recovery and mitigation.   
 

B. Course Objectives.  A student who successfully completes this course should be able to:  
 Discuss the history of emergency management and why it has evolved into the 

current approach to managing disasters; 
 Discuss the role of individuals, government and private sector actors, as well as their 

relationships with one another, in emergency management; 
 Explain the all hazard emergency management process that integrates the resources of 

local, State, and Federal governments and voluntary and business assets; 
 Discuss the key components in a comprehensive emergency management program; 

and 
 Recognize future challenges associated with emergency management. 

 
III. COURSE INSTRUCTOR: 
 
Lynn Jennings 
ljennings@bigcityem.org 
1250 Connecticut Ave., N.W., Ste. 200 
Washington, D.C.  20036 
Office Hours:  Fridays, 10:00 a.m. to 11:30 a.m. 
  or before class by appointment. 
Phone:  202.261.6543 
 
Lynn Jennings serves as the Executive Director of Big City Emergency Managers, Inc. 
(BCEM).  Since 2005, the Big City Emergency Managers has brought together the directors 
of emergency management from the largest, most at-risk cities from across the country to 
foster the development and growth of robust and nimble emergency management 
operations in the nation’s largest, most at-risk metropolitan jurisdictions so that the country 

277



2 
 

is better positioned to prevent, protect against, mitigate, prepare for, respond to and recover 
from major incidents and catastrophic emergencies.  

 
The Group is now comprised of 15 jurisdictions, including all Tier I Urban Area Security 
Initiative (UASI) areas, representing – Boston, Chicago, Dallas, Denver, Harris County, TX, 
Houston, Jersey City/Newark, Los Angeles, Miami-Dade County, New York City, Philadelphia, 
San Diego County, San Francisco, Seattle, Washington, DC.  Collectively, the Group represents 
about 30 per cent of the nation’s population and 85 per cent of the UASI grant funds that FEMA 
awards annually 
 
Previously, Lynn served as Executive Vice President at the Council for Excellence in 
Government (Council) where she directed the Council’s homeland security and emergency 
preparedness initiatives. In that capacity, she oversaw the development and implementation of a 
Public Readiness Index (PRI) to measure individual and family readiness. She also led the 
various leadership and performance programs at the Council including the Excellence in 
Government and DHS Fellows programs. In this role, she was responsible for the programming 
and execution of programs that graduate more than 220 Federal managers each year.  
 
Prior to joining the Council, she served as Director of Strategic Initiatives, including Homeland 
Security, at the CNA Corporation, a non-profit corporation that provides high-level, in-depth 
research and analysis to inform public sector decision makers in a number of important areas 
including homeland security.  
 
Lynn has extensive public sector experience and has served in a number of senior-level positions 
in the federal government, including Acting Assistant Secretary for Policy in the U.S. 
Department of Labor, General Counsel of the U.S. Merit Systems Protection Board, and Chief of 
Staff to the Chief Operating Officer of the U.S. Agency for International Development. Lynn 
also has experience in the White House’s Office of Presidential Personnel as a Search Manager 
for key presidential appointments in both national security and domestic policy.  
 
She earned a bachelor’s degree, cum laude with honors, in political science from the University 
of Rochester and a J.D. from the Columbus School of Law, the Catholic University of America.  
 
IV. COURSE REQUIREMENTS AND EXPECTATIONS: 
 

A. Overview.  Course requirements include:  reading weekly course materials, participating 
actively in class discussions, and completing a case study and memorandum to the 
National Security Advisor.  There will be further discussion in class about assignments 
and due dates. 

 
Please note that class participation is essential and will represent a significant percentage 
of the final grade.  Please complete all readings before class and be prepared to discuss.  
Students anticipating an absence or should contact the instructor in advance or provide 
notification as soon as possible 

 

278



3 
 

This syllabus may be modified at the instructor’s discretion as necessary to meet the 
needs of the course.   

 
B. Grading  

 Class preparation and participation – 30% 
 Case Study – 35% 
 Memorandum to the National Security Advisor – 35% 

 
V. ASSIGNMENTS: 
 

A. Case Study.  This course focuses on the changes that have occurred in the nation’s 
emergency management system in the post-9/11 and post-Katrina era.  Please prepare a 
10-page case study analyzing the response and recovery of a smaller scale disaster that’s 
occurred in the United States in the last 10 years.  The analysis should include: 

 A brief description of the disaster and the emergency management effort; 
 The nature of the disaster (i.e., natural or technological/manmade); 
 The impact of the disaster in terms of the number of human casualties and amount 

of property loss; 
 The governmental entities having jurisdictional responsibility and involved in the 

disaster response and recovery effort; 
 The involvement of nonprofit and for-profit actors in the response and recovery 

effort; 
 The major policy issues raised–e.g., lack of mitigation effort, inadequacy of 

preparedness, response failure, recovery problems; and 
 What disaster planning the community had done prior to the incident? 

 
Due Date:  No later than April 19, 2012 at 11:59 p.m.   
 

B. Memorandum to the National Security Advisor.  It is January 20, 2013, and you are a 
member of the National Security Staff and either President Obama has been re-elected or 
a new administration has just assumed power.  Prepare a 12 - 15 page memorandum 
outlining the challenges and opportunities the nation’s emergency management system 
currently faces.  Please detail the short-, mid- and long-term priorities that leadership 
should address. 
 
Due Date:  No later than April 26, 2012 at 11:59 p.m. 

 
Papers are to be written in the APA style, with one-inch side, top and bottom margins. You must 
use either Times New Roman or Arial type, in a 12-point font. Please submit papers to the 
instructor’s e-mail address indicated above.  
 
VI. RESOURCES AND READINGS 
 

A. Textbooks.  The following readings will be used in class: 
 

279



4 
 

 Rutherford H. Platt, Disasters and Democracy, The Politics of Extreme Natural Events, 
Island Press, (1999). 

 
 George D. Haddow, Jane A. Bullock, Damon P. Coppola, Introduction to Emergency 

Management, 4th ed., Butterworth-Heinemann, (2011). 
 

B. Government Documents 
 

 Homeland Security Presidential Directive – 8. 
http://www.acq.osd.mil/ncbdp/nm/docs/Relevant%20Docs/hspd-8.pdf 

 
 National Disaster Recovery Framework, 

http://www.fema.gov/pdf/recoveryframework/ndrf.pdf 
 

 National Incident Management System, 
http://www.fema.gov/pdf/emergency/nims/NIMS_core.pdf 

 
 National Preparedness Goal.  http://www.fema.gov/pdf/prepared/npg.pdf 

 
 National Response Framework. http://www.fema.gov/pdf/emergency/nrf/nrf-core.pdf 

 
 Presidential Policy Directive 8.  http://www.dhs.gov/xlibrary/assets/presidential-policy-

directive-8-national-preparedness.pdf 
 

 Strategic National Risk Assessment. http://www.dhs.gov/xlibrary/assets/rma-strategic-
national-risk-assessment-ppd8.pdf 
 

 GAO Report, GAO-02-621T National Preparedness Integration of Federal, State, Local, 
and Private Sector Efforts is Critical to an Effective National Strategy for Homeland 
Security http://www/gao.gov 

 
C. Other Sources: 

 
 Video Remarks by the Honorable Craig Fugate, Administration, U.S. Federal Emergency 

Management Agency, U.S. Department of Homeland Security, http://www.c-
spanvideo.org/program/301070-1, August 16, 2011 
 

 Herman B. “Dutch” Leonard and Arnold M. Howitt. 2010. Advance Recovery and the 
Development of Resilient Organisations and Societies. In Simon Woodward (Ed.), 
Integrative Risk Management: Advanced Disaster Recovery (pp. 45-58). Zurich: Swiss 
Reinsurance Company Ltd. 
http://www.hks.harvard.edu/var/ezp_site/storage/fckeditor/file/pdfs/centers-
programs/programs/crisis-leadership/Risk_Dialogue_Ch%202.pdf 

 
 

280



5 
 

COURSE SCHEDULE 
 
MARCH 1, 2012 
Session 1:  Introductions, Expectations and a Discussion Regarding the History of Emergency 
Management in the U.S.  
 

 Rutherford H. Platt, Disasters and Democracy, The Politics of Extreme Natural Events, 
Island Press, (1999). 

o Introduction, pp. 1-8. 
o Part I, Chapter 1, Shouldering the Burden, 9-46. 

 
 George D. Haddow, Jane A. Bullock, Damon P. Coppola, Introduction to Emergency 

Management, 4th ed., Butterworth-Heinemann, (2011). 
o Chapter 1:  The Historical Context of Emergency Management, pp. 1-27. 
o Chapter 9:  Emergency Management and the Terrorist Threat, pp. 297 – 343. 

 
MARCH 15, 2012  
Session 2:  Building a National Preparedness System:  Introduction to the National Preparedness 
Goal and a Reset of the of the Emergency Management Enterprise. 
 

 Homeland Security Presidential Directive – 8. 
http://www.acq.osd.mil/ncbdp/nm/docs/Relevant%20Docs/hspd-8.pdf 
 

 Presidential Policy Directive 8.  http://www.dhs.gov/xlibrary/assets/presidential-policy-
directive-8-national-preparedness.pdf 

 
 National Preparedness Goal.  http://www.fema.gov/pdf/prepared/npg.pdf 

 
 George D. Haddow, Jane A. Bullock, Damon P. Coppola, Introduction to Emergency 

Management, 4th ed., Butterworth-Heinemann, (2011). 
o Chapter 2:  Natural and Technological Hazards and Risk Assessment, pp. 29 – 67. 

 
 Video, Remarks by the Honorable Craig Fugate, Administration, U.S. Federal 

Emergency Management Agency, U.S. Department of Homeland Security, http://www.c-
spanvideo.org/program/301070-1, August 16, 2011 

 
MARCH 22, 2012  
Session 3:  Preparedness 
 

 George D. Haddow, Jane A. Bullock, Damon P. Coppola, Introduction to Emergency 
Management, 4th ed., Butterworth-Heinemann, (2011). 

o Chapter 4:  The Disciplines of Emergency Management:  Preparedness, pp. 97 – 
131. 

 
 

281



6 
 

MARCH 29, 2012 
Session 4:  Response – Part 1 
 

 National Response Framework.  http://www.fema.gov/pdf/emergency/nrf/nrf-core.pdf 
o Annexes are not assigned. 

 
 National Incident Management System, 

http://www.fema.gov/pdf/emergency/nims/NIMS_core.pdf 
o Appendix B – Incident Command System – ONLY 

 
 George D. Haddow, Jane A. Bullock, Damon P. Coppola, Introduction to Emergency 

Management, 4th ed., Butterworth-Heinemann, (2011). 
o Chapter 6:  The Disciplines of Emergency Management:  Response, pp. 165 – 

212. 
 
APRIL 12, 2012 
Session 5:  Response – Part 2 
 

 George D. Haddow, Jane A. Bullock, Damon P. Coppola, Introduction to Emergency 
Management, 4th ed., Butterworth-Heinemann, (2011). 

o Chapter 5:  The Disciplines of Emergency Management:  Communications, pp. 
133 – 167. 
 

 For additional information regarding crisis communications, please see:  
http://www.psandman.com/ 

 
APRIL 19, 2012 
Session 6:  Recovery 
 

 George D. Haddow, Jane A. Bullock, Damon P. Coppola, Introduction to Emergency 
Management, 4th ed., Butterworth-Heinemann, (2011). 

o Chapter 6:  The Disciplines of Emergency Management:  Recovery, pp. 213 – 
250. 
 

 National Disaster Recovery Framework, 
http://www.fema.gov/pdf/recoveryframework/ndrf.pdf, pp. 1-76. 

  
 Herman B. “Dutch” Leonard and Arnold M. Howitt. 2010. Advance Recovery and the 

Development of Resilient Organisations and Societies. In Simon Woodward (Ed.), 
Integrative Risk Management: Advanced Disaster Recovery (pp. 45-58). Zurich: Swiss 
Reinsurance Company Ltd. 
http://www.hks.harvard.edu/var/ezp_site/storage/fckeditor/file/pdfs/centers-
programs/programs/crisis-leadership/Risk_Dialogue_Ch%202.pdf 

 
 

282



7 
 

APRIL 26, 2012 
Session 7:  Mitigation and Wrap Up 
 

 George D. Haddow, Jane A. Bullock, Damon P. Coppola, Introduction to Emergency 
Management, 4th ed., Butterworth-Heinemann, (2011). 

o Chapter 3:  The Disciplines of Emergency Management:  Mitigation, pp. 69 – 95. 
o Chapter 10:  The Future of Emergency Management, pp. 341-354. 

 
RECOMMENDED READING AND OTHER RESOURCES 
 
Dennis Mileti, Disasters by Design:  A Reassessment of Natural Hazards in the United States, 
Washington, D.C.:  Joseph Henry Press (1999). 
 
National Academy of Public Administration, Building an Emergency Management System to 
Meet People’s Needs in Natural and Manmade Disasters (Washington, D.C.: NAPA, 
February 1993). 
 
E.L. Quarantelli, ed., What is a Disaster? Perspectives on the Question.  London; Routledge 
(1998). 
 
Irwin Redlener, Americans at Risk: Why We Are Not Prepared for Megadisasters and What We 
Can Do, Deckle Edge, (2006).  
 
Claire B. Rubin, ed., Emergency Management:  The American Experience 1900-2005, Public 
Entity Risk Institute, (2007). 
 
Richard T. Sylves and William H. Waugh, Jr., eds.  Disaster Management in the U.S. and 
Canada.  Springfield, Ill.:  Charles C. Thomas, Publisher, Ltd. (1996). 
  
William H. Waugh, Jr. and Kathleen Tierney, eds., Emergency Management:  Principles and 
Practice for Local Government 2nd Edition, International City Management Association, (2007). 
 
http://www.fema.gov - for basic information on the federal emergency management 
system, reports, information sources, status reports on disasters, and connections to state and 
local emergency management information. 
 
http://www.colorado.edu/hazards - for information regarding specific hazards, full texts 
of papers and information sources. 
 

283


	Board Book Cover page
	Table of Contents
	Schedule
	Panel of Distinguished Justices & Judges
	Disaster Panel
	PROMOTION & PROVISION COMMITTEE AGENDA
	Draft Minutes for October 1, 2012 meeting
	Committee Evaluation
	Succession Panel Bios

	OPERATIONS & REGULATIONS COMITTE AGENDA
	Draft Minutes September 20, 2012
	Draft Minutes September 30, 2012
	Rulemaking Overview
	Enforcement Mechanism - Executive Summary of Rulemaking Overview
	Final Rule  for Publication
	Redline Final Rule for Publication
	Representation of Criminal cases in Tribal Courts
	Private Attorney Involvement
	Committee Evaluation

	INSTITUTIONAL ADVANCEMENT COMMITTEE AGENDA
	Draft Minutes September 30, 2012
	Committee Evaluation

	GOVERNANE & PERFORMANCE COMMITTEE AGENDA
	Draft Minutes September 30, 2012
	Board Committee Evaluations
	Board Evaluations
	GAO Recommendations Updates

	 AUDIT COMMITTEE AGENDA
	Draft Minutes of September 30, 2012
	Annual Financial Audit - OIG Transmittal Letter
	Annual Financial Audit - Final Audit Report
	Annual Financial Audit - Management Letter
	Committee Evaluation
	403(b) Plan Performance

	FINANCE COMMITTEE AGENDA
	Draft Minutes of September 30, 2012
	Memo Annual Financial Report FY 2012
	Attachment to Annual Financial Report FY 2012
	Revised Temporary Operating Budget FY 2013
	Resolution TOB
	Attachment Proposed  TOB for FY 2013
	Memo Financial Report for first two months of FY2013
	Attachment to Financial Report for first two months of 2013
	Accounts and Depositories Memo - January 2013
	Accounts and Depositories Memo - December 2012
	Selection of Investment Options Memo
	Budget Request for FY 2014
	Resolution for Budget Request 2014
	Committee Evaluation

	BOARD OF DIRECTORS AGENDA
	Draft Minutes of November 29, 2012
	Resolution - Delegation of Authority to the Chairman for appointments.pdf
	Resolution - Pro Bono Task Force Recognition
	Resolution - Permission to Accept Compensation for Outside Employment




